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VERBUND Integrated Annual Report
This report combines our annual financial report
and our sustainability report.

How should this report be used?

The information in this integrated report focuses
on the main aspects of economic, environmental
and social performance.

Additional information about the content
presented here can be found

e in the Disclosures on Management Approach
(DMA) at www.verbund.com >
Investor Relations > Financial reports,

¢ in the GRI and TCFD Content Index at
www.verbund.com > About VERBUND >
Responsibility > Non-financial Information,

¢ in the NFI download at www.verbund.com >
About VERBUND > Responsibility >
Non-financial Information; and

e on other web pages referred to separately.

GRI indicators, SDGs and TCFD references in the
margin notes point to the corresponding content
in the text.

The integrated annual report is also available
online at www.verbund.com > Investor Relations
> Financial reports.

The use of computing software may lead to
rounding differences in the addition of rounded
amounts and the calculation of percentages.
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Five-year comparison

Economic performance

Unit 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Revenue! €m 2,795.9 2,913.2 2,671.1 3,895.0 3,234.6
EBITDA €m 1,044.2 922.3 864.2 1,183.56 1,292.8
Adjusted EBITDA? €m 894.5 899.7 863.5 1,183.56 1,292.8
Operating result (EBIT) €m 615.1 400.1 655.1 865.9 921.9
Operating result before effects
from impairment tests €m 704.9 581.0 536.9 819.3 914.0
Group result €m 424.4 301.4 433.2 554.8 631.4
Adjusted Group result? €m 325.9 354.5 342.2 549.0 610.4
Total assets €m 11,538.2 11,283.6 11,704.8 11,838.6 12,054.2
Equity €m 5,629.5 5,690.8 5,941.0 6,568.0 6,873.9
Net debt €m 3,221.7 2,843.8 2,560.7 2,256.1 1,881.2
Additions to property, plant and equipment €m 255.3 231.0 292.5 438.9 628.5
Cash flow from operating activities €m 804.3 640.6 664.1 1,204.3 1,191.0
Free cash flow before dividends €m 580.7 416.1 415.3 817.4 590.9
Free cash flow after dividends €m 415.7 293.5 237.2 639.3 299.5
EBITDA margin’ % 37.3 31.7 32.4 30.4 40.0
EBIT margin' % 22.0 13.7 24.5 222 285
Return on capital employed (ROCE)' % 5.7 4.2 5.6 7.8 9.7
Return on equity (ROE) % 8.4 5.4 8.2 10.2 10.8
Equity ratio (adjusted) % 50.0 52.4 52.7 57.7 59.1
Gearing % 58.3 50.0 43.1 34.4 27.4
Net debt/EBITDA X 3.1 3.1 3.0 1.9 15
FFO/Net debt (net debt coverage) % 32.1 30.0 28.7 44.3 57.7
Gross debt coverage (FFO) % 30.4 28.1 25.7 41.0 52.6
Gross interest cover (FFO) X 8.7 8.1 7.3 11.9 19.4
Closing price € 15.18 20.15 37.24 44.74 69.85
Market capitalisation €m 5,272.0 6,998.7 12,937.8 15,543.4 24,267.0
Earnings per share € 1.22 0.87 1.25 1.60 1.82
Cash flow per share € 2.32 1.84 1.91 3.47 3.43
Carrying amount per share® € 14.05 14.58 15.27 16.95 17.71
Price/earnings ratio (last trading day) X 12.42 23.22 29.87 28.02 38.43
Price/cash flow ratio X 6.55 10.93 19.48 12.91 20.38
Price/book value ratio® X 1.08 1.38 2.44 2.64 3.95
(Proposed) dividend per share € 0.29 0.42 0.42 0.69 0.75
Dividend yield % 1.9 2.1 1.1 1.5 1.1
Payout ratio from Group result % 23.7 48.4 33.7 43.2 41.3
Entity value/EBITDA X 8.1 10.7 17.9 15.0 20.2
Average number of employees 2,923 2,819 2,742 2,772 2,870
Electricity sales volume GWh 55,189 58,518 58,908 62,179 62,741
Hydro coefficient 1.00 0.99 0.94 1.01 1.01
New renewables coefficient 0.85 1.03 0.90 1.01 1.00

" calculation adjusted retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 in financial year 2019 with effect from 1 January 2018 // ? adjusted for non-recurring effects // ° calculation adjusted retrospectively in

accordance with IAS 8 in financial year 2017



Environmental performance

Unit 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Hydropower generation’ GWh 29,809 29,687 28,684 30,660 31,5625
Wind power generation GWh 8352 952 834 929 924
Solar power generation GWh - - - - 1
Thermal power generation GWh 1,351 2,227 1,611 1,596 1,033
Share of generation from renewables % 96 93 95 95 97
Specific GHG emissions
(Scope 1/total electricity generated)® g CO2e/kWh 31 41 34 32 19
Emissions avoided through
renewable generation* kt CO2 25,457 23,666 22,411 24,071 24,726
Percentage of sites certified to ISO 14001
and EMAS® % 93 100 100 100 100
Social performance

Unit 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Number of employees under labour law® Number 2,952 2,819 2,784 2,843 2,980
Training per employee’ Hours 35.2 36.0 33.6 40.0 20.0
Lost time injury frequency (LTIF)® Number 8.9 10.1 5.4 6.4 5.6
Proportion of women % 17.5 17.5 17.6 17.8 18.3
Average duration of employment® Years 18.9 18.8 18.1 17.6 16.1
Employee turnover rate'® % 2.7 2.8 2.1 2.0 1.5

"incl. purchase rights // % incl. the solar power generated in Spain that was available until the sale of the Spanish activities (sale completed in mid-December 2016) // ° total electricity generated incl. purchase rights

excluding generation of district heating; preliminary data prior to audit // * calculation using the share of thermal generation based on ENTSO-E mix // ° sites of consolidated companies, excluding wind power plants if

the operating company is certified and sites in which VERBUND has a share of < 51% and where another co-owner is responsible for management; as at 31 December of the year // ° as at 31 December, excl.

members of the Executive Board and employees in partial retirement / 7 incl. executives and long-term agency staff, excl. apprentices, apprentices in post-qualification retention period (Behaltefristen), employees
seconded to third parties and those on long-term leave; excluding safety instruction // ® ratio of workplace injuries from the first day of leave to million working hours; excluding injuries requiring only first aid

measures and excluding fatal injuries. The basis for calculating the working hours is defined for the industry at 1,740 working hours per year; incl. external contractors from 2018. // * Change in calculation method

in 2016: personnel from acquired and newly consolidated companies are included in the duration of employment with the acquired/consolidated company and no longer in the duration of employment with the
VERBUND Group. // ' excl. retirements, incl. employees leaving during their probationary period
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INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT Information about the integrated report

Information about the integrated
report

This integrated annual report contains the Group management report published by VERBUND for
financial year 2020, the Group report on non-financial information (NFIReport) and the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, including the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
The principles of fair enterprise management followed by VERBUND are laid out in the Corporate
Governance Report. This integrated annual report thus not only presents the Group’s financial and legal
information but also deals with further aspects of sustainability and proper conduct of business
operations.

The report covers the activities of all of the companies included in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. It also includes sustainability reporting. Changes in reporting from the prior-year period are
noted in the respective sections. Significant events occurring at unconsolidated companies are likewise
presented to provide a complete picture of the Group.

The reporting period comprises the 2020 calendar year. The most recent preceding integrated annual
report (for financial year 2019) was published on 18 March 2020. To ensure that our report is up to date,
we also report in the Group management report on any major events occurring at VERBUND between
31 December 2020 and authorisation of the annual report for issue on 11 February 2021. Supplementary
information on sustainability topics is available in our Disclosures on Management Approach (DMA)
document and on the VERBUND website at www.verbund.com > About VERBUND > Responsibility >
Non-financial Information.

Integrated report focuses on stakeholder interests

Investors, owners, customers, employees and other interest groups all require different types of
information. The relevant information was collected in 2019 in an extensive stakeholder survey and is
summarised in the VERBUND materiality matrix. The sustainability-related contributions to VERBUND's
integrated annual report are updated annually on the basis of the materiality analysis conducted in
accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), the stakeholder survey, internal media analyses
and material topics relating to stakeholder engagement.

Reporting pursuant to the Austrian Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act (NaDiVeG)
VERBUND’s NFI Report prepared in accordance with Section 267a of the Austrian Commercial Code
(Unternehmensgesetzbuch, UGB), which is included in this integrated annual report, compiles the
disclosures required by the Austrian Sustainability and Diversity Improvement Act (Nachhaltigkeits-
und Diversititsverbesserungsgesetz, NaDiVeG), which implements Directive 2014/95/EU (Non-
financial Reporting (NFR) Directive) regarding the disclosure of non-financial and diversity
information. These relate in particular to environmental matters, social and employee-related matters,
respect for human rights and anti-corruption and bribery matters.

The Group’s auditor reviewed the NFI Report for completeness and recorded the outcome in an
Independent Assurance that was subsequently presented to the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the NFI Report and reports on its findings to the General Meeting
held in the year following the reporting period.

GRI 102-46
GRI'102-48

GRI102-50
GRI'102-51
GRI'102-52

The materiality analysis
is presented in the
Materiality section

GRI'102-32



GRI 102-64
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Standards and guidelines

All data and calculations taken for this integrated annual report are based on national and international
standards as well as on guidelines for financial reporting (including the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs)) and sustainability reporting (the Global Reporting Initiative Standards,
GRI, and the G4 Electric Utilities Sector Disclosures). This report was prepared in accordance with the
“Core” option of the 2016 GRI Standards and the 2018 GRI Standards (relating to GRI 303: Water and
Effluents and GRI403: Occupational Health and Safety) and the 2020 GRI Standards (relating to
GRI 306: Waste). The current GRI table of contents including the TCFD Index is published on the
VERBUND website.

Information about the methods, standards and factors used and the assumptions made in the
calculation of key performance indicators (KPIs) is available from the Group’s Investor Relations and
Corporate Responsibility departments at any time upon request.

The margins of this report include references to GRI disclosures as well as to VERBUND's contributions
to the respective Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) set by the UN. The “TCFD” references in the
margins point to information on how VERBUND is implementing the recommendations of the Task Force
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) to manage its climate-related financial risk exposure.
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VERBUND is one of the signatories to the United Nations Global Compact and as such supports the
UN’s 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. This integrated annual report doubles as VERBUND's
UN Global Compact Communication on Progress Report.
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External audit
The content of the consolidated financial statements, the Group management report and the NFI Report
was subjected to an external audit by independent auditor Deloitte Audit Wirtschaftspriifungs GmbH.

VERBUND's power plant app

Visit the virtual world of VERBUND using your mobile device. You can find the app for Android and iOS
devices at www.verbund.com/app. We invite you to gain an exciting virtual insight into the world of
VERBUND that will open up fresh perspectives for you. You can also dive into the VERBUND world directly
by scanning the QR code in the margin.

GRI 102-56
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Report of the Executive Board

Ladies and Gentlemen,

Financial year 2020 was one of the most successful years in VERBUND’s corporate history - in spite of the
COVID-19 crisis. This is demonstrated not only by our excellent results, but also by the solid
performance of VERBUND shares, whose value jumped 56.1% in the financial year now ended. VERBUND
reported a market capitalisation in excess of €24bn at the end of 2020, which makes it the most valuable
company listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange by a large margin. VERBUND's sustainable business model
therefore showed itself to be crisis-proof. Thanks to the measures implemented in recent years and
developments in the energy market, the Group has considerable strategic flexibility and resilience to
external influences.

2020 dominated by COVID-19 - early crisis management ensured security of supply and
safeguarded business performance. The COVID-19 crisis led to a rapid deterioration of the overall
energy market in which VERBUND operates. Following the onset of the crisis in Europe, wholesale
electricity prices fell due to lower electricity demand, an excess supply of CO- emission rights and a
drop in prices for coal, gas and oil. In the wake of this downturn in the first half of 2020, the energy
market environment started to improve again mid-year. Wholesale prices for electricity recovered, as
did prices for coal, gas and CO: emission rights.

With regard to managing the crisis, we at VERBUND took action early on so as to ensure security of
supply and grid security in Austria at all times, with our employees’ health having top priority. Activities
at a number of construction sites were temporarily suspended, but were quickly resumed when the
general situation began to improve. What is more, we have not had any need for state support in the
form of short-time work or similar funding schemes, nor have we had to make any redundancies.
VERBUND was able to pay its dividend for financial year 2019 as planned.

Focus on further expansion of renewable hydropower. To strengthen our core business and further
expand the supply of electricity from renewable energy sources, we pressed ahead with our planned
investments in hydropower in 2020. Here we focused on rehabilitation projects such as those at the
Oberaudorf-Ebbs, Ottensheim-Wilhering and Hausling power plants and began the construction of
Lower Austria’s longest fish pass at the Altenworth power plant. In the Téging/Jettenbach expansion
and renovation project that is scheduled to come on stream in 2022 and entails total capital expenditure
of approximately €250m, minor delays occurred during the year that were largely made up for again.
The construction decision for the Gratkorn power plant on the Mur River, a new joint power plant that
will be built by VERBUND and Energie Steiermark, was taken at the end of 2020. The green energy
produced by this power plant, whose construction will start in 2021 and which is slated to be put into
operation in 2024, will meet the needs of 15,000 households in the Graz metropolitan area.

Extensive investment in the high-voltage grid for integration of new renewables. In an
environment overshadowed by COVID-19, VERBUND has also been able to continue with its original
investment projects for grid expansion as envisaged. Structural measures for the construction of the
380-kV Salzburg line began in 2020, and commissioning of this line is planned for early summer 2025.
The final decision from a legal standpoint issued by the Austrian Supreme Administrative Court
provides legal certainty.
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New renewable energy powered by VERBUND. VERBUND'’s strategy envisages that by 2030 a total of
20-25% of the electricity we generate will come from new renewable sources of energy. Project
highlights in the wind and solar power sectors in 2020 included the commissioning of VERBUND's
first open-field solar installation at the Feistritz-Ludmannsdorf power plant at the Drau River
(Bistrica v Rozu/Bil¢ovs) and initial operation of Austria’s largest open-field solar installation in
Schonkirchen with a capacity of 11.4 kWp in the first expansion stage completed in December 2020.

Downstream project to secure additional earnings contributions. The changes in the market
design brought about by decarbonisation, decentralisation and digitalisation present us with
opportunities. So that we can derive maximum benefit from these, the realignment of VERBUND's sales
activities was prepared in the Downstream project, which aims to position VERBUND vis-a-vis customers
as a competent, full-spectrum energy manager and secure additional earnings contributions over the
long term through an integrated value chain.

Strategic milestone: acquisition of a 51% stake in Gas Connect Austria GmbH. A strategic
milestone of immense importance for VERBUND in 2020 was the agreement reached with OMV on the
acquisition of a 51 % stake in the Austrian gas transmission grid operator Gas Connect Austria GmbH.
Contracts were signed on 23 September 2020 and the transaction is expected to close in the first half
of 2021, pending regulatory approvals. The role of gas as a bridge technology to a renewable energy
system is vital. The highly sophisticated transport infrastructure of Gas Connect Austria GmbH
combined with VERBUND’s renewable generation portfolio has the potential to make an important and
valuable contribution to the achievement of climate targets and will ensure that we can benefit from the
future development of a green hydrogen system in Europe.

Security of supply: decarbonisation, Climate Report and social commitment. Coal-fired
generation at the Mellach district heating power plant was discontinued in 2020 after 34 years of
operation - a big step in VERBUND's decarbonisation strategy and a major step for Austria. CO2 emissions
from thermal power plants have been reduced by around 70 % since 2005. Going forward, the Mellach
site with Austria’s most cutting-edge combined cycle gas turbine power plant will be instrumental in
maintaining security of supply in Austria and will serve as a bridge technology to a lower-carbon energy
future. In October 2020, VERBUND also published its first-ever Climate Report outlining the risks and
opportunities from climate change for the Group. In addition to the Group’s ongoing social
commitment to the VERBUND Electricity Relief Fund run by Caritas and the Empowerment Fund run by
Diakonie - particularly needed in a COVID-ravaged 2020 - the “Ein Funken Wirme” (A Spark of Heat)
relief project run by Caritas and the Kronen Zeitung, was supported with another €90,000 including
donations from VERBUND employees.

Our forward-looking areas of green hydrogen, digitalisation and storage. Implementing
VERBUND’s hydrogen strategy was another focus of our activities in financial year 2020. Alongside
numerous ongoing activities, the partners Lafarge, Borealis, OMV and VERBUND announced the initial
idea for a joint project at the end of June 2020. The aim of the collaboration is to use the CO- emissions
captured from cement production in a circular economy to produce fuels and plastics by means of
green hydrogen. The innovation project Hy?Power was also launched at the Mellach site. VERBUND is
developing the Green Hydrogen @ Blue Danube project in conjunction with technology partners and



buyers of green hydrogen within the framework of the European Commission’s Important Projects of
Common European Interest initiative (IPCEI initiative), with the goal of establishing a European value
chain for green hydrogen. Furthermore, in late November 2020 VERBUND and Google made a
commitment to a greener energy future in a Memorandum of Understanding that underscores the
intention of the multi-year partnership to collaborate on innovative applications.

VERBUND'’s very encouraging business and share price performance in 2020. The results
posted by VERBUND for financial year 2020 were up despite the negative impact of the COVID-19
pandemic. EBITDA increased by 9.2% to €1,292.8m. The Group result rose by 13.8% to €631.4m
compared with 2019. The reasons for the exceedingly encouraging income trend were higher levels of
electricity generation from environmentally friendly hydropower and the increase in average sales
prices for electricity, which follow the trend in wholesale electricity prices in Europe. The Group result
for financial years 2019 and 2020 was also influenced by non-recurring effects. Adjusted for these non-
recurring effects, the Group result rose by 11.2% to €610.4m. Over and above this, all of the Group's
management KPIs exhibited improvements. The Group’s debt level was reduced substantially once
more, margins were sizeably expanded and the return on capital employed was significantly increased.
VERBUND shares turned in a very encouraging performance in financial year 2020. With gains of 56.1 %,
the shares significantly outperformed the ATX (-12.8 %) and the STOXX Europe 600 Utilities (+7.8%).

Dividend. We plan to propose a dividend of €0.75 per share for financial year 2020 at the Annual
General Meeting to be held on 20 April 2021. The payout ratio calculated on the basis of the adjusted
Group result thus amounts to 42.7 % for 2020 (or 41.3% based on the reported Group result).

Changes in the Executive Board and a future-proof organisation. Michael Strugl succeeded
Wolfgang Anzengruber as CEO and Chairman of the Executive Board at the beginning of 2021. This
reduces the size of the Executive Board from four to three members. Internally, the organisation is being
made “future-proof” with a focus on diversity and gender balance as well as on safeguarding know-how
through succession planning. Together we power renewable energy.

We would like to express our gratitude to all of our employees as well as to all of our customers,
investors, suppliers and business partners.

fwslfie SO

Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA Dr. Peter F. Kollmann

Mag. Dr. Achim Kaspar
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Report of the Supervisory Board

VERBUND, Austria’s leading energy utility, took advantage of the improvement in the energy market
climate in the course of the year and generated very good results once again in financial year 2020 in
spite of negative impacts caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group succeeded in strengthening its
profitability and successfully continuing its sustainable development. The Supervisory Board actively
monitored and supported this strong performance.

Performance of duties

In financial year 2020, the Supervisory Board discharged the responsibilities and exercised the powers
incumbent upon it by virtue of the law and the Articles of Association at six plenary meetings, which due
to the preventive measures against COVID-19 were held as video or teleconferences. The overall
attendance rate for all Supervisory Board members was 93 %. The Chairman additionally kept in regular
contact with the Board members to discuss matters of importance as they arose. The Executive Board
provided the Supervisory Board with regular and comprehensive real-time information, both verbally
and in writing, on all relevant matters relating to the performance as well as the position and strategy of
the Group and all significant Group companies; information was also provided on the Group’s risk
position and its risk management activities.

The Supervisory Board advised the Executive Board on key questions concerning the future,
particularly as regards the Group’s structure and strategy, and regularly discussed the implementation
of the strategy with the Executive Board (here, the acquisition of the stake in Gas Connect
Austria GmbH deserves particular mention). The Supervisory Board monitored and supported the
Executive Board’s management activities continuously based on its extensive reporting. Supervision
took place in the context of open and constructive meetings between the Executive Board and the
Supervisory Board and revealed no grounds for objection. The main resolutions adopted by the
Supervisory Board are presented in the 2020 Consolidated Corporate Governance Report. Between
meetings, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board conversed regularly with the Chairman of the
Executive Board and also held a number of discussions with individual members of the Executive
Board.

Changes in the Executive and Supervisory Boards.

The contractual period of office of Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber, CEO, who had headed up the
VERBUND Group as Chairman of the Executive Board for twelve years, ended on 31 December 2020. The
Supervisory Board would like to thank Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber for his many years of successful
service for the Company.

The Supervisory Board appointed the former Vice-Chairman Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA as
Chairman of the Executive Board with effect from 1 January 2021.

The following changes were made to the composition of the Supervisory Board in the reporting year:
in the course of the election of the new Supervisory Board at the Annual General Meeting on 16 June 2020,
Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta, Dr. Susan Hennersdorf, Prof. Dr. Barbara Praetorius, DI Eckhardt Riimmler and
Mag. Christa Schlager were elected to replace Mag. Elisabeth Engelbrechtsmiiller-Straufy, Mag. Harald
Kaszanits, Mag. Werner Muhm, Dr. Susanne Riess and Christa Wagner as capital representatives.

The criteria set out in the diversity concept were taken into account to a considerable extent in the
election of the new Supervisory Board. In particular, the Supervisory Board has succeeded in becoming
more international, increasing the representation of women and attracting a broad range of experts in
their respective fields.

GRI102-26



The Supervisory Board would like to thank the departing members for their many years of service on
the Supervisory Board and its committees.

Code of Corporate Governance, Supervisory Board Committees

As a leading listed Group, VERBUND made an early commitment to adhere to the Austrian Code of
Corporate Governance. VERBUND's Supervisory Board views compliance with the Code as obligatory and
endeavours to consistently conform to the provisions relating to the Supervisory Board. In this spirit, we
have achieved essential compliance with the rules relating to the Supervisory Board’s collaboration
with the Executive Board and within the Supervisory Board itself.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Code (Rule 36), the Supervisory Board again conducted a self-
evaluation of its activities, particularly of its organisation and work procedures. The evaluation was
carried out in the reporting period by means of qualitative and quantitative interviews with all
Supervisory Board members and Executive Board members conducted by an external consultant. The
results of the evaluation and the suggestions for measures derived on this basis were discussed in detail
at the Supervisory Board meeting in December 2020. In addition, the Supervisory Board again
discussed at length possible conflicts of interest when dealing with the approval of contracts with
companies where individual Supervisory Board members are related parties. No conflicts of interest
were identified that would require any action to be undertaken beyond that taken at the meetings.

With the amendment to its rules of procedure resolved on 16 June 2020, the Supervisory Board
permanently established its own Sustainability Committee for the first time. This committee addresses
in particular the topics of sustainability, the New Green Deal, decarbonisation, the energy transition,
climate action and environmental protection. It is responsible for the development of appropriate
strategies and implementation measures as well as for the annual review of the sustainability strategy
and goals. The new Sustainability Committee held one meeting during financial year 2020.

The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee met three times during the financial year now ended. It
dealt above all with the quarterly financial statements, the budget and preparation of the resolution to
approve the annual financial statements, as well as with the appointment of the auditor and
examination of the auditor’s work. In addition, the Audit Committee concentrated on opportunity and
risk management as well as the Group’s internal control and audit procedures and on the audits
performed by Internal Audit.

The Strategy Committee of the Supervisory Board is responsible above all for coordinating corporate
strategy with the Executive Board, conducting the annual strategy review and supervising any
modifications to be made. During the reporting period, the Strategy Committee held three meetings for
the purpose of voting on the implementation of the Group's strategy and to discuss individual topics of
strategic relevance. The Project Committee formed as a sub-committee of the Strategy Committee also
met on one occasion. The number of members in the Strategy Committee was increased from six to
eight in the rules of procedure.

In accordance with the Code of Corporate Governance and the rules of procedure, three other
committees - an Emergencies Committee, a Nomination Committee and a Remuneration Committee -
were again formed in 2020. The Remuneration Committee held two meetings, which dealt in particular
with the agreements on targets and the Executive Board’s variable remuneration components as well as
the termination agreement with Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber and an amendment of the Executive
Board contract of Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA. The Nomination Committee also held two meetings, at
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which it dealt with preparations for election of the new Supervisory Board as well as with the
appointment of the Chairman of the Executive Board and the extension of the Board contracts. The
Emergencies Committee did not meet during the reporting period.

Further information on the composition, work procedures and meetings of the Supervisory Board
and its committees is contained in the Group’s Consolidated Corporate Governance Report for 2020.
Information on the remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board members can be found in the
remuneration report that the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board jointly prepared for
presentation to the Annual General Meeting in April 2021 in accordance with Section 78c of the
Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG).

Annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements

The annual financial statements, together with the management report, the consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and
the Group management report for financial year 2020 were audited by Deloitte Audit Wirtschafts-
priifungs GmbH and issued with an unqualified auditor’s report. The auditor prepared the additional
report required to be made to the Audit Committee under Article 11 of the Regulation on the statutory
audit of public-interest entities and reported its findings in writing. The auditor found that the Executive
Board had provided the explanations and evidence requested and that the book-keeping, annual
financial statements and consolidated financial statements fulfilled the legal requirements and, in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, gave a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the Group. The auditor also
confirmed that the management report and the Group management report were consistent with the
annual financial statements and the consolidated financial statements.

Following in-depth examination and discussion by the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board,
the Supervisory Board approved the annual financial statements for financial year 2020 as presented by
the Executive Board. As a result, they are final for the purposes of Section 96(4) AktG. The management
report prepared by the Executive Board was approved, as was the proposal for the appropriation of
profit. The Supervisory Board also approved the consolidated financial statements and the Group
management report along with the consolidated corporate governance report submitted by the
Executive Board and the separate Non-Financial Report. There were no grounds for any material
objections.

In conclusion, the Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive Board and all of the Group’s
employees for their successful work in 2020. Their tireless efforts in exceptional circumstances ensured
an uninterrupted supply of electricity in Austria. The Supervisory Board would also like to thank the
Group’s shareholders, customers and business partners for their trust.

Vienna, March 2021

1 /{%/f

MMag. Thomas Schmid
Chairman of the Supervisory Board



POWERING RENEWABLE ENERGY

At VERBUND, we use renewable energy
to create a liveable energy future by
providing reliable, customised energy
solutions.

SUSTAINABILITY & INNOVATION

Climate change is of great importance for
VERBUND. We work to create sustainable
solutions for the future of energy - ones
that will enable us to reduce emissions
and use of resources. Research,
development and innovation are the

bedrock of our commitment.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

Free float Republic of
<20% Austria 51%

|—.

TIWAG

>5%
EVN and Wiener
Stadtwerke syndicate
>25%
Contact

VERBUND AG, Am Hof 6a,
1010 Vienna, Austria

+43 (0)503 13-0
information@verbund.com
www.verbund.com
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VERBUND at a glance

Our mission is to energise the future with clean
electricity from our renewable energy plants and
with innovative solutions. VERBUND is Austria’s
largest power company. Our value chain comprises
the generation, transportation, trading and sale of
electrical energy and other energy sources as well
as the provision of energy services. In 2020, the
Group generated annual revenue of around €3.2bn
with 2,870 employees. VERBUND has been listed on
the Vienna Stock Exchange since 1988, with 51% of
the share capital held by the Republic of Austria.

GENERATION
Al amounts are for 2020
VERBUND is Austria’s Hydropower
leading utility and one Q >94% of total electricity
generation

of the largest producers 129 hydropower plants

of hydroelectricity 31,525 GWh of electricity

in Europe. We create

Wind power
security of supply <3% of total electricity
with hydro, wind and \ genergtion
thermal power. The — ’l\ 193 wind power plants

. S 924 GWh of electricity
Mellach site acts as Thormal
. ermal power
abridge to a lower- >3% of total electricity
carbon energy future. generation
Generation of 100% 2 thermal power plants

carbon-free electricity 1,033 GWh of electricity

will be achieved in the Solar power?
S $ < 1% of electricity
long term. generation

1) including purchase rights 4 solar farms .
2) without leasing/contracting 1 GWh of electricity




OUR SEGMENTS

VERBUND's 1 2 9

hydropower plants together have
a capacity of over 8,200 MW.

By 2030, up to 1 /4

of our overall electricity
generation will come from
wind and solar power.

~March 2020

coal-fired electricity generation
at the Mellach district heating plant
was discontinued.

APG's trans-regional

power grid extends over approximately

Hydro

Climate-friendly hydro-
power is the most
important source of
energy for our electricity
generation. Around 94%
of VERBUND electricity
comes from hydropower.
We manage our power
plants efficiently and
protect people and the
environment. Going for-
ward, we will continue to
invest in the expansion
of hydropower.

3,400

kilometres.

New renewables
VERBUND is pressing
ahead with new wind
and solar power
projects to diversify its
generation portfolio.
Our long-term goal

is to build up an on-
shore wind and solar
portfolio in Europe
that will account for
approximately 20-25%
of our overall genera-
tion by 2030.

Sales

Through electricity
trading we sell the
electricity we gen-
erate on wholesale
markets and manage
the use of VERBUND
power plants. In sales
we are continuously
expanding our lead in
innovative green elec-
tricity and flexibility
products as well as
energy services.

000,000

residential customers relied on green
electricity from VERBUND in 2020.

Grid

Austrian Power Grid
(APG), VERBUND's grid
subsidiary, operates
the national electricity
transmission network
in Austria. This inte-
grates electricity from
renewable sources, en-
sures security of supply
in Austria and forms a
key basis for a liberal-
ised electricity market
throughout the EU.

All other segments
“All other segments”
brings together the
Thermal generation,
Services and Equity
interests segments
because they are

below the quantitative
thresholds. The com-
bined cycle gas turbine
power plant and the
district heating plant in
Mellach in Styria are
being used in gas oper-
ation as needed.
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VERBUND's 2030 strategy

Against the backdrop of the COVID-19 pandemic, VERBUND has continuously reviewed its corporate
strategy to determine whether the challenging conditions necessitate any adjustments. No material,
long-term effects were anticipated at the reporting date, however. This review confirmed the Group’s
long-term orientation.

VERBUND'’s strategy continues to be based on five strategic pillars: efficient generation of electricity
from hydropower; expansion of electricity generation from renewable energy sources such as wind and
solar power; sustainable expansion and safe operation of the Austrian high-voltage grid; use of the
flexible power plants to maintain security of supply in Austria; and the Sales segment, with provision of
customer-centric, innovative products and services. In implementing its strategy VERBUND supports the
following SDGs: Affordable and clean energy (SDG 7), Industry, innovation and infrastructure (SDG 9),
Responsible consumption and production (SDG 12) and Climate action (SDG 13).

Efficient generation of electricity from hydropower is and will remain the core business of VERBUND as
one of Europe’s biggest producers of hydroelectricity. VERBUND's strategy is twofold: maintaining the
value of its 129 existing hydropower plants while continuously improving its flexible generation facilities
so that the Group can continue to ensure carbon-free base-load and peak-load energy generation in its
core markets of Austria and Germany. By implementing initiatives such as the Digital Hydro Power
Plant pilot project, VERBUND is setting new standards in the digitalisation of hydropower. In addition to
maintaining value and optimising the existing generation portfolio, VERBUND focuses its activities on
harnessing existing hydropower potential in an environmentally compatible manner.

Complementing its hydropower activities, VERBUND will place increased emphasis on the expansion of
renewable energy sources from onshore wind power plants and photovoltaic installations in the coming
years. Here, VERBUND will be concentrating not only on achieving organic growth in its existing core
markets, but also on acquiring attractive wind and photovoltaic plants in Europe. VERBUND's long-term
goal is to profitably build up an onshore wind and solar portfolio that will account for approx. 20-25%
of VERBUND's overall generation by 2030. Combined with the flexible generation facilities in particular,
this will enable VERBUND to make a major contribution to decarbonisation in Austria and Europe.

VERBUND's wholly owned subsidiary Austrian Power Grid AG (APG) is the control area manager and
operates the Austrian transmission grid. Extending over 3,428 km and including 64 substations and
switching stations, the APG grid forms the backbone of domestic electricity supply. It ensures that
electricity produced and consumed can be exchanged within Austria and internationally and
guarantees a stable supply for the distribution networks. APG is committed to security of supply; it is a
market platform and paramount in the implementation of the energy transition. Extensive investment
in the Austrian transmission grid is required for this and will be secured through the implementation of
the network development plan. This sustainable expansion of the transmission grid is pivotal to the
achievement of Austria’s climate targets.

The use of VERBUND's flexible thermal power plants is instrumental in maintaining security of supply
in Austria. The Mellach site with its power plants acts as a bridge to a low-carbon energy future. To
advance decarbonisation efforts, the Mellach district heating plant was switched over to gas operation
in 2020. Further down the line, promising technologies for the future of energy such as hydrogen will
also be researched and tested at the Mellach site. VERBUND sees itself as a partner to its customers in the
energy sector, especially in relation to the development of innovative, sustainable solutions. The
electricity trading activities serve to optimise the marketing of VERBUND's own generation, with
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innovative green electricity and flexible products enhancing the value of its electricity. However,
VERBUND is also continuously expanding its portfolio with customer-focused commercial products and
new services. In the sales area VERBUND offers consumers clean electricity and climate-neutral gas, along
with other energy-related products and innovative solutions to promote the efficient use of energy.
Particularly in the case of cross-sectoral projects involving alternative energy sources and new storage
technologies, VERBUND is positioning itself as a leading enterprise in the field of sector coupling together
with its partners from business and society.

VERBUND is a catalyst for the future of energy in Austria, safeguarding a secure supply of electrical
energy for business and society. VERBUND provides decisive support for the system integration of volatile
renewable generation and is shaping Europe’s energy market as a driver of sector coupling.

Strategic pillars of VERBUND's 2030 strategy

Efficient hydropower generation New renewables generation

Maintaining the value of existing hydropower Long-term, profitable expansion of around 20-25 % of
generation, optimising the flexible generation portfolio the total electricity generated from onshore wind

and commercial exploitation of existing opportunities to power plants and photovoltaic systems to advance
grow hydropower decarbonisation

Safe grid operation Security of supply Customer-centric solutions
Sustainable expansion of the Use of existing flexible gas-fired Innovative partner for customers in
transmission grid as the basis for safe power plants to maintain security the energy sector and development
operation and a liquid electricity of supply in Austria as a bridge toa  of sustainable solutions with
market in Austria and Europe low-carbon energy future alternative energy sources and

new storage systems

The acquisition of OMV’s 51 % stake in Gas Connect Austria GmbH (GCA) at the end of September 2020
was a major step in the strategic further development of VERBUND - in particular to put VERBUND in an
ideal position for sector coupling in the long term with the potential to participate in a future hydrogen
economy. The highly sophisticated transport infrastructure of GCA combined with VERBUND'’s renewable
generation portfolio has the potential to make an important and valuable contribution to the
achievement of climate targets and will ensure that we can benefit from the future development of a
green hydrogen system in Europe.

VERBUND's 2030 strategy guides the actions of the entire Group. This is ensured by setting binding
operational targets for all stages in the value chain.



Corporate objectives

GRI102-14 The following medium-term corporate objectives have been defined based on the materiality analysis

TCFD

performed and the VERBUND strategy:

Material topics

Corporate objectives

Increasing enterprise value'

Financial stability: Net debt/EBITDA < 3.0

Return on capital: ROCE > 7.0 %

Target/ensure an A-level rating

Security of supply

Maintain value and expand further in the field of hydropower generation

Provide flexible generation units

Safe grid operation

Implement network development plan

New renewables generation

20-25% of the total electricity generated by 2030 will come from
wind and solar power

Customer relations

Customer Loyalty Index: = 75 points

Innovation

Develop and implement a VERBUND start-up engagement programme

Conclude an international innovation partnership

Develop and launch new flagship projects throughout the strategic
innovation areas

(Further) develop a VERBUND innovation index

Digitalisation,
information security
and data protection

Implement projects focused on rolling out digital solutions throughout the
Group's value chain

Set up a technology radar for proactive identification and evaluation of
innovative digital solutions

Reach all relevant employees in relation to awareness of data and
information security

Implement the planned information security projects

Climate protection

Reduce specific emissions to < 10g CO2e/kWh (Scope 1) by 20212

Use of energy
and resources

Reduce energy intensity by 25% (2015-2021)

Reduce water intensity by 50 % (2015-2021)

Reduce material intensity in thermal power plants by 80 % (2015-2021)

Implement economic efficiency measures from energy audits

Environmental protection
and conservation

Invest around €280m by 2027 in environmental measures at rivers
such as fish passes and restoration

Increase number of fish passes by 50 % (2015-2021)

Reduce NOx emissions by 80 % (2015-2021)

Reduce SO, emissions by 100% (2015-2021)

Reduce dust emissions by 90 % (2015-2021)

Occupational health and safety

Lost time injury frequency (LTIF) < 5

Progressive 1SO 45001 certification of all VERBUND sites by 2025

Attractive employer

Employee turnover rate < 5%

38.5 hours of training per employee/year

35 new apprentices each year
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Proportion of women > 20 %

Ensure balanced employee age structure (benchmark: employed wage and

Diversity and inclusion in the ) )
salary earners by age group in Austria)

Group
Fulfil statutory quotas for the employment of disabled persons
(currently 4% in Austria and 5% in Germany)

Compliance 100 % participation rate in mandatory compliance training

"based on existing asset and value chain structure // 2 emission targets to be reviewed in financial year 2021 based on the acquisition of a stake in Gas Connect Austria GmbH
and the contribution of the Mellach site to security of supply
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Upcoming dates:

Record date for Annual
General Meeting:

10 April 2021

Annual General Meeting:
20 April 2021
Ex-dividend date:

27 April 2021

Record date for
dividends:

28 April 2021

Dividend payment date:
10 May 2021

Results for

quarter 1/2021:

12 May 2021

Closing prices
VERBUND shares €/share

69.9

37.2

Investor relations

International capital market environment in 2020

2020 was a year on the stock markets that investors are unlikely to forget in a hurry. After a good solid
start to the year, the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic caused share prices to plunge
in March 2020. This was followed by a surprisingly strong recovery in subsequent months, due in no
small measure to the extensive and unprecedented monetary and fiscal policy measures taken by
central banks and governments. However, the considerable volatility on the stock markets continued
throughout 2020, the main drivers of which included the tug-of-war over the outcome of the
US presidential election, the trade dispute between the USA and China, Brexit in Europe and the in
some cases far-reaching restrictions imposed in response to further waves of COVID-19. The tension in
many of these areas of conflict eased towards the end of 2020, aided by approval of the initial vaccines
against COVID-19.

Despite all these factors of influence, some new all-time highs were recorded on the stock markets in
the United States amid one of the worst crises the real economy has seen since World War II. The US
Dow Jones Industrial stock index ended 2020 up 7.2 %. The Euro Stoxx 50, on the other hand, delivered a
significantly poorer performance, posting losses of 5.1% compared with year-end 2019. Japan's
Nikkei 225 index turned in a better performance by comparison because Asia largely managed to get a
handle on the COVID-19 pandemic faster than other regions in 2020. The index ended the year
up 16.0%. The emerging markets also saw positive trends. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index closed
2020 up 15.8% on the 2019 year-end figure. By contrast, the COVID-19 pandemic hit the ATX
particularly hard in 2020, but even Vienna’s leading index recouped some of its losses after reaching its
low in March 2020. All the same, it ended 2020 down 12.8% and finished 2020 trading at 2,780.4 points.

VERBUND shares

VERBUND shares performed very encouragingly in 2020 in spite of the drastic market distortions caused
by the global COVID-19 pandemic and continued the growth trend seen in 2019. Following the
COVID-19-induced slump in March, the price of VERBUND shares climbed steadily to reach a new all-
time high at the end of 2020. VERBUND shares thus closed financial year 2020 trading at €69.9, an increase
of 56.1% on the figure for 31 December 2019. This significant increase was caused by the improvement
in the energy market climate for renewable energy producers from mid-2020 onwards and by the
Group’s sustainable positioning. As a result, VERBUND shares substantially outperformed the Austrian
ATX in a year in which the ATX posted losses of 12.8% as a whole, but also the European STOXX Europe
600 Utilities sector index, which was up 7.8 % in 2020. Moreover, with a market capitalisation of €24.3bn
VERBUND was Austria’s largest listed company at the end of 2020 by a large margin.
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VERBUND share price: relative performance 2020
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KPIs — shares

Unit 2019 2020 Change
Share price high € 556.3 69.9 26.4%
Share price low € 38.0 29.0 -23.7%
Closing price € 447 69.9 56.1%
Performance % 20.1 56.1 -
Market capitalisation €m 15,543.4 24,267.0 56.1 %
ATX weighting % 6.2 10.7 -
Value of shares traded €m 4,399.9 4,742 1 7.8%
Shares traded per day Shares 379,239 417,949 10.2%

Investor relations team activities in 2020

Active, open communication with investors, analysts and individual shareholders during road shows,
conference calls and in one-on-one conversations is important to VERBUND. The outbreak of the
COVID-19 crisis required increased communications activities, nearly all of which took place in virtual
formats. The IR team participated in several virtual road shows in Europe and the United States in 2020,
as well as in major investor conferences. Together with the Executive Board, the team briefed investors
from all over the world on VERBUND's key performance indicators and its operational and strategic
performance.

Comprehensive information is available on the “Investor Relations” pages of the website at
www.verbund.com - including the annual and interim reports, financial calendar and events, current
press releases, presentations and Excel spreadsheets as well as documents relating to VERBUND's Annual
General Meetings in past years.

VERBUND shares are covered by 15 renowned Austrian and international investment banks, thus
ensuring their visibility in the capital market. The following investment banks covered VERBUND as at
31 December 2020:

IR contact:
Andreas Wollein

Head of Group Finance

and Investor Relations
Tel.: +43 (0)50 313-
52604

E-mail: investor-
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relations@verbund.com
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For more information on
the rating, please refer to
the section on Finance >

Financing

Alpha Value (Auguste Deryckx Lienart) HSBC (Adam Dickens)

Bank of America (Mikel Zabala) Kepler Cheuvreux (Ingo Becker)
Barclays (Peter Crampton) Macquarie (Martin Brough)
Berenberg Bank (Lawson Steele) Oddo BHF (Louis Boujard)
Commerzbank (Tanja Markloff) Raiffeisen Bank International

Credit Suisse (Wanda Serwinowska) (Teresa Schinwald)

Erste Group (Petr Bdrtek) Société Générale (Lueder Schumacher)
Exane BNP Paribas (Sofia Savvantidou) Stifel (Martin Tessier)

Current ratings

As at 31 December 2020, VERBUND's ratings were as follows:
e Standard & Poor’s: A/stable outlook

e Moody’s: A3/stable outlook

VERBUND in sustainability indices and sustainability rankings

Sustainable investments in the capital markets remained popular in2020. Both customers and
European Commission initiatives on sustainable finance prompted investors to focus more on
ecological, ethical and social criteria. This trend has been further reinforced by the current health and
economic crisis, because it is assumed that sustainable companies are more resilient and survive crises
better. VERBUND's systematic pursuit of a sustainable business model also had a positive effect on its
sustainability ratings.

The rating VERBUND was given by Sustainalytics improved to 18.1/100 points (2019: 20.2; note: the
lower, the better), which increased the Group’s position in the “lowrisk” category. This respectable
rating underpins VERBUND’s solid management of sustainability risks. Sustainalytics particularly
emphasised the goal of expanding new renewables (keywords: wind and solar power) and the further
improvement of occupational health and safety management.

ISS-oekom also updated its ratings of VERBUND in 2020 and again attested to the high standard of
sustainability management. ISS-oekom gave VERBUND a further rating of “B’) making special mention of
the Group’s robust environmental management and VERBUND's efforts to mitigate climate change.

In its ESG rating, US financial services provider MSCI again gave VERBUND an excellent overall rating
of “AA” in 2020, underlining the Group’s firm biodiversity measures aimed at reducing the effects on
fauna and flora.
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In the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) rating VERBUND achieved an A-, placing it among the top
Austrian companies and above the global and European average (C) and the energy sector average of B.
CDP attested VERBUND particularly strong performance in relation to its reduction targets, its risk
management approach and its governance.

VERBUND was the top performer in Vienna's leading index, the ATX,
in 2020 and had the largest market capitalisation.

VERBUND was included in the following sustainability indices as at 31 December 2020: \F;\/‘Svaviev;eefjir;;
e VONIX (VBV Austrian sustainability index)

¢ Ethibel Sustainability Index (ESI) Excellence Europe

¢ FTSE4Good Index Series
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The Austrian Code of
Corporate Governance
as amended is available
from the website of the
Austrian Working Group
for Corporate
Governance at
www.corporate-
governance.at

Consolidated Corporate Governance
Report

in accordance with Section 267b of the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB)

Corporate governance — framework

VERBUND AG is a listed stock corporation domiciled in Austria. Its corporate governance framework is
derived from Austrian and European law, including, in particular, stock corporation and capital market
law, the Austrian Commercial Code (Unternehmensgesetzbuch, UGB) and the regulations governing
employee co-determination, the Company’s Articles of Association, the rules of procedure for the
Company’s Boards and, finally, the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (Osterreichischer
Corporate Governance Kodex, OCGK).

Declaration of commitment to the Austrian Code of
Corporate Governance

Declaration of conformity

VERBUND has declared its unconditional commitment to the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance
(OCGK). The Executive Board and Supervisory Board see it as their primary duty to comply with all of
the rules of the Code as fully as possible and to maintain and continue to develop the Group’s high
internal standards. The Code was applied during financial year 2020 as amended in January 2020 and
was adhered to in accordance with the explanatory notes in this report. Active implementation of the
requirements of the Code is intended to ensure responsible management and control of the Group
directed at sustainable, long-term value creation and to create a high level of transparency for all
stakeholders. VERBUND will continue to actively adhere to the Code as amended during financial
year 2021. Applying it as fully as possible is an essential building block for strengthening the trust placed
in the Group by shareholders, business partners, employees and the general public.

Evaluation

In accordance with C Rule 62 of the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (OCGK), compliance with
the Code and the accuracy of the related reporting is evaluated externally by an independent auditor at
regular intervals. The last such evaluation was carried out for 2019 and resulted in a positive report. The
next evaluation is planned for financial year 2022.

Scope of reporting

A consolidated corporate governance report is presented as required under statutory provisions. As a
combined report, it also includes the report in accordance with Section243c of the Austrian
Commercial Code (UGB), and key items of this report are expanded beyond the listed parent company
to include the entire Group. Opinion 22 of the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee
(AFRAC) has been followed with respect to the requirements on content.

This Consolidated Corporate Governance Report includes not only the disclosures required by law
but also the additional content as intended by the Code of Corporate Governance. In addition, further
information is provided on the relevant indicators under the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), the
global standard on sustainability reporting.
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Detailed information on the composition and work procedures of the Executive Board, the
Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board’s committees is provided in the sections entitled
Executive Board and Supervisory Board.

This Corporate Governance Report no longer contains information on the remuneration of the
Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. Please refer to the separate remuneration report which is to
be submitted to the Annual General Meeting and is published on the website.

Further information on the bodies Executive Board, Supervisory Board and Annual General Meeting
and on their interactions is available in the document entitled Disclosures on Management Approach
(DMA) at www.verbund.com > Investor Relations > Financial reports.

Deviations

VERBUND complies with almost all the rules in the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance, including the
R Rules. The deviations applied in financial year 2020 are the same as those applied in the previous year.
From a total of 83 rules in the Code, there are slight deviations in the application of only two C Rules
which are to some extent the result of legislative circumstances. In accordance with the “comply or
explain” principle, these deviations are explained below:

C Rule 2:

The principle of “one share - one vote” is generally adhered to with respect to VERBUND shares. The sole
exception is based on a restriction on voting rights embodied in the “federal constitutional act
regulating the ownership structure of enterprises in the Austrian electricity industry” and in the
provision of the Articles of Association based on this. The exception is worded as follows: “With the
exception of regional authorities and companies in which regional authorities hold an interest of
atleast 51 %, the voting rights of each shareholder in the Annual General Meeting are restricted to 5% of
the share capital.”

C Rule 45:

The rule according to which Supervisory Board members may not assume any functions on the boards
of other companies that are competitors of the Group was adhered to by all the members of the
Supervisory Board, with two exceptions.

The two Supervisory Board members in question each carry out leading functions on boards in
companies which are shareholders of VERBUND AG. If there is a conflict of interest with them in a
specific case, then the chairperson will institute appropriate measures (e.g. withholding of certain
documents, abstention from voting or departure from the meeting). This was required once for a single
agenda item in the reporting period.

Executive Board

Composition of the Executive Board
In financial year 2020, the Executive Board was composed of four members. GRI102-18
The term of office of Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber, who served as Chairman of the Executive GRI 405-1

Board of the VERBUND Group for twelve years, ended on 31 December 2020. Since 1 January 2021,
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GRI'102-25

the Executive Board comprises Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA (Chairman), Dr. Peter E Kollmann and

Mag. Dr. Achim Kaspar.

The Executive Board

Name Year of birth Date of initial  End of current term
appointment of office
CEO Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber 1956 1/1/2009 31/12/2020
Chairman
Vice-Chairman Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA 1963 1/1/2019 31/12/2023
Member of the Executive Board
Dr. Peter F. Kollmann 1962 1/1/2014 31/12/2023
Member of the Executive Board
Mag. Dr. Achim Kaspar 1965 1/1/2019 31/12/2023
Member of the Executive Board
Board functions of Executive Board members within the Group
Name Group company Function
Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH Supervisory Board, Chairman
Anzengruber Annual General Meeting Chairman
VERBUND Thermal Power GmbH Supervisory Board Chairman
VERBUND Green Power GmbH Annual General Meeting Vice-Chairman
1st Vice-
Ennskraftwerke AG Supervisory Board Chairman
Mag. Dr. Michael VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH Supervisory Board, Chairman
Strugl MBA Annual General Meeting Chairman
Austrian Power Grid AG Supervisory Board Member
VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH Supervisory Board Member
VERBUND Green Power GmbH Annual General Meeting Chairman
VERBUND Energy4Customers GmbH Annual General Meeting Chairman
E-Mobility Provider Austria GmbH Annual General Meeting Chairman
SMATRICS GmbH & Co KG Shareholders’ Meeting Chairman
Dr. Peter F. Kollmann Austrian Power Grid AG Supervisory Board Chairman
VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH Supervisory Board Member
VERBUND Services GmbH Annual General Meeting Chairman
VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH Supervisory Board 1st Vice-
Chairman
VERBUND Green Power GmbH Annual General Meeting Member
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Mag. Dr. Achim Ennskraftwerke AG Supervisory Board Member
Kaspar VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH Supervisory Board 1st Vice-
Chairman
VERBUND Innkraftwerke GmbH Supervisory Board, Chairman
Shareholders’ Meeting Chairman
Grenzkraftwerke GmbH Supervisory Board, Chairman
Annual General Meeting Chairman
Innwerk AG Supervisory Board Chairman
Donaukraftwerke Jochenstein AG Supervisory Board Chairman
Osterreichisch-Bayerische Kraftwerke AG Supervisory Board Chairman
VERBUND Thermal Power GmbH Supervisory Board 1st Vice-
Chairman
VERBUND Green Power GmbH Annual General Meeting Member

Supervisory Board appointments of Executive Board members outside the Group
Name Company Function
Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber University of Salzburg (University Council) Member
Dr. Peter F. Kollmann Telekom Austria AG Member
Mag. Dr. Achim Kaspar KELAG-Karntner Elektrizitats- Member

Aktiengesellschaft!

"as at 31 December 2020, VERBUND held a 35.17 % interest in KELAG

Work procedures and allocation of responsibilities

The Executive Board manages the Group’s business activities and represents the Group externally.

The rules of procedure for the Executive Board govern the allocation of responsibilities and how the
members of the Executive Board must work together. In addition, they lay down the Executive Board’s
duties to notify and report, and contain a list of measures that require approval by the Supervisory
Board. The measures requiring approval also include material transactions proposed by the Group’s
main subsidiaries. At the meeting of the Supervisory Board on 2 December 2020, minor additions were
made to the rules of procedure in regard to the representation of the chairperson of the Executive Board
in the event that he or she is unable to attend (applicable from 1 January 2021).

The allocation of responsibilities within the Executive Board is part of the rules of procedure and
defines the range of duties of the Executive Board members without prejudice to the overall

responsibility of the Executive Board.
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Allocation of responsibilities (until 31 December 2020)

Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber Chairman; corporate development (incl. strategy, corporate
responsibility), corporate office (incl. legal affairs, corporate affairs,
compliance & audit)

Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA Vice-Chairman; energy market and business management, strategic
human resources management, corporate innovation & new business,
communication
Business, customers, new renewables

Dr. Peter F. Kollmann Financial management, mergers & acquisitions and investor relations,
management accounting, corporate accounting and risk management
Services, grid

Mag. Dr. Achim Kaspar Information security and digitalisation
Renewable generation, thermal generation, tourism

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board has also explicitly affirmed its commitment to the Austrian Code of Corporate
Governance. Consequently, the Code, together with the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz,
AktG) and the Austrian Commercial Code (UGB), the Austrian Labour Constitutional Act
(Arbeitsverfassungsgesetz, ArbVG), the Company’s Articles of Association and the rules of procedure
for the Executive Board and Supervisory Board, has become the basis for the Supervisory Board’s
actions.

The statutory provisions specify that the Supervisory Board is comprised of members elected by the
Annual General Meeting in accordance with the requirements of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act
(shareholder representatives) and members appointed by the employee representatives.

Personal details, chairpersons and other Board functions
The Supervisory Board is led by a chairperson. The chairperson along with two vice-chairpersons are
elected each year by the Supervisory Board from among its members.

As at 31 December 2020, the Supervisory Board has a total of 15members. Ten shareholder
representatives elected by the Annual General Meeting and five employee representatives appointed by
the Works Council.

During the reporting period, the following changes occurred in the composition of the Supervisory
Board as a result of the expiry of terms of office:

At the AGM held on 16 June 2020, Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta, Dr. Susan Hennersdorf, Prof. Dr. Barbara
Praetorius, DI Eckhardt Rtimmler and Mag. Christa Schlager were elected to the Supervisory Board as
shareholder representatives in the place of Mag. Elisabeth Engelbrechtsmiiller-Strauf}, Mag. Harald
Kaszanits, Mag. Werner Muhm, Dr. Susanne Riess and Christa Wagner. There were no changes in the
employee representatives in the reporting period.
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Name Date of initial
Year of birth  appointment

End of current
term of office

MMag. Thomas Schmid

Chairman

Member of the board of directors of Osterreichische

Beteiligungs AG;

Member of the supervisory boards of OMV AG (vice-

chairman), Telekom Austria AG (member),

Bundesimmobiliengesellschaft m.b.H. (chairman),

ARE Austrian Real Estate GmbH (chairman) and

Osterreichische Lotterien GmbH (member) 1975 30/4/2019

AGM 2024

Mag. Martin Ohneberg

1st Vice-Chairman

Managing partner of HENN Industrial

Group GmbH & Co KG,

HENN GmbH and HENN GmbH & Co KG;

Member of the supervisory boards of Aluflexpack AG,

Switzerland (president) and ASTA Energy Transmission

Components GmbH (member) 1971 30/4/2019

AGM 2024

Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta

2nd Vice-Chairwoman (from 16/6/2020)

Director (authorised representative) of Osterreichische

Beteiligungs AG;

Member of the supervisory boards of Erste Bank der

oesterreichischen Sparkassen AG (member), Austrian

Airlines AG (member), OLH Osterreichische Luftverkehrs-

Holding-GmbH (member) and Casinos Austria AG

(member) 1958 16/6/2020

AGM 2024

Mag. Elisabeth Engelbrechtsmuller-Strauf3
2nd Vice-Chairwoman (until 16/6/2020) 1970 22/4/2015

16/6/2020

Dr. Susan Hennersdorf (from 16/6/2020)
CEO cresc. gmbH; Member of the supervisory board of
Tele Columbus AG (member) 1967 16/6/2020

AGM 2022

Mag. Harald Kaszanits (until 16/6/2020) 1963 71412010

16/6/2020

Mag. Werner Muhm (until 16/6/2020) 1950 22/4/2015

16/6/2020

Prof. Dr. Barbara Praetorius (from 16/6/2020)
Professor at HTW Berlin 1964 16/6/2020

AGM 2022

Dr. Susanne Riess (until 16/6/2020) 1961 22/4/2015

16/6/2020

Mag. Jurgen Roth

Managing partner at Tank Roth GmbH;

Member of the supervisory boards of

ICS Internationalisierungscenter Steiermark GmbH

(chairman)

and ELG (Erddl-Lagergesellschaft m.b.H.) 1973 22/4/2015

AGM 2023

Dipl.-Ing. Eckhardt Rimmler (from 16/6/2020)
Member of the supervisory board of
PreussenElektra GmbH, Germany (member) 1960 16/6/2020

AGM 2024
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Name

Date of initial

Year of birth  appointment

End of current
term of office

Mag. Christa Schlager (from 16/6/2020)

Head of the economic policy department at the
Vienna Chamber of Labour;

Member of the supervisory board of Osterreichische
Forschungsfoérderungsgesellschaft mbH (member)

1969 16/6/2020

AGM 2023

Mag. Stefan Szyszkowitz
Spokesman of the managing board of EVN AG;

Member of the supervisory boards of Burgenland Holding

Aktiengesellschaft (chairman), EVN Macedonia AD
(chairman), RAG-Beteiligungs-Aktiengesellschaft
(chairman),

RAG Austria AG (chairman), Energie Burgenland AG
(vice-chairman), Netz Niederosterreich GmbH (vice-
chairman);

Member of the supervisory boards of Osterreichische
Post AG (member) and Wiener Borse AG/CEESEG AG
(member)

1964 23/4/2018

AGM 2023

Christa Wagner (until 16/6/2020)

1960 7/4/2010

16/6/2020

Dipl.-Ing. Peter Weinelt
Managing director of Wiener Stadtwerke GmbH and
Wiener Stadtwerke Planvermogen GmbH;

Member of the supervisory boards of Wien Energie GmbH

(chairman), Wiener Netze GmbH (chairman) and
Burgenland Holding Aktiengesellschaft (member)

1966 5/4/2017

AGM 2023

Supervisory Board appointments or comparable roles in publicly traded companies and other significant companies have been listed in relation to

(ancillary) functions. Full-time functions are listed where appropriate.

Employee representative

Name Year of birth Date of initial
appointment
Kurt Christof 1964  since 8/3/2004 appointed by the
Chairman of the Central Works Council employee
Member of the supervisory boards of representatives
Stadtwerke Voitsberg GmbH and Sparkasse
Voitsberg/Koflach Bankaktiengesellschaft
Doris Dangl 1963  since 5/4/2018 appointed by the
Chairwoman of the Central Works Council employee
Chairwoman of the Group’s employee representatives representatives
Dr. Isabella Honlinger 1971  since 1/9/2016 appointed by the
Chairwoman of the Works Council employee
representatives
Ing. Wolfgang Liebscher 1966 since appointed by the
Chairman of the Central Works Council 1/11/2013 employee
representatives
Veronika Neugeboren 1967 since appointed by the
Chairwoman of the Works Council 30/4/2019 employee

representatives

The appointment of employee representatives by the Group’s employee representatives is for an unlimited period and can be revoked at any time.
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Of the Supervisory Board members, 27 % are between the ages of 30 and 50 and 73 % are over 50.

Independence

Back in2010, the Supervisory Board of VERBUND AG defined the following criteria for its

independence (pursuant to C Rule 53 of the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance):

e The Supervisory Board member shall not have served as a member of the Executive Board or
as a member of the senior management staff of the Company or one of its subsidiaries in the past
five years.

¢ The Supervisory Board member shall not maintain or have maintained in the past year any business
relationships with the Company or one of its subsidiaries to an extent that would be significant to the
member of the Supervisory Board. This shall also apply to relationships with companies in which the
member of the Supervisory Board has a material economic interest, but not to exercising functions on
the boards of the Group. The approval of individual transactions by the Supervisory Board pursuant
to L Rule 48 shall not automatically mean that the person is deemed not to be independent.

e The Supervisory Board member shall not have acted as auditor of the Company or have owned a
share in the audit firm or have worked there as an employee in the past three years.

e The Supervisory Board member shall not be a member of the managing board of another company in
which a member of the Executive Board of the Company is a supervisory board member.

e The Supervisory Board member may not remain on the Supervisory Board for more than 15 years.
This shall not apply to Supervisory Board members who are shareholders with a direct equity interest
in the Company or who represent the interests of such a shareholder.

e The Supervisory Board member shall not be a close relative (direct descendant, spouse, life partner,
parent, uncle, aunt, sibling, niece or nephew) of a member of the Executive Board or of persons who
hold one of the aforementioned positions.

Based on these guidelines for independence (Annex to the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance), all
ten shareholder representatives have issued a written statement on their independence. Eight of them
have declared their independence, and two members of the Supervisory Board have classified themselves
as not being independent (with respect to only the “relationships with related parties” criterion).

In addition, the following shareholder representatives in the Supervisory Board meet the criteria for
independence contained in C Rule 54 (not representing the interests of a shareholder with a stake
exceeding 10%): Ohneberg, Hennersdorf, Praetorius, Roth, Riimmler and Schlager. Both quotas
required for independence by Rule 53 and Rule 54 of the Code are thus met.

Meetings of the Supervisory Board
Six plenary meetings of the Supervisory Board were held during financial year 2020. Due to preventive
measures in place in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, only the Chairman and individual members
of the Supervisory Board were physically in attendance at the meetings, while the majority of the
Supervisory Board members participated remotely by telephone or video. The overall attendance rate
for all Supervisory Board members (including remote attendees) was 93%. No member of the
Supervisory Board attended fewer than half of the meetings in person (including virtual attendance).

In addition to coordinating the ongoing strategic direction of the Company with the Executive Board,
the Supervisory Board focused on decisions relating to the following topics in particular during the
reporting period:
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e consolidated financial statements and annual financial statements of VERBUND AG for 2019;

¢ proposals for resolutions for the Annual General Meeting;

e proposal for profit appropriation in accordance with Section 96(1) of the Austrian Stock Corporation
Act (AktG);

e election of the General Committee of the Supervisory Board and constitution of the committees;

e appointment of the auditor;

e principles for Executive Board and Supervisory Board member remuneration (remuneration policy);

¢ appointment of managing directors in subsidiaries;

¢ changes to rules of procedure relating to the formation of a Sustainability Committee;

e Kuchalm wind project;

e acquisition of a 51 % stake in Gas Connect Austria GmbH;

e acquisition of a battery storage project;

o transfer of gas boiler plant to Energy Steiermark Warme GmbH;

¢ approval of agreements with entities that are related parties of Supervisory Board members;

e cooperation on project development for solar power in Germany;

e VERBUND AG borrowings in 2021; and

¢ approval of the Group budget for 2021.

o (Please also refer to the activities focused upon by the Supervisory Board’s committees.)

Each year during the audit of the financial statements, the auditor provides the Supervisory Board
with a separate report on the reliability of the risk management system. The report from the auditor also
details sustainability risks in the same manner as in the written quarterly reports on operating risk
management that the Supervisory Board discusses at each of its meetings.

In addition to the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its committees (see below), there were
regular discussions and teleconferences between the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the
Chairman of the Executive Board, and several discussions were held with individual members of the
Executive Board.

Evaluation of Supervisory Board activity

The performance of the Supervisory Board is evaluated annually during the Annual General Meeting, at
which the shareholders vote to approve the actions of the Supervisory Board. At the 73rd Annual General
Meeting on 16 June 2020, the actions of all Supervisory Board members were formally approved.

As required by the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance (Rule 36), the Supervisory Board also
evaluates its activities, in particular its organisation and work procedures, itself. In the reporting period,
this self-evaluation was conducted on the basis of qualitative and quantitative interviews carried out by
an external consultant with all Supervisory Board members and Executive Board members. The results
of this evaluation and the suggestions for measures derived from them were discussed in detail at the
Supervisory Board meeting in December 2020.

Composition and work procedures of the committees

In June 2020, the Supervisory Board adopted an amendment to its rules of procedure and accordingly
established its own permanent Sustainability Committee. In addition, the number of elected members
of the Strategy Committee was increased.
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In accordance with the provisions of the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board (as amended on
16 June 2020), the Supervisory Board shall, following the Annual General Meeting, annually elect the
members of an Audit Committee, a Strategy Committee, an Emergencies Committee, a Remuneration
Committee, a Nomination Committee and a Sustainability Committee. In addition, it can form
temporary or permanent committees specifically for certain projects and topics.

Each chairperson of a committee is required to report to the Supervisory Board on the work of the
committee he or she chairs and on its decisions. In urgent cases, the chairperson of a committee is
required to report in advance to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established pursuant to Section 92(4a) of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act
(AktG) and, in accordance with the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board, consists of four
Supervisory Board members elected by the shareholders and two employee representatives in
accordance with Section 92(4) AktG. The chairperson and vice-chairperson of the committee are
elected from among its members.

The Audit Committee performs the tasks under Section 92(4a) AktG and Rule 40 of the Austrian Code
of Corporate Governance. It has the financial expert required by law and by the Code at its disposal, who
is also the chairperson of the committee.

Members of the Audit Committee

Name Function

Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta Chairwoman

MMag. Thomas Schmid Vice-Chairman

Mag. Jurgen Roth Member

Mag. Christa Schlager Member

Doris Dangl Employee representative
Kurt Christof Employee representative

The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee met three times during financial year 2020. The activities
of the Audit Committee focused on:

e preparing the resolution on the consolidated financial statements for 2019 and the annual financial
statements of VERBUND AG for 2019 including appropriation of profit;

o proposal for the election of the auditor;

¢ risk management incl. areas of emphasis and strategic risks;

¢ acknowledgement of the semi-annual financial statements for 2020;

¢ audit process and 2020 audit areas of emphasis (auditor);

¢ financial reporting process;

e SAP status report;

¢ audit and non-audit services performed by the auditor;

¢ acknowledgement of the reports of the Executive Board;

e 2021 budget and financial report; and

e acknowledgement of the audit programme and audit reports of the Internal Audit department.
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Strategy Committee

A Strategy Committee has been established in accordance with the applicable rules of procedure. Since
the amendment of the rules of procedure in June 2020, it is comprised of five (previously four) members
of the Supervisory Board elected by the shareholders and three (previously two) employee
representatives in accordance with Section 92(4) AktG. The chairperson and vice-chairperson of the
committee are elected from among its members.

The Strategy Committee is responsible for developing a corporate strategy in collaboration with the
Executive Board and for the annual review of strategy and support of any adaptive measures and the
handling of specific strategic topics. Furthermore, it addresses issues that are not to be handled by the
entire Supervisory Board in consideration of competition-related aspects and conflicts of interest.

To this end, the Strategy Committee met three times during the reporting period. In addition, the
Project Committee established by the Strategy Committee as a subcommittee met once.

Members of the Strategy Committee

Name Function

Mag. Martin Ohneberg Chairman

Dipl.-Ing. Eckhardt Rimmler Vice-Chairman

Dr. Susan Hennersdorf Member

Prof. Dr. Barbara Praetorius Member

MMag. Thomas Schmid Member

Doris Dangl Employee representative
Ing. Wolfgang Liebscher Employee representative
Veronika Neugeboren Employee representative

Emergencies Committee

An emergencies committee (Rule 39 of the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance) is a committee for
decision-making in urgent situations. The chairperson is required to make the necessary preparations for
rapid decision-making on matters that fall within the remit of the Emergencies Committee or are referred to
that committee for a decision (convening a meeting at short notice, video conferences). The grounds for
urgency must be stated. The Emergencies Committee makes decisions on all matters where an immediate
Supervisory Board decision is needed to gain economic advantages or fend off the threat of financial
damage.

The Emergencies Committee is comprised of four members of the Supervisory Board elected by the
shareholders and two employee representatives in accordance with Section92(4) AktG. The
chairperson and vice-chairperson of the committee are elected from among its members.

The committee did not meet during the reporting period.
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Members of the Emergencies Committee

Name Function

MMag. Thomas Schmid Chairman

Mag. Martin Ohneberg Vice-Chairman

Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta Member

Dipl.-Ing. Eckhardt RUmmler Member

Doris Dangl Employee representative
Kurt Christof Employee representative

Remuneration Committee

Pursuant to its rules of procedure, the Supervisory Board is required to appoint a Remuneration
Committee in accordance with the Austrian Code of Corporate Governance consisting of the
chairperson of the Supervisory Board and its two vice-chairpersons. The Supervisory Board has
permanently assigned responsibility for the following matters to this committee:

e contracts with members of the Executive Board;

o determination of Executive Board member remuneration;

¢ decisions on management bonuses and premiums for members of the Executive Board; and
e regular review of the remuneration policy for members of the Executive Board.

Members of the Remuneration Committee

Name Function
MMag. Thomas Schmid Chairman
Mag. Martin Ohneberg Vice-Chairman
Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta Member

The Remuneration Committee has the expert required by Rule 43 of the Austrian Code of Corporate
Governance at its disposal, as both Mag. Martin Ohneberg and Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta meet this
requirement.

The Remuneration Committee met two times during 2020. The meetings dealt with the agreements
on targets and level of target achievement for the Executive Board’s variable remuneration components,
in addition to the conclusion of a termination agreement with Dipl.-Ing. Wolfgang Anzengruber and
amendment of the contract with Executive Board member Mag. Dr. Michael Strugl MBA.

Nomination Committee

In accordance with its rules of procedure, the Supervisory Board shall appoint a Nomination Committee
comprised of the chairperson of the Supervisory Board and three other members of the Supervisory Board
elected by the shareholders plus two employee representatives in accordance with Section 92(4) AktG. The
chairperson of the Supervisory Board chairs the committee, and the committee elects the vice-
chairperson.

The Nomination Committee submits proposals to the Supervisory Board on appointments to the
Executive Board and is responsible for preparing the election of Supervisory Board members. The
Nomination Committee is required to take account of the fact that a candidate’s final nomination for
the Executive Board must take place before the nominee’s 65th birthday.
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Members of the Nomination Committee

Name Function

MMag. Thomas Schmid Chairman

Mag. Martin Ohneberg Vice-Chairman

Mag. Dr. Christine Catasta Member

Mag. Jurgen Roth Member

Doris Dangl Employee representative
Ing. Wolfgang Liebscher Employee representative

The Nomination Committee met two times during financial year 2020. The meetings dealt with
Executive Board matters (appointment of the Chairman of the Executive Board, exercise of the option to
extend Executive Board contracts) and preparations for the election of the new Supervisory Board.

Sustainability Committee
With the amendment of the rules of procedure on 16 June 2020, the Supervisory Board established a
permanent Sustainability Committee for the first time. In accordance with the rules of procedure, it is
comprised of four members of the Supervisory Board elected by the shareholders and two employee
representatives in accordance with Section 92(4) AktG. The chairperson and vice-chairperson of the
committee are elected from among its members.

The Sustainability Committee is responsible for the following tasks in particular:

e discussion of the topics of sustainability, New Green Deal, decarbonisation, energy transition, climate
change and environmental protection;

¢ development of suitable strategies and measures for implementation; and

¢ annual review of sustainability strategy and targets and support of any adaptive measures.

Members of the Sustainability Committee

Name Function

Prof. Dr. Barbara Praetorius Chairwoman

Dipl.-Ing. Eckhardt Rimmler Vice-Chairman

Mag. Jirgen Roth Member

Mag. Christa Schlager Member

Doris Dangl Employee representative
Dr. Isabella Honlinger Employee representative

The Sustainability Committee met once in financial year 2020. The meeting dealt with fundamental
objectives, particularly the organisation and reporting of sustainability topics and ESG ratings.

Contracts requiring consent - conflicts of interest

An expert opinion obtained after the 2018 report from the Austrian Court of Audit confirms that the
Group has taken adequate and suitable measures to manage potential conflicts of interest in the
Supervisory Board in an appropriate manner.
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In financial year 2020, the following contracts and/or transactions approved by the Supervisory Board
of VERBUND AG in accordance with the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the Austrian Code
of Corporate Governance (Rule 49) existed between the VERBUND Group and individual Supervisory
Board members or companies with which Supervisory Board members have close relationships:

Supervisory Board member Mag. Elisabeth Engelbrechtsmiiller-Strauf3 (until 16 June 2020)
The general authorisation issued by the Supervisory Board in 2015 for the supply of inverters by the
Fronius Group in the amount of €600k peryear and for the supply of small devices to VERBUND
companies in the amount of €60k peryear was only partially utilised in financial year 2020.
Mag. Elisabeth Engelbrechtsmiiller-Straufd is CEO of the Fronius Group. She stepped down from the
Supervisory Board of VERBUND AG on 16 June 2020.

Supervisory Board member Mag. Stefan Szyszkowitz

A number of contractual relationships, some of which have been in place for many years, exist between
VERBUND and the EVN Group, of which Mag. Stefan Szyszkowitz is spokesman of the managing board.
Most of these relationships had already been entered into before Mag. Szyszkowitz became a member of
the Supervisory Board. The business transacted under these contracts and their volume are reported to
the Supervisory Board on an annual basis. In financial year 2020, an order volume totalling €531k was
processed on the basis of the existing contracts (excluding transactions with grid subsidiary APG).
These primarily involved electricity, gas or grid purchases and usage fees for various VERBUND
companies. In addition, there are agreements concerning VERBUND Innkraftwerke GmbH and
contractual relationships for the supply of electricity with ENERGIEALLIANZ Austria GmbH, in which
EVN holds a 45 % interest.

Supervisory Board member Dipl.-Ing. Peter Weinelt

A number of contractual relationships, some of many years standing, exist between VERBUND and the
Wiener Stadtwerke Group, of which Dipl.-Ing. Peter Weinelt is managing director. Most of these had
already been entered into before Dipl.-Ing. Peter Weinelt became a member of the Supervisory Board.
The business transacted under these contracts and their volume are reported to the Supervisory Board
on an annual basis. In financial year 2020, an order volume totalling €977k was processed on the basis of
the existing contracts (excluding transactions with grid subsidiary APG). This primarily involved
invoices for electricity and grid fees and operational management for VERBUND companies. In addition,
there are agreements concerning VERBUND Innkraftwerke GmbH and contractual relationships for the
supply of electricity with ENERGIEALLIANZ Austria GmbH, in which Wiener Stadtwerke holds a
45% interest.

In financial year 2020, the Supervisory Board again looked at possible (other) conflicts of interest
involving Supervisory Board members that could arise in particular as a result of activities or equity
interests in the energy sector or in companies competing with the VERBUND Group or individual projects.
Supervisory Board members reported no conflicts of interest on their parts. According to the
assessment of the Supervisory Board, there are no fundamental conflicts of interest that would require
further measures. Should such conflicts arise, suitable measures, such as abstention from voting or from
providing advice and voting on individual agenda items, will have to be implemented promptly.
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Further information on
the Annual General
Meeting is available in
the Disclosures on
Management Approach
(DMA) at
www.verbund.com >
Investor Relations >
Financial reports

GRI 405-1
GRI 103-2

SDG b

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, who is also a member of the Supervisory Board of OMV, was
not involved in the transaction to acquire the stake in Gas Connect Austria GmbH from OMV.

Annual General Meeting

At the Annual General Meeting, which is held at least once a year, shareholders exercise their rights and
their voting power. Under their right to request information and propose motions, all shareholders have
the opportunity to engage in dialogue with the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board and to
express their opinions and state their concerns.

The main tasks and responsibilities of the Annual General Meeting include deciding on the
appropriation of profit, electing the Supervisory Board, electing the auditor, formally approving the
actions of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board and making amendments to the Articles of
Association.

The 73rd Annual General Meeting of VERBUND AG was held on 16 June 2020 as a virtual annual
general meeting for the first time due to the COVID-19 ban on face-to-face events. The agenda and
resolutions adopted for this Annual General Meeting and the voting results can be viewed on the
website at www.verbund.com > Investor Relations > General Meeting.

Diversity concept for appointments to the Executive Board
and Supervisory Board
(Section 243¢(2)(3) of the Austrian Commercial Code, UGB)

Studies indicate that mixed teams achieve better results and are more effective and innovative than
homogeneous groups. This is also true for a company’s boards. When members of the Executive Board
and the Supervisory Board are being appointed, in order to get maximum benefit from different
perspectives for entrepreneurial decisions the following principles shall therefore be applied in addition
to the general and company-specific requirements for specialised and personal qualifications:

Supervisory Board

The relevant aspects of a diverse composition of the Supervisory Board include the age of its members
and the duration of their membership in the Supervisory Board, balanced representation of men and
women, internationality and a balance in the education and career backgrounds of its members.

Age: The aim is to achieve a balanced age structure among members in which the difference between
the oldest and the youngest member shall be approximately ten years in order to allow input from the
different views of the generations. No Supervisory Board member may remain on the Supervisory Board
for more than 15 years. Both criteria were fulfilled in the reporting period.

Gender representation: Since the election of the new Supervisory Board at the Annual General
Meeting on 16 June 2020, seven women are members of the Supervisory Board of VERBUND AG
(four shareholder representatives and three employee representatives). This share of almost50%
(overall) not only complies with the statutory quota requiring 30 % of the less-represented gender on the
supervisory board (women, in the case of VERBUND), it also complies with the federal government’s
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decision from 2011 according to which women will make up at least 35% of the shareholder
representatives on supervisory boards of state-owned companies.

Internationality: The Supervisory Board shall have an appropriate number of members (at least three)
who spent a significant part of their professional career abroad or have many years of experience in
international business. This requirement was met in the reporting period, particularly with the election
of three members from Germany reinforcing the internationality.

Educational and career background: The goal is a Supervisory Board made up of members with the
widest possible range of educational backgrounds and experiences from different professional careers.
On the Supervisory Board, at least one member of the Supervisory Board shall contribute proven skills
and expertise in each of the following areas:

o law, capital markets, industry expertise, specialist technical knowledge, finance expertise, expertise in
the area of sales, digitalisation and innovation, experience with regulated companies, financial
experience and experience in strategic projects (e.g. M&A), experience in the areas of sustainability,
environment and stakeholder management.

These diversity criteria were amply taken into account in the election of the new Supervisory Board at
the Annual General Meeting on 16 June 2020, particularly the aspects of gender, internationality and
specialist expertise.

Executive Board
The relevant aspects of a diverse composition of the Executive Board include a balance in the
educational and career backgrounds, internationality and the duration of its unchanged composition.

Educational and career background: In addition to extensive managerial experience and
comprehensive industry knowledge, members of the Executive Board shall have a sound education and
relevant professional experience in either the technical or the commercial/administrative area.

Gender representation: The aim for the medium term is to have one female member on the Executive
Board.

Internationality: Some members of the Executive Board shall have spent a significant part of their
professional career abroad or have many years of experience in international business.

Duration of the composition: The composition and division of responsibilities of the Executive Board
shall not remain unchanged for more than ten years.

The Supervisory Board took these aspects into account in appointing the members of the Executive
Board in 2018.

Measures for the advancement of women
(Section 243c(2)(2) of the Austrian Commercial Code, UGB)

In accordance with its commitment to sustainable management, VERBUND addresses issues of social
relevance such as equal opportunity in the workplace. VERBUND treats all its employees equally,
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Detailed information on
measures to advance
women can be found in
the annual report in the
Human resources
section

regardless of their gender, age, religious beliefs, disability, culture, skin colour, social origins, sexual
orientation or nationality. Decisive action is taken against any form of discrimination or harassment.
Since the selection of Supervisory Board members is solely the responsibility of the Annual General
Meeting and depends on delegates being appointed as employee representatives, the Executive Board
has no influence on whether there are any women on the Supervisory Board of VERBUND AG. With
Christine Catasta, Susan Hennersdorf, Barbara Praetorius and Christa Schlager as well as the employee
representatives Doris Dangl, Isabella Honlinger and Veronika Neugeboren, the Supervisory Board of
VERBUND AG has seven women members, which equates to a female membership of nearly 50 %.

As at 31 December 2020, eight women held management positions within the Group (first and second
levels of management). The percentage of women in management positions is therefore 9%. The
percentage of women among employees throughout the Group is 18.3%. One female executive has
worked part time since 2012.

In order to ensure that the Company diversity management system is permanently integrated into
and further developed within the Group, all equal opportunity agendas will be fully executed by the
Diversity & Inclusion manager.

VERBUND promotes women through a variety of measures, listed here as examples:

e Under the VERBUND diversity strategy, particular emphasis is placed on the dimension of gender, for
which targets and measures are defined and implemented.

¢ The Executive Board emphasises non-discrimination within the Group. The Gender Balance project
was launched in 2020 to achieve a sustainably balanced distribution of genders.

¢ Since 2017, executives from the top level of management have also been measured against targets set
to promote the equal treatment of women.

e The VERBUND women’s network addresses the ongoing development of a sustainable strategy for the
advancement of women within VERBUND.

¢ Each year, VERBUND awards a scholarship to highly qualified women studying technical subjects.

e VERBUND takes part in Take Your Daughter to Work Day to promote technical careers to girls while they
are still at school and awaken their interest in the fascinating technical professions.

¢ In 2018, VERBUND received the Work and Family Audit certificate for the fourth time.

e On aregular basis, VERBUND prepares an income report comparing the salaries of men and women.

Vienna, 11 February 2021

The Executive Board

wntfi S

Michael Strugl Peter F. Kollmann Achim Kaspar
Chairman of the Executive Board CFO, Member of the Executive Board Member of the Executive Board
of VERBUND AG of VERBUND AG of VERBUND AG
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The Group management report relates to the consolidated financial statements of VERBUND. These were
prepared in accordance with Section 245a(1) of the Austrian Commercial Code (Unternehmens-
gesetzbuch, UGB) in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
endorsed by the European Union. We assume no liability for any links or references to external sources
contained in the Group management report.

In lieu of including a non-financial statement in the management report, VERBUND has opted to
prepare a separate non-financial report in accordance with Section 267a UGB. This report on non-
financial information (NFI Report) is presented as a separate chapter after the management report.

General conditions

In 2020, commodity prices for oil, gas and coal decreased year-on-year, mainly due to the gloomy
economic prospects produced by COVID-19. The tightening of EU climate targets led to a jump in prices
for CO: emission rights again following the sharp slump in spring 2020. Prices for electrical energy fell
on both the spot and the futures markets as a consequence of the COVID-19 crisis.

Overall demand for electricity in Austria decreased significantly in 2020 due to weaker economic
output. In spite of higher generation volumes from hydropower, overall generation of electricity in
Austria in 2020 was also lower than in the preceding year.

We are expanding new renewables and energy storage systems
and advancing decarbonisation and digitalisation.

General economic environment
A subdued global economy in 2020
The global economy experienced a severe downturn in 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Reports by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) show that all major economies with the exception of
China exhibited negative growth rates. The IMF projects a decline of 3.4% in economic output in the
United States and of as much as 7.2% in the euro area in 2020. According to IMF forecasts, France, Italy
and Spain have been hit particularly hard by the economic crisis, with economic output falling by 10 %.
For Germany the IMF anticipates a contraction of 5.4% in 2020. Worldwide, the IMF estimates that
economic output will be down by 3.5%. China was the only economy to record positive growth rates
(+2.3%), recovering significantly at the end of 2020. The rapid upswing in China in late 2020 also
remains largely unaffected by the restrictions imposed by the US government on many Chinese
companies.

The IMF expects global growth rates to rise again in the coming years, though the forecasts for next
year are lower than those made in autumn 2020. The weaker prognosis stems from the continuing rise
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in infections due in part to mutations of the original virus and high intensive care use, which could lead
to further, longer lockdowns in Europe.

The development of vaccines and drugs to contain COVID-19 provides hope that the economic
situation will improve. Until the use of vaccines and medicines has a corresponding effect, economic
activities will continue to be impacted for a few more quarters by the reduction in direct contact and
partially closed borders. This is why the OECD also predicted at the end of 2020 that the global economy
would have to live with the pandemic for another six to nine months at least.

Besides the effects of the pandemic, the ongoing trade disputes between the USA and China and the
still incalculable effects of Brexit are causing uncertainty.

The COVID-19 pandemic also caused sharply negative economic growth in Austria, though in
summer 2020 it was possible to recoup some of the losses caused by the COVID-19 crisis. Overall, the
Austrian Institute of Economic Research (Osterreichisches Institut fiir Wirtschaftsforschung, WIFO)
expects the economy to contract by 7.3 % in 2020 versus the previous year. Growth of 4.5% is expected
for 2021, though the third lockdown could push growth down to 2.5%. The financial measures
introduced to prop up the domestic economy caused the Austrian federal government to fall short of its
original projection of a balanced budget by a large margin. A balanced national budget is also not
expected for another couple of years.

Energy market environment

Decrease in electricity consumption due to COVID-19

Austria’s electricity consumption (less pumped storage consumption) in 2020 amounted to 68.7 TWh,
down substantially on the prior-year figure. The decrease of around 2.5 TWh (approximately 3.5%) is
due in particular to the negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Even in January 2020,
i.e. before the onset of the crisis, demand for electricity was below the January 2019 level (-3.3%). The
biggest month-on-month drop was in April 2020, when consumption fell by 13%. In October 2020,
consumption was up slightly on the same month in 2019.

Generation of electricity from hydropower was up 2.0 % on the prior-year figure. The significant drop
in generation volumes due to lower precipitation in the first half of 2020 (down 2.3 TWh on the first
six months of 2019) was more than compensated for in the second half of the year (an increase of
3.1 TWh compared with the same period in 2019).

Generation from thermal power plants in Austria in 2020 was a substantial 12.5% (2.3 TWh) lower
than in 2019. Generation volumes only exceeded 2019 levels in the months of January and March and
in December 2020.

Electricity generation from wind power plants likewise registered a marked decrease owing to lower
wind supply. In 2020, generation volumes were 8.5% lower. By contrast, other generation rose by as
much as 8.6% (0.5 TWh) in 2020. This figure includes other renewable energy sources (excluding
biomass, which falls into the category of thermal generation) and from plants that cannot yet be
allocated for statistical purposes. Among other things, this was attributable to the expansion of
photovoltaic installations in 2020. Overall, at 71.3 TWh, electricity production in Austria in 2020 was
down 2.2% on the prior-year figure.

Impacted by the low electricity consumption, net imports improved in 2020 compared with the
previous year. Compared with 2019, electricity imports fell by 5.9% and electricity exports by 2.6%,
giving net imports of -2.2 TWh.
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Oil prices down compared with 2019
The price for one barrel of Brent crude oil (front month) was around $43/bbl in 2020 compared with
approximately $64/bbl in 2019. This represents a decrease of 33 %.

The oil market in 2020 was heavily impacted by the COVID-19 crisis and the resulting decline in
demand caused by the economic disruption. This weighed on oil prices in the first half of2020 in
particular. Oil prices virtually collapsed in March and April 2020 owing to a dispute between Saudi
Arabia and Russia about production cuts, whereupon the two countries stepped up production - and
this at a time when global demand for oil began to collapse in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
From trading at well over $60/bbl at the beginning of the year, oil prices fell to a low for the year of
slightly below $20/bbl in April 2020. A recovery then set in, and from June 2020 onwards oil was trading
at $40/bbl or higher once more. Until October, there was not very much movement to report in the oil
market, which only began to see some momentum again in November. The economic recovery in parts
of Asia and good news on the COVID vaccine development front pushed oil prices up to marginally
above $50/bbl by year-end 2020.

Decrease in gas prices

Prices on the well-supplied spot market at the European NCG trading point decreased by over €4/MWh
(32%) year-on-year to significantly below €10/MWh on average in 2020. In futures trading, invoiced
amounts for supplier contracts for the coming year (NCG front year) were around €14/MWh in 2020.
This is nearly €5/MWh or 26 % lower than prices for NCG front year in 2019. In particular, the gloomy
economic prospects as a consequence of the COVID-19 crisis put pressure on gas prices in Europe and
worldwide in 2020.

Decrease in steam coal prices
Steam coal prices also witnessed a decline in 2020 compared with the previous year. Coal prices on the
futures market (ARA front year) were down $12/t (17 %) on the prior year at an average of $58/1.

Coal prices on the spot market likewise took a nosedive. Averaging $50/t in 2020, these were 18%
lower than the average listing in the previous year. Coal-fired electricity generation in Europe declined
for a number of reasons, starting with weak demand for electricity as a consequence of the COVID-19
crisis. However, higher generation from renewables and the relatively cheaper electricity generation
from gas due to more expensive CO: emission rights also had an adverse effect on coal-fired generation.
No stimulus for the coal market came from other parts of the world either. The COVID-19 crisis curbed
demand worldwide and filled coal stores. Commodities across the board suffered from oversupply
in 2020.
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Coal, oil and gas price performance €/ MWh thermal
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Stagnating carbon prices

The COVID-19 crisis also impacted negatively on the carbon market: after a period of relatively stable
prices of around €25/t (futures market front year) early on in 2020, a short but sharp crash came
in mid-March. During this period of weakness, carbon prices slipped below €16/t. However, prices
recovered rapidly to top €20/t at the beginning of April and were back trading above €25/t around mid-
year. The €30/t mark was also exceeded at the end of financial year 2020. Factors behind this price
increase were the EU’s tightening of climate targets and the positive signals regarding the approval of
COVID-19 vaccines. Averaging €25.1/t, carbon prices in 2020 were therefore only marginally below the
2019 average of €25.2/t.

Falling prices on the market for wholesale electricity

In 2020, the market for wholesale electricity was shaped by a significant decline in prices, both on the
spot market and on the futures market. These two markets were impacted by the COVID-19 crisis, with
falling prices for primary energy and the lockdown in most countries in Europe plus the associated drop
in demand for electricity having a negative effect.

The average price for base load electricity deliveries in the Austrian bidding zone on EPEX Spot, the
European electricity exchange spot market, decreased by 17% year-on-year to €33.1/MWh in 2020.
At €39.9/MWh, peak-load prices were 14% lower than average prices for 2019. The average price for
immediate base load electricity deliveries in the German market area in 2020 was €30.5/MWh
(down 19% on the previous year), and the price for peak-load energy was €37.5/MWh (down 16%).
In the months of April and May 2020, the average base spot price in the German market area fell to
below €18/MWh. This constituted a historic low. Prices in Austria during this period were not much
higher.
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In the futures market at the European Energy Exchange (EEX), base load for 2021 (front year base)
was traded at an average price of €42.8/MWh in 2020 in the Austrian market area and peak load (front
year peak) was traded at €52.0/MWh. This constitutes a decrease of 16% year-on-year. In the German
market area, front year base traded at an average of €40.2/MWh and front year peak at €49.0/MWh
in 2020. This corresponds to a decrease of 16 % and 15 %, respectively.

Futures market electricity price performance (Base) in €/ MWh
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VERBUND sells most of the electricity it generates in advance on the futures markets so as to reduce
short-term selling and price risks. The price trend in the futures market in 2020 had only a minor

influence on revenue in the reporting period.
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Political and regulatory framework

The Austrian federal government under Chancellor Kurz (OVP) and Vice Chancellor Kogler (Green
Party) was sworn in at the beginning of January 2020. The basis for the government’s work is the
Government Programme, which comprises numerous energy and climate policy objectives, notably the
goal of achieving climate neutrality by 2040, as well as initiatives and measures related to carbon
pricing. For example, Austria aims to meet 100% of its electricity demand (annual balance) from
renewable sources by 2030. As a consequence of the global spread of COVID-19, from quarter 2/2020
onwards the federal government’s work was focused on COVID-19 pandemic response activities.

EU energy policy

European Green Deal

European energy policy in 2020 was shaped to a significant degree by the European Green Deal that had
been presented in December 2019. The Green Deal is a comprehensive strategy document that
coherently consolidates the European Commission’s measures in relation to climate action, the energy
transition, the circular economy and protection of biodiversity. One of the core points of the Green Deal
was possibly raising climate change targets for 2050, and for 2030, as proposed during the year now
ended in the form of the European Climate Law.

European Climate Law

The European Commission published the European Climate Law in March 2020 in connection with the
European Green Deal. The Climate Law proposes to strengthen the European greenhouse gas reduction
target for 2050 from the current 80-95% compared with 1990 levels to a (net) 100% in order to achieve
climate neutrality. Accordingly, the Commission also proposed an increase in the 2030 climate target to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at least 55% compared with 1990 levels. The current target is 40 %.
The final targets will be determined in the course of the trilogue negotiations between the Council and
the Parliament that had not been concluded at the time this report was being prepared. However, the
Commission assumes that the targets will be raised and has started to adapt sectoral legislation
accordingly, e.g. in relation to the EU Emissions Trading System (ETS) and the Renewable Energy
Directive.

EU recovery plan

EU member states took a serious economic hit in 2020 as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.
To support the reconstruction and initiate the necessary economic reforms at the same time in an effort
to achieve greater climate compatibility and digitalisation, the Commission adopted the EU recovery
plan in May 2020. Comprising the regular EU budget plus an extraordinary economic stimulus package,
the recovery plan has a total volume of around €1.8tn. If approved by the European Council and the
European Parliament, the extraordinary funds will be earmarked in particular for government measures
to combat climate change, advance digitalisation and promote biodiversity in 2021 and 2022.

TCFD
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Sustainable finance

After the Taxonomy Regulation entered into force in June 2020, the Commission published the draft
delegated act setting out technical screening criteria for the environmental objectives of climate change
mitigation and adaptation in November 2020. The fundamental classification of hydropower as a
transitional technology ultimately did not find its way into the Commission’s draft, which means that
hydropower is now considered sustainable subject to specific limits. Until 18 December 2020, there was
an opportunity for stakeholders to participate in a consultation on the draft, in which VERBUND also
participated.

Hydrogen, IPCEIls & Clean Hydrogen Alliance

In summer 2020, the European Commission adopted the European Hydrogen Strategy as well as the
EU Energy Systems Integration Strategy, which addresses sector coupling and sector integration. The
core objective of the EU hydrogen strategy, which focuses on renewable hydrogen, is to implement
6 GW of electrolysis capacity in Europe by 2024. These two strategic projects are complemented by the
European Commission’s industrial policy IPCEI (Important Projects of Common European Interest)
initiative, which provides for preferential treatment under state aid law for projects with IPCEI status.
On the corporate side, implementation of the strategy will be supported and advanced by the Clean
Hydrogen Alliance.

New legal framework for the energy sector in Austria

2021 legislative package on renewable energy expansion —2020 grid reserve

The Austrian Federal Ministry for Climate Action, Environment, Energy, Mobility, Innovation and
Technology (BMK) submitted the legislative package on renewable energy expansion for review on
16 September 2020. This legislative package will transpose large sections of the EU’s Renewable Energy
Directive (REDII) and initial sections of the EU’s Internal Electricity Market Directive into national law.
The BMK’s primary goals are to fundamentally update the Austrian support system for green electricity,
to meet 100 % (national balance) of domestic electricity demand from renewable energy sources by 2030
and to create new opportunities for participation in renewable energy projects through energy
communities. The topics of renewable hydrogen and renewable gases have been largely excluded for
the time being, though talks are continuing in parallel. A parliamentary decision on the overall package
will not be possible until the beginning of 2021 at the earliest.

A decision on the revision of the grid reserve was urgently needed, firstly for reasons of EU law and
secondly to ensure planning security for the control area manager APG and the grid reserve providers
(especially thermal power plant operators in Austria). This aspect was therefore removed from the
overall package and unanimously adopted by means of a parliamentary decision on 10 December 2020.

New Energy Efficiency Act from 2021

A new Energy Efficiency Act (Energieeffizienzgesetz, EEffG), which will serve in particular to implement
the requirements of the EU Energy Efficiency Directive for the years 2021 to 2030, was not presented
in 2020 and is now expected for 2021. While the original assumption was 500 PJ (1 PJ = 0.28 TWh) of
cumulative final energy savings for Austria, it seems that the national targets will actually exceed this
already ambitious European target. Currently, it looks as if the targets will be achieved with a mix of
strategic measures and a supplier obligation in combination with an energy efficiency fund.
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Reform of grid usage fees — E-Control’'s “Tarife 2.1” paper

At the beginning of 2016, E-Control (ECA) published a consultation document in German entitled
“Tarife 2.0” on the further development of the grid charge structure. The ECA thoroughly revised its
position paper again in June 2020. Entitled “Tarife 2.1”, this document was open for consultation in
summer 2020. A central point in the paper is that with a nationwide smart meter roll-out, the capacity
component of the grid tariffs should also be increased at the lowest grid level 7. The ECA’s position is
expected to be taken into account within the framework of the major amendment to the Electricity
Industry and Organisation Act (Elektrizitdtswirtschafts- und -organisationsgesetz, EIWOG) planned
for 2021 to implement the requirements set forth in the EU’s Internal Electricity Market Directive and
Regulation.

Important projects of common European interest (IPCEls): call for expressions of interest

In quarter 4/2020, the Austrian Federal Ministry for Climate Action, Environment, Energy, Mobility,
Innovation and Technology (BMK) launched a call for expressions of interest in participation in IPCEI
projects. Interested project applicants had the opportunity to submit projects to obtain IPCEI status,
which grants preferential treatment under state aid law. VERBUND participated in the call for expression
of interest with four projects.

New legal framework for the energy sector in Germany

Amendment to the Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG)

The German Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz, EEG) of 2017 is being
replaced by a substantially amended EEG that came into force on 1 January 2021. EEG 2021 sets the
path for making all electricity in Germany greenhouse gas neutral by 2050. This applies both to
electricity produced domestically and to imports. The Act does not specify that 100% of the electricity
must be generated from renewable energy sources. The interim goal, to be achieved by 2030, is to meet
65% of electricity demand from renewable energy. Expansion paths are envisaged for the individual
technologies. Onshore wind energy is to grow from currently 54 GW to 71 GW in 2030, installed
photovoltaic capacity from 52 GW to 100 GW. Due to the agreement of the European Council in mid-
December 2020 to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 55% by the end of 2030 compared with
1990 levels instead of 40%, a significantly higher expansion path for renewable electricity generation is
needed than that laid out in EEG 2021. The governing parties therefore agreed on higher expansion
targets for renewables. Detailed regulations on this matter were excluded from the EEG process,
however. Instead, the federal government will make a proposal on the precise expansion paths during
quarter 1/2021.

TCFD
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Germany'’s hydrogen strategy

The German government unveiled its hydrogen strategy in June 2020. This provides for the creation of a
hydrogen economy and focuses primarily on green hydrogen. By 2030, 5 GW of electrolysis capacity
with annual capacity of 14 TWh is to be established throughout Germany (to be doubled by 2040).
Demand for hydrogen is forecast to reach 90- 110 TWh by 2030. The steel industry and refineries as well
as transportation with a focus on heavy goods, shipping and air transport have been identified as
customers. The gap is to be closed with imports. The gas infrastructure in particular has an important
role to play in hydrogen transportation. Other possibilities, such as transportation using a transport
medium, are mentioned in the strategy.
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Finance

Factors affecting the result

Wholesale electricity prices

VERBUND contracted for most of its own generation for 2020 on the futures market back in 2018 and 2019.
Ever since the split of the joint German-Austrian price zone in October 2018, separate, higher prices
have prevailed in Austria. Prices for AT 2020 front-year base load contracts (traded in2019)
averaged €51.2/MWh, and prices for DE 2020 front-year base load contracts averaged €47.8/MWh.
Futures market prices thus increased year-on-year by 9.9% (AT) and 9.0 % (DE), respectively. Front-year
peak load (AT) contracts traded at an average of €62.1/MWh and front-year peak load (DE) contracts
traded at an average of €57.7/MWh. This represents a year-on-year increase of 9.3% and 6.9%,
respectively. These increases were primarily due to the sharp rise in the price of CO2 emission rights on
the market. The COVID-19 pandemic pushed down wholesale trading prices for electricity on both the
Austrian and German spot markets in quarters 1-4/2020 to well below the prior-year level. Prices for
base load electricity decreased by an average of 17.3% to €33.1/MWh in Austria and by 19.1%
to €30.5/MWh in Germany. Prices for peak load fell by 13.9% to €39.9/MWh in Austria and by 15.7%
to €37.5/MWh in Germany.

Futures prices €/ MWh Spot market prices €/ M\Wh
Front Year Base DE Front Year Base AT Spot Base DE Spot Base AT
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Futures prices traded in the year before supply. The years stated are the respective years of supply. 2016-2018: Market area Germany/Austria Source: EEX, EPEX Spot

Starting 2019: Market area Germany or Austria respectively.
Spot prices: 1/1/2016 - 30/9/2018 Market area Germany/Austria, starting 1/10/2018 Market area Germany or Austria respectively. Average prices.

Water supply

The water supply in rivers is of particular significance for VERBUND since around 94 % of its electricity is
produced using hydropower. Water supply is measured by means of a hydro coefficient, with the value
of 1.00 representing the long-term average. In the 2020 reporting period, the hydro coefficient for run-
of-river and pondage power plants was 1.01, which is slightly above the long-term average and on a
level with the previous year. The hydro coefficients for the individual quarters differed substantially as
follows: quarter 1:1.09 (previous year:1.21); quarter2:0.86 (1.05), quarter3:1.05 (0.85) and
quarter 4: 1.11 (0.99).
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VERBUND'S own generation rose by 323 GWh to 33,482 GWh in quarters 1-4/2020. This represents an
increase of 1.0% compared with 2019. Generation from hydropower increased by 864 GWh compared
with the previous reporting period. The hydro coefficient for the run-of-river power plants came to 1.01,
matching the prior-year level and exceeding the long-term average by 1 percentage point. Generation
from VERBUND’s annual storage power plants increased substantially by 14.8% year-on-year in
quarters 1-4/2020 due to greater water inflows, increased generation from turbining and lowering of
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The volume of electricity generated by VERBUND's wind power installations in quarters 1-4/2020 was
5 GWh lower than the comparative prior-year figure, with increased volumes in Germany and Romania
and reduced volumes in Austria. Electricity generated by PV installations stood at 0.6 GWh in 2020.

Generation from thermal power plants decreased by 536 GWh in quarters 1-4/2020. The Mellach
combined cycle gas turbine power plant produced 201 GWh less electricity in the reporting period due
to reduced use for congestion management compared with the prior year. The Mellach district heating
power plant, which since the end of quarter 1/2020 has been used solely in gas operation, generated
335 GWh less electricity.

Purchases of electricity from third parties for trading and sales rose by 862 GWh. By contrast,
electricity purchased from third parties for grid losses and control power decreased by 488 GWh.

Group electricity supply GWh
2019 2020 Change
Hydropower! 30,660 31,525 2.8%
Wind power 929 924 -0.6%
Photovoltaics - 1 -
Thermal power 1,570 1,033 -34.2%
Own generation 33,159 33,482 1.0%
Electricity purchased for trading and sales 29,056 29,918 3.0%
Electricity purchased for grid loss and
control power volumes 4,077 3,688 -12.0%
Electricity supply 66,292 66,989 1.1%

incl. purchase rights

VERBUND's electricity sales volume increased by 563 GWh in quarters 1-4/2020. Electricity volumes
delivered to consumers declined by 910 GWh. The decrease, which is mainly due to COVID-19, can be
seen among Austrian and international customers alike. As at 31 December 2020, our residential
customer base comprised approximately 519,000 electricity and gas customers. By contrast, sales to
resellers rose by 1,203 GWh year-on-year, an increase mainly attributable to higher delivery volumes to
international customers. Electricity deliveries to trading firms increased by 270 GWh due to higher spot
trading volumes. Own use of electricity rose by 149 GWh. This increase is attributable above all to
increased operation of the Group’s power plants in turbining mode.

Group electricity sales volume and own use GWh

2019 2020 Change
Consumers 14,478 13,568 -6.3%
Resellers 27,806 29,009 4.3%
Traders 19,894 20,164 1.4%
Electricity sales volume 62,179 62,741 0.9%
Own use 3,178 3,327 4.7%
Control power volume 935 921 -1.5%

Total electricity sales volume and own use 66,292 66,989 1.1%
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Approximately 55% of the electricity sold by VERBUND in quarters 1-4/2020 went to the Austrian
market, which corresponds to the level of the previous year. International trading and sales activities
focused on the German market, which accounted for around 82 % of all volumes sold abroad in 2020.

Electricity sales by country GWh

2019 2020 Change
Austria 34,475 34,469 0.0%
Germany 23,511 23,098 -1.8%
France 3,301 4,284 29.8%
Romania 865 875 1.2%
Other 26 15 -39.9%
Electricity sales volume 62,179 62,741 0.9%

Financial performance

Result €m

2019 2020 Change
EBITDA 1,183.56 1,292.8 9.2%
Adjusted EBITDA 1,183.6 1,292.8 9.2%
Operating result 865.9 921.9 6.5%
Group result 554.8 631.4 13.8%
Adjusted Group result 549.0 610.4 11.2%
Earnings per share in € 1.60 1.82 13.8%

(Proposed) dividend per share in € 0.69 0.75 8.7%
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Income trend

The results posted by VERBUND for financial year 2020 were up despite the negative impact of COVID-19.
EBITDA increased by 9.2 % to €1,292.8m. The Group result rose by 13.8% to €631.4m compared with the
same period of the previous year. The hydro coefficient for the run-of-river power plants came to 1.01,
matching the prior-year level and exceeding the long-term average by 1 percentage point. Generation
from our annual storage power plants increased by as much as 14.8% in quarters 1-4/2020. Generation
from hydropower thus increased by 864 GWh compared with the previous reporting period. The rise in
wholesale electricity prices on the futures markets during the relevant hedging period also had a
positive effect on earnings. By contrast, prices on the spot markets in 2020 declined significantly, due in
particular to the effects of the COVID-19 crisis. As a consequence of these developments, the average
sales prices obtained for VERBUND’s own generation from hydropower increased by €5.6/MWh to
€44.6/MWh. The EBITDA contribution from the Hydro segment thus rose significantly. The EBITDA
contribution from the Sales segment also increased, while the contributions from the New renewables,
Grid and all other segments decreased. The development of the financial result was very encouraging,
due among other things to a significant reduction in interest expenses attributable to high principal
repayments in financial years 2019 and 2020. The Group result for financial years 2019 and 2020 was
also influenced by non-recurring effects. These were mainly effects from impairment tests and, in the
financial result, the measurement of an obligation to return an interest. In financial year 2020, a negative
non-recurring effect in income taxes arose as a result of the change in the tax classification of an
electricity purchase right. Overall, non-recurring income of €21.0m was recorded in the Group result in
financial year 2020 (2019: €5.8m). Adjusted for these non-recurring effects, the Group result rose by
11.2% to €610.4m.

Dividend

A dividend of €0.75 per share for financial year 2020 will be proposed to the Annual General Meeting on
20 April 2021. The payout ratio calculated on the basis of the reported Group result amounts to 41.3%
for 2020 and the payout ratio calculated on the basis of the Group result after adjusting for non-
recurring effects is 42.7%. In 2019, a dividend of €0.69 per share was paid out to shareholders; the
payout ratio amounted to 43.2% of the reported Group result or 43.7 % of the adjusted Group result.

Revenue €m

2019 2020 Change
Electricity revenue 3,190.8 2,599.3 -18.5%
Grid revenue 566.6 497.3 -12.2%
Other revenue 137.6 137.9 0.2%
Revenue 3,895.0 3,234.6 -17.0%

Electricity revenue

VERBUND's electricity revenue decreased by €591.5m to €2,599.3m in 2020. In terms of quantities,
electricity sales volumes increased by 563 GWh, or 0.9%, year-on-year. The average sales prices
obtained for our own generation from hydropower rose by €5.6/MWh to €44.6/MWh. This increase was
attributable to higher prices on the futures market in the wholesale market for electricity; by contrast,

Dividend per share €
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spot market prices fell in 2020. The measurement of electricity derivatives through profit or loss in
accordance with IFRS 9 had a material adverse effect on electricity revenue. Offsetting effects related to
the measurement are also reflected in the procurement costs.

Grid revenue

Grid revenue decreased by €69.3m year-on-year to €497.3m in 2020. This decline is largely attributable
to lower domestic grid revenue as a result of tariff reductions compared with 2019 and volume
reductions due to COVID-19. Another major factor in this decline is lower proceeds from international
auctions for cross-border capacity, owing to reduced demand for energy.

Other revenue and other operating income

Other revenue rose by €0.3m to €137.9m. The payments made by OMV in connection with the
construction of the open-field solar installation in Schonkirchen in Lower Austria had a positive effect.
By contrast, district heating revenue - due to the termination of the agreement to supply district heating
to the city of Graz with effect from 30 June 2020 - and revenue from emission rights were down. Other
operating income rose by €3.5m to €77.5m. This increase mainly stems from an increase in own work

capitalised.

Expenses €m
2019 2020 Change

Expenses for electricity, grid, gas and

certificates purchases 2,086.3 1,316.6 -36.9%

Fuel expenses and other

usage-/revenue-dependent expenses 116.9 78.8 -32.6%

Personnel expenses 332.4 347.6 4.6%

Other operating expenses 250.0 276.3 10.5%

Expenses for electricity, grid, gas and certificates purchases

Expenses for electricity, grid, gas and certificates purchases decreased by €769.7m to €1,316.6m. A total of
374 GWh more electricity was purchased from third parties for trading and sales as well as for grid loss and
control power volumes. Higher procurement prices arising from higher price levels for wholesale
electricity on the whole also caused expenses to rise. The measurement of electricity derivatives in
accordance with IFRS9, on the other hand, reduced expenses. Offsetting measurement effects are
presented under revenue. Expenses for electricity purchases thus decreased by €744.0m compared with
the previous year. Expenses for grid purchases fell by €3.4m and expenses for gas purchases by €18.6m.

Fuel expenses

Fuel and other usage-/revenue-dependent expenses decreased by €38.1m to €78.8m. Gas consumption
fell due to the reduced use of the Mellach combined cycle gas turbine power plant for congestion
management (for details please refer to the section entitled Electricity supply and sales volumes) and a
simultaneous drop in the price of gas. The discontinuation of coal-fired generation at the Mellach
district heating power plant with effect from 31 March 2020 also reduced coal expenses. The lower fuel
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expenses were also due to lower expenses for emission rights attributable to the overall decrease in
generation.

Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses increased by €15.2m year-on-year to €347.6m. The rise in expenses for current
employees (€-11.2m) resulted primarily from the increase of 2.6% in pay rates under the collective
bargaining agreement and expenses for new hires. Additional employees were hired to carry out strategic
growth projects. VERBUND Energy for Business Germany GmbH was also consolidated in full for the first
time, adding 17 employees to the Group. Under the 2021 collective bargaining agreement that due to the
coronavirus pandemic was signed in December 2020, all employees received a one-time payment. This
payment increased personnel expenses for 2020. With respect to employee benefits relating to pensions
and termination benefits (“Sozialkapital”; €-4.0m), the absence of a positive effect from 2019 in
connection with the provisions of the current collective bargaining agreement for utilities relating to
“Abfertigung Neu” (new severance payments) increased personnel expenses in particular. The change in
the development of provisions resulting from the updating of actuarial reports also increased expenses.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses rose by €26.3m to €276.3m. This increase is attributable to higher legal,
auditing and consulting expenses in connection with growth projects, the increase in expenses for
third-party maintenance of power plants and higher expenses for information technology services in
connection with digitalisation activities. Lower travel expenses and expenses for training had an
offsetting effect.

EBITDA
As a result of the above-mentioned factors, EBITDA increased by 9.2% to €1,292.8m.

Depreciation and amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment rose by €14.5m
to €378.8m. This increase is mainly attributable to accelerated depreciation of existing plants based on
the progressive rehabilitation of the Braunau and Schéirding power plants.

Impairment losses
The impairment losses of €25.0m mainly related to the Mellach combined cycle gas turbine power plant Reversal of impairment losses €m

(€14.9m) and the Gries run-of-river power plant (€5.6m). These impairment losses were charged as a
result of changes in electricity and gas price forecasts among other things. Only minor impairment
losses of €1.2m were recorded in financial year 2019. Further details on impairment testing are
presented in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

127.2
Reversal of impairment losses .
47 ¢
Reversals of impairment losses amounted to €32.9m and resulted from the reversal of the impairment 329
loss recognised on the wind farms in Romania, due among other things to the extension of the expected -
18 19 20

useful life of wind power plants. Reversals of impairment losses in financial year 2019 had amounted

to €47.8m and resulted from the reversal of impairment losses recognised on the Gossendorf and
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Equity result - domestic €m

43

20

Kalsdorf run-of-river power plants (€9.6m), the Gries run-of-river power plant (€9.7m) and the wind
farms in Romania (€28.6m). Further details on impairment testing are presented in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

Financial result €m
2019 2020 Change
Result from interests accounted for using
the equity method 40.8 43.3 6.1%
Other result from equity interests 6.1 10.3 68.2 %
Interest income 32.8 32.1 -1.9%
Interest expenses -110.4 -81.0 -26.6%
Other financial result -39.1 32.8 -
Impairment losses 0.0 0.0 -
Reversals of impairment losses 16.4 3.4 -79.3%
Financial result 53.4 40.9 -

Result from interests accounted for using the equity method

The result from interests accounted for using the equity method rose by €2.5m to €43.3m. The increase
was mainly due to the higher earnings contributions from KELAG in the amount of €42.6m
(2019: €38.5m).

Interest income and expenses

Interest income decreased by €0.6m to €32.1m compared with 2019. Interest expenses fell by €29.4m to
€81.0m. This is due in particular to the decrease in interest payments on bonds as a result of high
repayments of principal in financial years 2019 and 2020.

Other financial result

The other financial result improved by €71.9m to €32.8m. This increase was mainly due to the
measurement of an obligation to return an interest (€+88.4m) relating to the Jochenstein power plant on
the Danube River. By contrast, the measurement of securities funds through profit or loss in accordance
with IFRS 9 in conjunction with the non-recurrence of dividend income from the previous year had a
negative effect (€-17.0m).

Reversals of impairment losses in the financial result

Reversals of impairment losses amounted to €3.4m (2019: €16.4m) and, as in the previous year, resulted
from the reversal of the impairment loss recognised on Ashta Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH. Further
details on impairment testing are presented in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Financial result
The financial result consequently improved by €94.3m, increasing from €-53.4m to €40.9m.
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Taxes on income

Taxes on income increased by €67.1m to €238.9m as a result of the higher profit. In financial year 2020, a
negative non-recurring effect of €21.2m also arose as a result of the change in the tax classification of an

electricity purchase right.

Group result

After taking account of an effective tax rate of 24.8% and non-controlling interests in the amount
of €92.5m, the Group result amounted to €631.4m. This represents an increase of 13.8% compared with
the previous year. Earnings per share amounted to €1.82 (2019: €1.60) for 347,415,686 shares. The Group
result after adjustment for non-recurring effects was €610.4m, corresponding to an increase of 11.2% on

the prior-year period.

Financial position

Balance sheet €bn

Group result €m
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631

Assets Liabilities
1.4 (111 . 6.9 (6.6)

Non-current assets Equity

0.7 (0.8) o 4.0 (4.1)
Current assets Non-current liabilities

-(-) A 1.1(01.2)
Held for sale Current liabilities
Figures in brackets are previous year's figures.
Consolidated balance sheet (condensed) €m

2019 Percent 2020 Percent Change

Non-current assets 11,061.9 93% 11,351.9 94% 2.6%
Current assets 776.7 7% 702.3 6% -9.6%
Total assets 11,838.6 100 % 12,054.2 100 % 1.8%
Equity 6,568.0 55% 6,873.9 57 % 4.7%
Non-current liabilities 4,107.4 35% 4,045.4 34% -1.5%
Current liabilities 1,163.2 10% 1,134.8 9% -24%
Total liabilities 11,838.6 100 % 12,054.2 100 % 1.8%

Assets

VERBUND'S non-current assets increased slightly from the level as at 31 December 2019. Under property,
plant and equipment, additions of €628.5m were offset by depreciation of €334.7m. Impairment testing
of property, plant and equipment revealed a need for a write-down of €5.6m on an Austrian run-of-river

555

433
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power plant, after deduction of any directly attributable contributions to building costs.
Impairment testing of the Mellach combined cycle gas turbine power plant resulted in a need for a
write-down of €14.9m, after deduction of related government grants. Impairment tests performed on
Romanian wind farms led to reversals of impairment losses in the amount of €32.9m. The main
additions to property, plant and equipment related to capital expenditure for the Austrian transmission
grid and replacement investments at Austrian and German hydropower plants. The decrease in current
assets resulted mainly from lower positive fair values of derivative hedging transactions in the electricity
business and from lower trade receivables.

Equity and liabilities

The increase in equity compared with 31 December 2019 is mainly attributable to the profit for the
period generated in quarters 1-4/2020, which is offset by the dividend payment by VERBUND AG as
well as negative effects from the measurements of cash flow hedges recognised in other comprehensive
income that reduce equity. The decrease in non-current and current liabilities was primarily the result
of the scheduled repayments on a bond and repayments of borrowings at banks, as well as lower
provisions for employee benefits relating to pensions and termination benefits (Sozialkapital). Higher
provisions for taxes on income and higher negative fair values of derivative hedging transactions from
the electricity business had an offsetting effect.

Cash flows

Cash flow statement €m

2019 2020

Cash and cash equivalents 1/1/ 39.3 44.6
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash flow from investing activities ‘ ‘
Cash flow from financing activities ‘ ‘
Cash and cash equivalents 31/12 44.6 49.2
Cash flow statement (condensed) €m

2019 2020 Change
Cash flow from operating activities 1,204.3 1,191.0 -1.1%
Cash flow from investing activities 321.7 -596.8 85.5%
Cash flow from financing activities 877.4 -589.6 -32.8%
Change in cash and cash equivalents 5.3 4.6 -13.6%

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 44.6 49.2 10.2%
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Cash flow from operating activities

Cash flow from operating activities amounted to €1,191.0m in the 2020 reporting period, down €13.3m
on the prior-year figure. This decrease was mainly due to higher income tax payments. The lower
interest payments had an offsetting effect.

Cash flow from investing activities

Cash flow from investing activities amounted to €-596.8m in the 2020 reporting period
(2019: €-321.7m). The change compared with the previous year is mainly due to a higher cash outflow
from capital expenditure for intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (€-211.2m), a lower
cash inflow from the disposal of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (€-2.5m) and a
lower net cash inflow from investments (€-61.9m).

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash flow from financing activities amounted to €-589.6m in the 2020 reporting period, a change of
€+287.8m. The improvement was primarily attributable to lower repayments of financial liabilities
(€+487.0m), a lower cash inflow from money market transactions (€-68.9m) and a higher cash outflow
from the repayment of lease liabilities (€-17.0m). At €291.4m, dividends paid were also up €113.3m on
the prior-year level.

Key performance indicators and financial governance

VERBUND'’s principal management KPIs are net debt/EBITDA and free cash flow. vERBUND uses ROCE to
measure value creation. Starting from the 2019 reporting period, ROCE will now only be calculated for
VERBUND's unregulated business activities, with retroactive effect from 2018.

Net debt/EBITDA and free cash flow
VERBUND has made debt reduction a priority and is aiming to reach a ratio of net debt/EBITDA of < 3.0.
To achieve this goal, particular focus has been placed on improving free cash flow.

The ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 1.5 at 31 December 2020 (2019: 1.9). This improvement was
attributable to the increase in EBITDA as well as to a decrease in net debt. Information on the change in
EBITDA is presented in the Financial performance section. The reduction in net debt resulted primarily
from a decrease in liabilities due to the positive free cash flow.

Free cash flow after dividends amounted to €299.5m at the end of the reporting period
(2019: €639.3m). The change is mainly due to higher capital expenditure on property, plant and
equipment and higher dividend payments compared with 2019, with cash flow from operating activities
remaining virtually unchanged.

Net Debt/EBITDA
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ROCE

5.6

7.8

9.7
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Return on capital employed (ROCE)

ROCE is an indicator of the profitability of the Group’s operating assets. ROCE for VERBUND's
unregulated business activities at the end of 2020 was 9.7 % (2019: 7.8%). The objective is for this figure
to exceed 7.0% in the long term. ROCE is calculated by dividing net operating profit after tax (NOPAT)
by average capital employed.

NOPAT equates to operating profit before financing costs, including the result from equity interests
net of income tax. At the end of financial year 2020, NOPAT for VERBUND’s unregulated business
activities was €680.4m (2019: €565.7m). The increase is mainly due to the change in profit before tax and
is explained in the Financial performance section.

Capital employed corresponds to average total assets, net of those assets that do not contribute to
performance or commercialisation, and less non-interest-bearing debt. Average capital employed for
VERBUND's unregulated business activities amounted to €7,000.1m at the end of 2020 (2019: €7,243.4m).
The Group return exceeded the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) of the Group’s unregulated
business activities in 2020 (31 December 2020: 4.00%).

Gearing
Gearing is determined as follows:

Interest-bearing net debt (condensed) €m

2019 2020 Change
Financial liabilities 1,111.6 858.5 -22.8%
Interest-bearing provisions 908.0 880.1 -3.1%
Other interest-bearing liabilities 400.7 322.3 -19.6%
Cross-border leasing 16.1 0.1 -99.6%
Cash and cash equivalents 44.5 -49.1 -
Securities -133.1 -129.0 -
Other liquid financial assets -2.6 -1.7 -
Interest-bearing net debt 2,256.1 1,881.2 -16.6%
Equity 6,568.0 6,873.9 4.7%

Gearing ratio 34.4% 27.4% -
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Financing

Financing strategy

In today’s volatile energy market environment, VERBUND bases its financing strategy on three pillars:
1. safeguarding liquidity and ensuring suitable liquidity reserves by increased utilisation of innovative,
sustainable financial instruments; 2. securing a solid credit rating over the long term; and 3. optimising
the capital structure.

Safeguarding liquidity and ensuring suitable liquidity reserves

For VERBUND, ensuring that liquidity is available at all times has the highest priority. As at
31 December 2020, VERBUND had an ESG-linked syndicated loan in the amount of €500.0m at its
disposal that had not been drawn down. The loan, which was taken out with twelve domestic and
international banks with good credit ratings, matures in 2023 with two additional extension options of
one year in each case. VERBUND also had access to uncommitted lines of credit amounting to
approximately €600.0m at the end of 2020. At 31 December 2020, €50m of these credit lines had been
drawn down.

VERBUND is an innovation leader in green finance and has been
instrumental in developing the green finance market.

Securing a solid, long-term credit rating

The better a company’s credit rating, the easier and more inexpensive it is to benefit from full access to
international capital markets. Having a solid credit rating gives VERBUND access to various financing
instruments, including those in the capital market. As at 31 December 2020, VERBUND had a long-term
rating of A with a stable outlook from Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and a rating of A3 with a stable outlook
from Moody’s. S&P last reconfirmed its rating in December 2020. Moody’s most recently raised its rating
in January 2020 from Baal/positive outlook to A3/stable outlook and confirmed the rating in
January 2021. For the long term, VERBUND is aiming for a solid “A” category rating. VERBUND is therefore
focusing primarily on optimising free cash flow and on the two key rating-related performance
indicators of FFO/net debt and RCF/net debt.

Financing measures

In 2020, VERBUND was again able to take advantage of its strong internal financing capability to finance
its ongoing investment programme and to continue to reduce Group debt. As at 31 December 2020,
cash flow from operating activities amounted to €1,191.0m and free cash flow before dividends
amounted to €590.9m. As part of active liquidity management, VERBUND subjects its financial liabilities
to ongoing monitoring to ensure that opportunities to optimise interest expenses are taken advantage of
(e.g. by making early principal repayments).

TCFD

As at 31/12/2020:
S&P: A/

stable outlook
Moody's: A3/
stable outlook
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Green finance initiatives:
green bond, digital green
Schuldschein and ESG-
linked loan

TCFD

Financial liabilities €bn

0.9

Carrying amounts

VERBUND will continue to pursue green finance activities in the future. Following a number of
innovative transactions in recent years such as the issuance of the first green bond in the German-
speaking region, the world’s first green Schuldschein over a digital platform and the first green
syndicated loan whose margin structure is linked exclusively to VERBUND’s ESG rating (sustainability
rating) over the term of the loan, no new funds were raised in the capital market in 2020 due to
VERBUND's outstanding liquidity situation.

As at 31 December 2020, VERBUND'’s borrowing portfolio was composed as follows: 58 % bonds and
42% loans.

The following key performance indicators refer to purely external financial liabilities, excluding
former cross-border leasing transactions, exclusive financial guarantees and exclusive limited
partnership interests. The carrying amount of VERBUND'’s financial liabilities was €858.6m as at
31 December 2020. The entire amount was financed in euros. A total of 91 % of these financial liabilities
had fixed interest rates and 9% had variable interest rates. As at 31 December 2020, the duration of all
liabilities was 4.3 years and the average term to maturity was 4.3 years. The effective interest rate
was 2.31%.

Repayments of principal and repayment structure
In financial year 2020, principal payments of €234m were made on long-term borrowings. A total of
€30m will fall due in 2021 and €25m is scheduled to be repaid in 2022.

Repayments €m
525
110
30 25 25 20 12 10 ’—‘ 52
[ I [ 1 [ 1 [ —
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 > 2028
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Segment report

Hydro

Generation of electricity from hydropower is reported in the Hydro segment. VERBUND is one of the
largest producers of hydroelectricity in Europe and over 94 % of the total electricity VERBUND generated
in 2020 came from hydropower. Especially in Austria, hydropower is the basis for generating electricity
from renewable energy sources. It has many advantages: it is cost-effective, renewable, clean, reliable
and flexible and delivers high-value peak load and base load power. VERBUND's strong hydropower base
- with a very extensive portfolio of base load and peak load electricity, flexibility and storage capacity -
provides an outstanding competitive basis to meet the needs of the energy market of the future in a
cost-effective manner.

VERBUND is working towards a climate-neutral energy future
with courage, leadership and the will to change.

Business performance
KPls - Hydro segment

Unit 2019 2020 Change
Total revenue €m 1,114.7 1,267.4 13.7%
EBITDA €m 797.5 926.8 16.2%
Result from interests accounted for
using the equity method €m 3.7 0.7 -
Capital employed €m 6,137.9 5,985.3 -25%

The increase in total revenue and the higher EBITDA, with largely unchanged output, are mainly due
to the higher average prices obtained for electricity compared with the previous year. The hydro
coefficient for the run-of-river power plants came to 1.01, as in the previous year. The result from
interests accounted for using the equity method was chiefly made up of the earnings contribution from
Ashta Beteiligungsverwaltung GmbH.

The reduction in capital employed was mainly due to the decrease in property, plant and equipment
and financial assets.
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Energy supply
Energy generation overview

Electricity generation

Number’ Maximum Mean energy 2018 2019 2020
electrical  capability in  Generation in  Generation in  Generation in
capacity in GWh GWh GWh GWh
MW!
Hydropower? 129 8,267 29,130 28,684 30,660 31,625

" as at 31 December 2020 // % incl. purchase rights

As at the end of 2020, VERBUND electricity from hydropower came from 92 run-of-river power plants
and 23 storage power plants. We also held purchase rights at 14 run-of-river power plants owned by
Ennskraftwerke AG. The mean energy capability - i.e. annual generation potential assuming an average
water supply (standard year) - was 29,130 GWh.

In 2020, the hydro coefficient for run-of-river and pondage power plants was 1.01, which is slightly
above the long-term average and on a level with the previous year. The hydro coefficients for the
individual quarters differed substantially as follows: quarter 1: 1.09; quarter 2: 0.86; quarter 3: 1.05;
quarter 4: 1.11.

VERBUND's hydropower plants generated 31,525 GWh of electricity in financial year 2020, which was
almost 0.9 TWh (+2.8%) above the previous year’s level of 30,660 GWh. Generation from VERBUND’S
annual storage power plants increased by 14.8 % year-on-year in quarters 1-4/2020 due to greater water
inflows, increased generation from turbining and lowering of reservoir levels.

VERBUND's hydropower plants had a capacity of 8,267 MW (maximum electrical capacity = maximum
capacity for sustained operations) as at 31 December 2020.

Capacity changes 2019-2022" MW
2019 2020 2021 2022
Hydropower? 8,222 8,267 8,358 8,411

' as at 31/12 of each year // 2 incl. purchase rights

The capacity changes in the hydropower segment in 2020 are attributable to the commissioning of the
Stillup small-scale hydropower plant and the decommissioning of the Tuxbach power plant in
connection with the commissioning of the Tuxbach diversion tunnel, as well as to the rehabilitation of
the Hiusling and Krippau power plants. In addition, the exercise of the option to top up the stake in the
Graz power plant from 12.5% to25.1% became effective. The Jettenbach 1 power plant was also
decommissioned and the Steinfeld small-scale hydropower plant was sold. Additional increases in
mean energy capability and capacity are expected for the coming years based on new construction
projects and rehabilitations.

Availability of hydropower plants
The Austrian power plants of VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH (run-of-river and storage power plants)
had an average overall availability of 92.6 % in 2020. This availability level is lower than the mean for the
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years 2015 to 2019 (93.9%), but at the same level as in 2019 (92.7%). At 93.8 %, the overall availability of
the run-of-river power plants was precisely the average for the last five years. The availability of the
storage power plants, at 91.5%, was down substantially on the five-year mean of 94.0% as a result of the
long, scheduled downtimes of powerful machinery and power plants. The complete draining of the
Stillup reservoir, for example, resulted in the Rof$hag, Hausling and Mayrhofen power plants being shut
down for around one month. Other noteworthy downtimes for rehabilitation projects took place at the
Hausling, Malta-Oberstufe and Kaprun-Oberstufe power plants, among others.

The Grenzkraftwerke power plants on the Inn and Danube rivers (Bavaria/Austria) achieved overall
availability of 94.4 % in 2020, significantly exceeding the average for the last five years of 93.2 %.

The Bavarian run-of-river power plants operated by VERBUND Innkraftwerke GmbH achieved an
overall availability level of 92.9%, which was also above the average of 90.7% for the last five years
(project for the accelerated renewal of control systems).

Managing operations in times of COVID-19

Addressing the COVID-19 pandemic dominated operations in financial year 2020. VERBUND Hydropower
initiated crisis management activities at an early stage by preparing suitable preventive measures. This
made it possible to ensure reliable operations at the hydropower plants at all times and hence make an
important contribution to safeguarding a secure supply of electricity.

Special work instructions with regard to employee and health protection (including rules of conduct,
personal protective equipment) and the physical and temporal separation of the operating teams not
only enabled continuous operation, but also performance of all necessary maintenance work as well as
completion of inspections and construction measures that had already commenced.

For example, in spite of COVID-19, initial synchronisation of the Krippau renovation project in Styria
was completed on 15 April 2020 - at a time when the most stringent official restrictions were still in
place. The complete renovation of the stilling basin at the Rosegg-St. Jakob power plant was also
finished just in time, as immediately after its completion on 15 May 2020 heavy precipitation put its
functional capability to the test. In both measures, the deployment of highly qualified plant personnel
played an essential role, preventing delays and cost increases caused by personnel capacity not being
available in the market. The importance of having a flexible in-house team of expert fitters became
especially apparent in these times of crisis.

Other organisational measures implemented to cope with the crisis situation included tighter access
restrictions to all power plant and administrative sites, cancellation of events as well as plant visits and
tours, and the switch to working from home (where possible).

In parallel to the official relaxation measures and the tightening of measures once more, the crisis
management team at VERBUND Hydropower continuously evaluated the applicable regulations and
adapted the measures in place.

Power plant projects for expansion and rehabilitation being implemented
In a small number of cases, the COVID-19 pandemic led to interruptions or delays in ongoing new
construction and expansion projects in March 2020.

However, work on ongoing new construction, expansion and rehabilitation projects was soon
resumed in compliance with the health and safety precautions in place and the delays were largely
made up during the course of 2020.
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August 2020 also marked the completion of the assembly hall of VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH at
the Schwarzach power plant. This made it possible to keep plant components available for inspections
and repairs, which, in addition to the deployment of highly qualified company fitters, helped to avoid
longer delays as a consequence of the pandemic. VERBUND Hydropower was able to continue, complete
or commence the following key projects in 2020.

New power plant projects
New construction of the Graz power plant on the Mur River
In December 2019, it was decided to increase VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH’'s share in the Graz power
plant on the Mur River project from 12.5% to 25.1%. Once this had been approved by the Austrian
Federal Competition Authority, the increase in the investment was implemented in the first half of 2020.
Besides VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH (now 25.1%), Energie Steiermark Green Power GmbH
(62.4%) and Energie Graz GmbH & Co KG (12.5%) each have stakes in the Graz power plant, with a
maximum electrical capacity of 17.7 MW and a mean energy capability of 78.9 GWh. Energie Steiermark
Green Power GmbH was responsible for end-to-end project execution. The power plant came on
stream in September 2019; any remaining work to be done, mainly on the reservoir and the central
storage channel in the tail water area, was continued in 2020. Obstacles caused by the COVID-19
situation led to delays in carrying out the remaining work and to additional costs being incurred.
As the power plant is located in an urban area, special emphasis was placed on appropriate design of
the river landscape in cooperation with the City of Graz. Experience to date shows that the measures
have been very well received by local residents.

New construction of the Gratkorn power plant on the Mur River

The Gratkorn power plant on the Mur River is a further partner project between VERBUND (50%) and
Energie Steiermark Green Power GmbH (50%), with a maximum electrical capacity of 11 MW and a
mean energy capability of 54.2 GWh.

The investment decision for the project that had already been approved in 2016 was taken in
December 2020. Initial operation is scheduled for the beginning of 2024. Applications have been
submitted for an investment grant for the project under the Green Electricity Act as well as for a
COVID-19 investment premium.

Now that the construction decision has been taken, the public briefings on the project will resume
along with the construction measures that had been planned prior to the start of construction and will
continue until the plant comes on stream. While the power plant is being built, a number of measures
will be implemented in the region’s best interests (improvement of flood protection, enhancement of
the cycle path network and a new crossing of the Mur River for pedestrians and cyclists).
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Other new construction projects

In addition to the new construction projects described above, VERBUND is planning other power plant
projects. The public will be engaged in accordance with the principles of stakeholder management
described below.

Preparations for an investment decision in 2021 were begun in 2020 to secure legally binding
approval for the Limberg III project. Two pump-turbines with a total capacity of 480 MW will be built in
another power plant cavern between the two existing reservoirs, Mooserboden (upper reservoir) and
Wasserfallboden (lower reservoir). This is a “twin project” to the existing Limberg Il pumped storage
power plant. To increase storage capacity in addition to flexibility, efforts are also being made to obtain
approval for the raising of the Limberg Dam, to be carried out at the same time as the construction of
Limberg III.

With regard to the planned Stegenwald power plant on the central Salzach River - a project that is
being implemented in collaboration with Salzburg AG fiir Energie, Verkehr und Telekommunikation -
work in 2020 focused on advancing the approval procedure. In addition to the notification of water
rights approval, approval under forestry legislation has now also been obtained. The project has a
planned capacity of 14.5 MW and a mean energy capability of 72 GWh.

The Group is giving further consideration to implementing an ecological innovation project at the
Tittmoning basin of the Salzach River near the German-Austrian border entailing a combination of river
restoration for riverbed stabilisation plus river enhancement for the creation of habitats and energy use
(run-of-river power plant). The preparatory work is focusing on an initial site on the Lower Salzach,
where the integration of innovative compact turbines into the ramp structure required to stabilise the
riverbed will generate around 30 GWh of green electricity. As part of a preliminary project, a two-state
approval procedure will be prepared under the leadership of VERBUND Hydropower (Osterreichisch-
Bayerische Kraftwerke AG) with the involvement of the water boards from Upper Austria, Salzburg and
Bavaria.

Expansion and rehabilitation projects

Expansion of the Lower Tuxbach diversion

In September 2016, an investment decision was taken to implement a diversion at the Lower Tuxbach
and build a small-scale power plant in Stillup, together with a project for the redimensioning and re-
issuance of water rights for the Bésdornau power plant. The planned measures, which will increase
mean energy capability by around 40 GWh, represent an energy upgrade of the Group’s existing power
plant portfolio in the Zillertal Valley.

Following the two excavations towards the Tuxertal Valley in July 2018 and in the direction of Stillup
in May 2019, injection work was carried out and the tunnel lining made. A major focus in the winter
months of 2019/20 was the construction of the culvert structure under the Zemmbach tributary. This
very time-critical work was completed just in time before the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite
a three-week interruption of the construction work, the diversion was put into operation on
1 August 2020. Work on the commissioning of the Stillup small-scale power plant was then continued
and was able to be completed before the end of 2020.
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The supporting ecological measures for the Lower Tuxbach project were carried out as planned.
A further ecological milestone for the creation of habitats was also completed in 2020 with the
structuring measures at the Zemm-Ziller development.

Public relations activities were stepped up on the signing of the second Zillertal agreement and the
partnership agreements with the communities and the tourist board as well as on the signing of a
partnership agreement between VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH and Stadtwerke Schwaz (which
receives an annual electricity purchase right). As part of the project, informational events were held,
press releases issued and project consultations held.

With regard to the Bésdornau power plant, the restoration measures initiated in 2019 and the
shutdowns of the Stillup and Tuxbach diversions were completed in 2020. Modernisation work at the
Bosdornau power plant is scheduled to begin in quarter 2/2021 and commissioning is expected before
the end of 2021. Further restoration and compensatory measures will then be completed by the end of
2022.

Modernisation and expansion of the Inn power plant in Toging/Jettenbach

The overall project comprises construction of a new power plant and weir, raising the sealing capacity of
the Inn channel and implementing flood protection measures at the Jettenbach reservoir. On
completion, it is expected to increase total generation by 139 GWh to a total of 696 GWh and installed
capacity by 32.4MW to 117.7 MW. Construction began in 2018 and commissioning is scheduled
for 2020.

In 2020, with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, construction and installation activities in all site
sections took place under heightened safety measures. The restrictions in almost all EU countries had
an impact on supply chains for components and for construction personnel in the spring, but these
effects were eliminated for the most part over the course of 2020.

At the Jettenbach weir site, concrete construction work was completed in June 2020 for weir fields 3
and 4 and then begun for weir fields 1 and 2. Work on the Fraham impounding reservoir and on the
Jettenbach impounding reservoir also took place in 2020 and the new Fraham pumping station was
built.

At the Toging power plant site, the excavation pit was backfilled in April on schedule. Concrete
construction work was continued in parallel in 2020 and the first generator set components were
installed. In addition, the contracts for the remaining mechanical and steel hydraulic structure as well
as for the electrical and control technology components for the power plant were awarded in 2020.

The project is accompanied by a variety of protective, preventative and compensatory environmental
measures. These include standing water bodies used as spawning habitats and fish habitats, grassland
development along the embankments to promote biodiversity, establishment of reptile habitats, and
structural and hydromorphological improvements. The planning of measures to permanently maintain
the environmental function at the Jettenbach reservoir was optimised in terms of soil protection and
advanced.

Based on the agreement with the Free State of Bavaria, supplementary environmental measures for
the diversion channel are being developed and implemented in cooperation with the water
management authorities. Hydromorphological surveys were performed in the diversion channel for this
purpose and modelling was carried out.
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The monthly project information events being held alternately in Jettenbach and Téging since the
start of construction had to be discontinued from March 2020 for safety reasons in compliance with the
COVID-19 restrictions. However, the public hotline was available year-round and the observation deck
at the Toging construction site also remained open in 2020. In addition, meetings with residents were
held whenever a new construction phase began, with residents receiving personal invitations to these
meetings.

Talks with the residents affected by the increase in the groundwater level were continued.
Furthermore, negotiations on a compensation agreement are being held with residents in relation to
flood protection measures.

Rehabilitation projects
Ybbs-Persenbeug rehabilitation
Austria’s oldest Danube power plant at Ybbs-Persenbeug has been undergoing progressive
modernisation since 2012. Work on the North power plant was finished in spring 2017 after overhaul of
three of the six main generators; work on the high voltage lines was completed at the end of 2018.
Autumn 2019 saw the start of modernisation of the three remaining generator sets of the South power
plant, and commissioning of the second main generator was completed in July 2020. Renovation of the
third main generator started in September 2020.
Once the rehabilitation measures have been completed for all six vertical generator sets in 2022, the
plant will have an additional mean energy capability of 77 GWh and an additional maximum electrical
capacity of 18 MW.

Ottensheim-Wilhering rehabilitation project

In the Ottensheim-Wilhering rehabilitation project, modernisation of the first generator set had to be
pushed back a month to October 2020 as a consequence of COVID-19. Once the rehabilitation
measures have been completed in 2029 for all nine generator sets, the plant will have an additional
mean energy capability of 56 GWh and an additional maximum electrical capacity of 45 MW.

Hausling and Kaprun-Oberstufe rehabilitation projects
In the Héusling rehabilitation project, work was completed in 2020. An additional 60 MW of turbining
capacity and 70 MW of pumping capacity is now available.

In the Kaprun-Oberstufe rehabilitation project, renovation of the first of two generator sets began in
summer 2020. On completion of the work in 2021, turbining capacity will increase by 48 MW, pumping
capacity by 30 MW and mean energy capability by 10 GWh.

Malta power plant group rehabilitation programme
The Malta rehabilitation programme consists of sub-projects to rehabilitate the Malta-Oberstufe and
the Malta-Hauptstufe stations and to replace the existing Hattelberg pumping station with a new
pumping station in Reifleck. On completion of all work in 2022, the turbining capacity of the above-
mentioned plants will increase by 40 MW, the pumping capacity by 232.3 MW and the mean energy
capability by 2 GWh.

The modernisation of the first of two generator sets in the Malta-Oberstufe sub-project was essentially
completed in the second half of 2020. Wet commissioning is scheduled for January2021.
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Construction of the new Reifleck pumping station began in November 2020 and commissioning trials
are scheduled to start in quarter 3/2021. In the Malta-Hauptstufe sub-project, renovation work on the
first of two pumps is slated to begin in January 2021.

Expansion of the ReiReck I+ pumped storage power plant

When the Reifleck II pumped storage power plant was being built, the possibilities of optimising the
entire power plant system in the ReifSeck group were evaluated. As a result, the design for additional
expansion through the construction of a 45 MW pumped storage power plant (Reifleck II+) was
developed to facilitate the transfer of the stored contents from Great Miihldorf Lake to the upper
reservoirs and thereby optimise the system.

The required permits have already been obtained for the Reifieck I+ project, leading to the adoption of
the investment decision in December 2020. Commissioning is scheduled for November 2023.

Additional rehabilitation projects in the planning stages

In the other ongoing rehabilitation projects, including those in the Gerlos I, Rof$hag, Salza, Arnstein and
Ering-Frauenstein power plants, planning and design work continued and preparations for
implementation began. Work on the Héusling and Spiegelwald small-scale power plants in the Zillertal
Valley also continued.

Environmental measures: excellent track record in restoration maintained

VERBUND Hydropower expects to incur total costs of up to €280m by 2027 for implementing the
requirements of the EU Water Framework Directive in force. This is in addition to its ongoing expenses
for operation and maintenance, particularly in relation to conservation of the fish passes built. Selected
nature conservation activities are presented on the VERBUND website.

The most extensive individual projects carried out in 2020 included the completion of the work on
establishing fish passability in connection with the LIFE+ Danube Network initiative at the Abwinden-
Asten power plant on the Danube and the start of construction for the LIFE project entitled “Passability
and habitat enhancement at the Altenworth power plant”.

On the Drau River, the fish pass at the Annabriicke power plant was also completed and opened. The
main technical construction work to create passability began at the Ferlach-Maria Rain power plant. On
the Mur River, work to create passability at the Lebring power plant was continued, which means that
fish passability on the Mur will be almost completely achieved.

Work has also focused on planning additional fish ladders on the Danube and Drau rivers, the Inn
River to the German border and the Inn River in Bavaria, as well as on monitoring the fish ladders
already constructed.

Multiple research projects focused on extensively investigating outstanding issues relating to
EU Water Framework Directive specifications. For example, the Vienna University of Natural Resources
and Life Sciences is systematically reviewing options for improving river sedimentation along the bodies
of water impacted by power plants in Austria as part of the Christian Doppler Laboratory for Sediment
Research and Management. The project will continue for several years.

On certain occasions, such as the opening of the fish pass in Annabriicke, public events were held - to
the extent that this was possible due to COVID-19. The EU-funded LIFE projects each have their own
project web page with relevant information for the public.
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Sustainable planning and stakeholder management

In all major projects, VERBUND Hydropower considers the responsibility to society and the environment
right from the start. Great importance is placed during all stages of planning and implementation on
executing construction work with the utmost consideration and ensuring that the effects of plant
operation on the environment are minimal. In all projects, a strong focus is placed on dialogue with
citizens (beginning as early as the planning stage). Wherever possible, VERBUND also seeks to leverage
synergies in planning and execution to provide direct advantages for those affected (for example by
improving local flood protection installations and transportation infrastructure).

The community is updated regularly and local council information sessions are held, as are meetings
with mayors and tourism associations.

Regrettably, many scheduled events had to be cancelled in2020 owing to COVID-19 safety
restrictions. This included the open days, which VERBUND Hydropower considers important
opportunities for companies and local residents to come in contact largely outside of projects. Where
possible (such as in the case of the major project to modernise the Jettenbach-Téging power plant), the
need for information was met proactively in writing or through video conferencing. Information on the
major projects is also provided on the VERBUND website, and there are separate web pages for the LIFE
projects.

Compliance with the most stringent environmental standards is reviewed regularly by internal and
external auditors during regular operations.

Examination of the flooding on the Drau River in 2012

A total of around 90 civil proceedings for possible damages are still pending in Austria and Slovenia as a
result of the Drau flooding in 2012. The Slovenian proceedings are currently in the first-instance
evidentiary stage.

Constructive measures to reduce noise emissions at the Malta-Hauptstufe power plant

Since 1979, VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH has operated Austria’s most powerful hydropower plant in
the Molltal Valley in Carinthia: the Malta-Hauptstufe pumped storage power plant. In addition to four
turbines, this power plant also has two pumps whose operation generates a low-frequency sound
(75 Hz) in certain constellations. The local community increasingly finds this extremely disturbing, and
it has also been classified by environmental medicine experts as a long-term health hazard.

Through the implementation of technical measures, the disturbing noise emissions have now been
reduced to such an extent that possible health hazards have been ruled out. This has also been
confirmed through measurements by residents and in expert reports.

Nevertheless, as part of the rehabilitation of the Malta-Hauptstufe project that is currently being
implemented, the existing pumps will be replaced by new, more efficient, quieter pumps. The
components for these have been manufactured in the current year and their assembly prepared.
Renovation of the first pump will take place in the first half of 2021, followed by the second in the first
half of 2022.
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Hydro Consulting

Since 2017, VERBUND has been progressively developing and setting up its Hydro Consulting operating
segment based on the comprehensive experience of its highly skilled team of experts. In addition to
increasing profit, this operating segment’s activities are primarily focused on maintaining and/or
expanding VERBUND's core competencies in the field of hydropower while building up knowledge and
gaining positive insights that will benefit the Group’s own installations.

Moreover, the specific expertise of VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH will contribute to efficient, safe,
and socially and environmentally compatible implementation of projects worldwide, thus furthering
the sustainable development of hydropower. In the selection of projects, importance is also attached
accordingly to compliance with international standards (e.g. World Bank, IHA) concerning
sustainability. In 2020, which was a very successful year, a total of 19 service contracts were processed,
generating revenue of around €3m.

Of particular note are the ongoing technical project management contract for the construction of the
89 MW joint power plant on the Inn River on the border between Tyrol and Switzerland and the
operation management contract for a 1,285 MW large-scale power plant on the Mekong River in
Xayaburi, Laos, for which VERBUND Hydropower is supplying the power plant manager and maintenance
manager.

In Laos, further contracts were acquired in 2020 for the 1,400 MW Luang Prabang project on the
Mekong River, upstream of the Xayaburi Dam. An examination of the technical design and a review of
the construction costs will be performed for the Laos energy ministry, and throughout the entire
construction period and for the initial years of operation VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH will be
available as a technical expert (“lender’s engineer”) for the banking syndicate providing the finance.

In addition, contracts were won from hydropower operators in New Zealand, Australia and Iceland to
supervise factory acceptance tests of major components at suppliers in Austria. Thanks to the expertise
of VERBUND Hydro Power GmbH, it was possible to carry out the necessary quality assurance for the
power plant owners concerned despite COVID-related travel restrictions.

By the end of the year, 16 projects with a total volume of approximately €15m were being marketed
(preliminary agreements, quotations or pre-qualifications).
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New renewables

VERBUND aims to make a significant contribution to the Austrian and European climate and energy
strategy. Its goal is therefore to accelerate profitable growth in electricity generation from wind and solar
power.

This was the idea behind the establishment of the subsidiary VERBUND Green Power GmbH (VGP) at
the end of 2019. VGP’s focus in the wind power sector is on onshore plants and in the solar power sector
on large-scale installations as well as on rooftop installations through its 50 % stake in SOLAVOLTA.
VGP installs photovoltaic systems for generation of own electricity as well as for household, commercial
and industrial customers, acting as a project developer, manager and buyer, but also as an asset owner
for generation facilities that use wind and solar power. Marketing to consumers (household,
commercial, industrial) is carried out by the affiliated companies VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH
(VEB) and VERBUND Energy4Customers GmbH (VEC).

The existing wind power portfolio was allocated to the new segment named New renewables, with
effect from 1 January 2020. By 2030, the portfolio is expected to account for around 20-25 % of VERBUND's
total generation (currently around 3 %).

By 2030 VERBUND aims to generate 20-25 % of the Group'’s
total electricity generation from new renewables.

Business performance
KPIs — New renewables segment

Unit 2019 2020 Change
Total revenue €m 120.2 110.6 -8.0%
EBITDA €m 62.2 58.9 -5.3%
Result from interests accounted for
using the equity method €m 0.2 0.1 -
Capital employed €m 429.0 419.5 -22%

The decrease in total revenue is mainly attributable to a decline in sales volumes in Romania. The
change in EBITDA is primarily due to the sharpened focus on the expansion of renewable wind and
solar energy, which initially leads to higher expenses. The hydro coefficient was 1.00 (2019: 1.01).

The decrease in capital employed is largely due to lower current receivables and higher provisions for
deferred taxes, offset by an increase in property, plant and equipment.
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Energy supply
Energy generation overview
Electricity generation

Number! Maximum 2018 2019 2020

electrical capacity Generation in Generation in Generation in

in MW!' GWh GWh GWh

Wind power 1532 418 834 929 924
Solar power* 43 2 1
Total 420 834 929 925

" as at 31 December 2020 // ? refers to the number of wind farms // ° refers to the number of photovoltaic farms // * excluding leased/contracted installations

VERBUND generated 925 GWh from the renewable energy sources of wind and solar power in financial
year 2020, just shy of the previous year’s level of 929 GWh. This represents a decline of 0.6% on 2019.
The decrease in generation (-5 GWh) is attributable to a lower wind supply in Austria.

Commissioning of the first photovoltaic installations in 2020 generated 0.6 GWh of electricity. The
electrical capacity of VERBUND's wind power installations as at 31 December 2020 was 418 MW, while the
capacity of its solar power installations was 1.7 MWp.

Capacity changes 2019-2022" MW/MWp

2019 2020 2021 2022
Wind power 418 418 437 503
Solar power - 2 32 61
Total 418 420 469 564

' as at 31/12 of each year

Capacity changes in VERBUND’s wind and solar power projects are shown based on the current
investment plan and include all existing installations that had been put into operation by
31 December 2020.

Solar and wind power

With wind power plants in Austria, Germany and Romania, VERBUND has 418 MW of installed capacity
from wind power at its disposal. The Group’s wind power plants had an average availability of 98.1%
in 2020.

In addition to the current construction projects (see below), at the beginning of August 2020 a project
development partnership in the wind sector was entered into in West Germany with EFI/Felix
Nova GmbH to develop twelve wind farms with a potential of up to 180 MW.

In the field of solar power, a cooperation agreement for joint project development in the Brandenburg
region is currently being reviewed. Due diligence is also being performed for project partnerships in
Spain.

Moreover, the first spaces in Austria were secured in quarter 2/2020 and quarter 3/2020. In terms of
project development and asset acquisition, work is continuing on the implementation of the extensive
wind power and solar power project pipeline in and outside Austria.
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Despite constraints in distribution and installation due to COVID-19, installed photovoltaic capacity
increased by 20 % in 2020 as compared with the same period in 2019.

Selected investment projects

Lower Danube rooftop solar installation

A rooftop solar installation with a capacity of around 400 kWp mounted on several buildings at the
Greifenstein, Altenworth and Melk power plants was successfully put into operation on 7 May 2020.

Ludmannsdorf
Construction of an open-field solar installation, with an installed capacity of 1.3 MWp, was completed
in Feistritz-Ludmannsdorf in Carinthia in quarter 3/2020. Trial operation was conducted in the
period from mid-August to mid-September 2020. Final acceptance of the plant took place in early
December 2020.

Environmental measures
At the Petronell-Carnuntum, HollernII and Bruck-Géttlesbrunn wind farms, an expert conducts
ornithological monitoring either annually or biennially in order to examine the effects on the habitat
and the breeding behaviour of various bird species. The most recent monitoring did not reveal any
abnormalities. Noise emission and noise pollution readings at the wind power plants after
commissioning ensured that the surrounding area is not adversely impacted to a significant degree.
Introduction of an environmental management system certified to ISO 14001 and environmental
certification of the operation of the Austrian wind farms additionally ensure that the most stringent
environmental standards are maintained over the entire life cycle of the wind power plants.
In 2020, the photovoltaic installations that came on stream in Austria were included in the scope of
the environmental management system and certified.
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Stakeholder management

VERBUND also places strong emphasis on engaging with the local population in its wind power
operations. At the Bruck/Leitha wind farm, guided tours of a wind turbine with an observation platform
are offered. This gives interested individuals a unique opportunity to gain an alternate perspective on

wind power.
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Sales

The Sales segment combines all of VERBUND's trading and sales activities. Through its trading in
electricity, gas, guarantees of origin, CO2 emission rights and transport capacity as well as in innovative
green electricity and flexibility products, VERBUND has taken a strong presence in the most important
Over-the-Counter (OTC) markets and in the exchange markets in Europe. This also gives VERBUND a
decisive competitive advantage in regard to optimally marketing its products. The expertise VERBUND has
acquired strengthens its position in the electricity market and enables the Group to respond promptly to
changes in the market. This makes VERBUND a leading provider of flexibility and green electricity
products as well as comprehensive services for the energy markets in Austria as well as in Germany.

The focus of VERBUND's electricity trading is on the following areas: optimising utilisation of its own
power plants; achieving the best possible results from marketing the Group’s own generation;
optimising electricity purchasing; and securing sales. In addition, VERBUND makes use of the
opportunities for growth resulting from the energy transition. VERBUND furnishes its customers with
energy market expertise in the form of new products and services. Thus VERBUND assists customers with
marketing their facilities for renewable energy and offers them - for example - flexibility products to
reduce their risk exposure arising from balancing energy. In addition, VERBUND allows its customers to
participate directly in the balancing services and intraday markets. Products and services relating to
solar power, electromobility, batteries and hydrogen expand the offerings, and VERBUND customers are
supported in participating in the energy transition.

When selling electricity and natural gas to consumers, VERBUND’s main focus is on innovative and
sustainable products and fair business practices. The core markets of VERBUND's sales activities are
Austria and Germany. In Austria, VERBUND supplies the household/agriculture and commercial
segments (which combine the Group’s standard load profile customers) with electricity generated
exclusively from hydropower. In both Austria and in Germany, VERBUND delivers to industrial
enterprises and resellers.

Business performance
KPIs — Sales segment

Unit 2019 2020 Change
Total revenue €m 3,161.7 2,523.3 -19.9%
EBITDA €m 49.4 75.5 52.9%
Result from interests accounted for
using the equity method €m 1.7 -0.2 -
Capital employed €m 113.2 168.2 48.6%

The change in total revenue is mainly attributable to the result from the measurement of energy
derivatives, which led to lower electricity revenue and hence to lower electricity purchases in
quarters 1-4/2020, while electricity revenue and electricity purchases had increased in
quarters 1-4/2019. The improvement in EBITDA is due, among other things, to higher transfer price
margins in quarters 1-4/2020 as well as revisions of the charging of electricity deliveries and the
absence of negative measurement effects from the previous year.

TCFD
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The rise in capital employed is primarily attributable to lower provisions for deferred taxes and higher
inventory of emission rights.

Energy trading and sales - three become one

In 2019, a decision to restructure the Sales segment was taken as part of a strategic project so that
VERBUND is ideally positioned to unlock the many different opportunities and challenges of the energy
transition. This affected VERBUND Trading GmbH (VTR), VERBUND Sales GmbH (VSA) and
VERBUND Solutions GmbH - companies that have been operating under a new company law and
organisational structure since the beginning of 2020.

Trading, marketing of own generation, flexibility and green electricity products, wholesale, sales to
large customers and new products and services (including solar power, batteries, electromobility and
hydrogen) have been bundled in VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH (VEB), while small customers
have been concentrated in the company VERBUND Energy4Customers GmbH (VEC). This has made it
possible to hone sales-related skills, which have been combined with the trading and marketing
activities in VEB. This approach allows VERBUND to position itself vis-a-vis customers as a highly
competent, full-spectrum energy manager with sustainable and innovative products and services for
large customers and to safeguard additional earnings contributions over the long term.

Projects and new business models, particularly from the field of distributed generation and storage
(e.g. solar power, industrial-scale batteries and hydrogen) will supplement the activities to date.

Electricity trading

Economic hub for the Group

Changes and trends in the European electricity markets, market design and the areas of
decarbonisation, decentralisation and digitalisation as well as surrounding the expansion of renewable
energy present multiple challenges for electricity trading. The complexity of marketing the power plant
portfolio is increasing along with rising demands for flexibility and the requirements for optimal
management and the long-term marketing of generation facilities.

Electricity trading functions as an economic hub for the Group. Here VERBUND serves as an asset
optimiser, offering a comprehensive range of customised products and services in the energy market
which are adapted continuously to meet changing market requirements. The range extends from plant
use optimisation and market access to flexible marketing and hedging offers, as well as forecasting and
regulatory services. VERBUND places particular importance on customising its innovative products to
meet a wide spectrum of customer requirements.

VEB - an established partner in the European energy market and partner for all customers
VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH (VEB) is an established player in the European energy markets and
is considered a dependable trading partner with considerable expertise in asset marketing, flexibility
management and green electricity products. Under the restructuring, the trading and sales activities
were pooled with the sales-related skills of the large customer segment. This enables VERBUND to
position itself as a highly capable energy manager with sustainable and innovative products and
services for all large customers and also to secure additional earnings contributions.

VERBUND’S customers primarily include European wholesale partners, other energy trading
companies, resellers and municipal utilities, as well as major consumers. VEB’s customer portfolio also
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comprises grid and power plant operators and producers of electricity from renewable sources,
particularly in the areas of wind, solar power and small-scale hydropower.

Optimal marketing of VERBUND's own generation

In view of the momentum in the energy markets and volatility in electricity prices, VERBUND is optimising
its marketing activities so as to secure and market its own generation as effectively as possible. The
Group regularly reviews and continuously refines its diversified sales strategy. Marketing activities
primarily focus on the characteristics of the Group’s power plants. They also take account of seasonal
fluctuations in the water supply and follow dynamic hedging concepts that respond to market price
fluctuations, with the aim of ensuring stable results.

The proximity to the market allows VERBUND to continuously analyse changes in the underlying data
and in the climate on the energy market. This makes it possible to identify market signals early, and
VERBUND can react quickly to market trends.

VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH (VEB) also ensures market-driven management and optimisation
of the utilisation of all VERBUND power plants, as before. The precise inflow and weather forecasts
required for this are prepared using models - some of which are developed within the Group - for which
highly qualified staff contribute their knowledge of the energy market and of meteorology. Optimisation
calculations using the appropriate electricity pricing models round off the system landscape to enable
the best possible marketing of assets.

All trading activities take place within the framework of a comprehensive, strict set of rules and
regulations concerning risk that are regularly updated.

VERBUND uses its expertise for marketing renewables

VERBUND is pursuing an ambitious growth strategy in its wind and solar power activities. The marketing
of new renewable energy sources on behalf of third-party plants is designed to support this growth. This
campaign, which is based on attractive pricing, targeted marketing activities and active customer
management for the Renewable energy customer business, was also continued in financial year 2020.
The campaign focused in particular on wind power and small-scale hydropower, solar power and
biomass. VERBUND is actively expanding these successful products as part of its marketing activities for
third-party plants in line with the needs of customers. The operators of the plants have benefited from
VERBUND'’s expertise in the energy market. VERBUND’s market share in Austria has grown and its market
share in Germany has been maintained in recent years in spite of strong price pressure and intense
competition. In Luxembourg, VERBUND is still the market leader in marketing electricity from wind
power.
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Marketing of green electricity remains an important component of the product portfolio
VERBUND's product portfolio includes trading in emission rights and guarantees of origin (green
electricity). In taking account of increased awareness about energy production types and energy
sources, VERBUND supports the trend towards renewable energy, sustainable generation technologies
and climate neutrality.

In Austria and Germany, VERBUND is one of the leading providers of certified renewable generation
(hydropower from Austria and Germany) and supplies more than 160 municipal utilities and resellers in
these markets with its premium product - H20 electricity. Diversification and expansion of the sales
channels and the expansion of the product portfolio drove an increase in sales volumes among other
things in financial year 2020.

Dynamic markets call for flexibility products

VERBUND is one of the leading providers of production flexibility with its storage and pumped storage
power plants. The highly flexible power plants allow the near-term capacity adjustments to be made
that the market requires as the share of volatile new renewable energy sources grows. The electricity
generated is marketed on the day-ahead and intraday spot markets. In addition, system services such as
primary, secondary and tertiary control are provided when needed by APG, the control area manager, to
ensure short-term balancing between generation and consumption. VERBUND also supplies power plant
output for grid services such as provision of reactive power, fault management and black-start
capability.

Together with the Mellach combined cycle gas turbine power plant (Mellach CCGT) and the Mellach
district heating plant, VERBUND also uses its pumped storage power plants for congestion management.
To this end, APG demands congruent modes of operation for the different power plant operators to
allow unfavourable load flows in the European high voltage grid to be prevented or balanced out.

VERBUND also offers its customers a “virtual power plant” product to enable them to combine the
flexibility of their smaller generation facilities and market it at short notice or hedge portfolios against
fluctuations in electricity prices. Virtual pumped storage is offered in line with customers’ needs, with
defined pumping and turbining capacity and different lead times in product nomination.

Innovative services and products

VERBUND provides its partners with first-class, solid energy market expertise in the form of different
products and services. These include stock market access to the intraday, spot and futures markets,
forecasting services, management of balancing groups, integrated portfolio management and regulatory
services (e.g. REMIT, the EU Regulation on Wholesale Energy Market Integrity and Transparency) plus
entire packages for supplying rail operators with traction current.

For a number of years, VERBUND has offered a central B2B customer platform called VISION for web-
based communication with the Group’s large customers in the areas of customer service and energy-
related solutions. VISION not only allows VERBUND customers to market electricity and gas products
online as limit orders and track their order status in real time up to fulfilment. The digital platform also
provides access to “clickable” prices in the demand response module, a customer-specific document
centre and information on the market. In addition, the platform facilitates comprehensive management
of energy data both for producers (including wind, solar power, small-scale hydropower) and for
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consumers (resellers, industrial customers, etc.). In this way, a supply of electricity is transacted from
the enquiry to pricing and trade to reporting and billing online in a highly automated manner.

VERBUND's activities focus on continuing to systematically develop the digitalisation and automation
strategy for electricity trading. Here, emphasis is placed on needs-based customer solutions (e.g. the
VISION platform) and development of innovative systems and projects in fields such as new storage
systems (green hydrogen, batteries), e-mobility and innovative energy technologies. This ensures rapid
market integration and is intended to maximise the potential to increase efficiency for customers, the
market and consumers.

Photovoltaic — the power of the sun and the bedrock for additional VERBUND growth

VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH (VEB) works with industrial customers to develop and construct
photovoltaic installations - both rooftop and open-field installations - whose power customers can use
directly for their own purposes. On the basis of this concept, approximately 20 MWp are already being
implemented or are in operation.

As part of a strategic cooperation with OMV, the first phase of Austria’s largest open-field solar
installation with a capacity of over 11 MWp was constructed in Schénkirchen/Lower Austria, and
commissioned at the end of 2020. Construction on the second phase is scheduled for the end of 2021.
Once both construction phases have been completed, the photovoltaic plant will have an installed
capacity of 14.85 MWp and generate approximately 14.25 GWh, equivalent to the annual consumption
of around 4,400 households. In parallel, photovoltaic operator model contracts are being entered into
with several industrial customers. Significant expansion is planned for subsequent years.

VERBUND supports industrial companies in new markets

Industrial flexibility assets are marketed on the control power and intraday market through the
VERBUND-Power-Pool, which concentrates the largest portfolio of industrial loads and producers as well
as green electricity plants in Austria across all industries. VERBUND supports industrial companies in
generating added revenue while retaining full operational autonomy.

In addition, VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH (VEB) markets own batteries as well as batteries
under the SYNERG-E project in Germany and Austria. All participants in the VERBUND-Power-Pool and
the power grid benefit from this unique constellation. VERBUND's involvement in research and
development products such as SYNERG-E and H2FUTURE opens up new applications and business
models as well as new energy market processes in regard to the future of energy. The flexibility platform
Volery supports the marketing of battery storage units and Power2X installations (such as electrolysis
facilities under the H2FUTURE project), among other things. Small flexibility units are networked and
marketed together, creating a link between renewable production and industrial flexibility and storage
capabilities.

Battery storage — part of the renewable expansion strategy

The reorganisation of the energy infrastructure requires new, intelligent and cross-sectoral solutions
with the highest standards of flexibility and availability. Battery storage units support conventional
energy storage (pumped storage and storage power plants). Under the EU-funded project SYNERG-E,
industrial-scale battery storage units have been put into operation at ultra-fast charging stations in
Austria and Germany. The batteries are used to cap peak loads at fast EV charging stations and to
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market control power. Further battery storage units will follow in 2021 under the project and in
cooperation with industrial customers. In autumn 2020, VERBUND acquired a battery storage project in
Germany with a capacity of 10 MW which will be commissioned in early 2021.

Green hydrogen - fuel for the future of energy

Austria’s stated climate target is to meet 100% (national balance) of electricity demand from renewable
sources by 2030. According to the experts, green hydrogen will play a primary role in an increasingly
renewable energy system - as a process gas, a source of energy and a (long-term) storage medium.
Electrolysers, which are used to produce green hydrogen, can also be used in the control power and
balancing market. VERBUND is a leading player in the field of green hydrogen in Austria. Working
together with its cooperation partners, VERBUND is actively shaping its leadership in this area under
several projects such as H2FUTURE (focused on the steel industry), H2Zillertal (focused on rail
operations), UpHy (focused on mobility in cooperation with OMV) and HotFlex (focused on high-
temperature electrolysis).

Under the project with voestalpine, one of the world’s currently largest proton exchange membrane
(PEM) electrolysers (6 MW) began operating at full capacity at the site in Linz in early March 2020. The
objectives of the H2FUTURE project, sponsored by the EU with a grant of €12m, are to produce green
hydrogen for use in the steelmaking process and to provide power for primary, secondary and tertiary
control.

The cooperation project between Lafarge, OMV, Borealis and VERBUND launched in early 2020 for
synthesising green hydrogen (H) and carbon dioxide (CO.) captured from cement production to create
renewable plastics (CCU) reached the next milestone. University partners assisted in determining the
technical feasibility, drawing up a project implementation schedule and the business plan, and
calculating the savings in greenhouse gases emitted. The project partners submitted a request for
funding in late 2020, which will bring the project into the next project development phase.

Mobility becomes electric
In 2020, VERBUND Energy4Business GmbH (VEB) worked with existing and potential customers to
advance the development of electromobility solutions under the banner of “charging as a service”.

E-mobility provider SMATRICS, a joint venture of OMV, VERBUND and Siemens, has positioned itself in
recent years as a technology and service partner in EU projects, in large-scale customer projects and as
a pace-setter for electromobility and the related digital business models. SMATRICS is continually
expanding its portfolio by adding well-known customers and petrol station operators.

Along with German utility EnBW (Energie Baden-Wiirttemberg), SMATRICS founded the joint
venture SMATRICS mobility+ GmbH, which operates the largest Austria-wide network of charging
stations and is pushing ahead with the expansion of the existing SMATRICS ultra-fast charging network
in Austria. The focus is on high-speed charging infrastructure with charging capacity of up to 350 kw.
SMATRICS will act as the technical service provider for the joint subsidiary. SMATRICS is also
participating in several tenders, including in the automotive industry.



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Electricity sales

Further expansion of the customer base

In its household/agriculture and commercial segments, VERBUND achieved “Gold” status in the 2020
“Service Champions” study. Approximately 122,000 opinions were obtained in a broad-based survey of
customer experience, with 18 companies tested in a comparison of electricity suppliers. As in 2017, 2018
and 2019, VERBUND took first place and was named “industry winner” VERBUND also shone in the
“Industry Monitor 2020” study and added to its series of successes from 2018 and 2019. More than
320,000 customer opinions were collected in the extensive online survey. In terms of customer
satisfaction, VERBUND ranked the highest of all electricity and gas providers and was named the 2020
industry champion. These awards confirm the quality of VERBUND's services. Our goal for the future is to
safeguard these excellent results and to improve even more.

VERBUND also felt the effects of the COVID-19 crisis in new customer acquisition. Cuts were evident in
direct sales in particular. And yet VERBUND still increased its customer base in financial year 2020. At the
end of the year, around 440,000 customers in the household/agriculture and commercial segments were
already receiving VERBUND electricity generated from 100% Austrian hydropower. Market share in the
household segment amounted to around 8% in 2020. Climate-neutral natural gas from VERBUND was
supplied to approximately 79,000 customers in the household/agriculture and commercial segments
in 2020. This represents an increase of 4% in the overall customer base compared with financial
year 2019.

The advertising campaigns conducted in spring and autumn 2020 were partly responsible for this
success, as was the further expansion of direct sales through the addition of attractive offers for new
customers. VERBUND also placed greater emphasis on acquiring more cooperation partners. Increased
customer loyalty likewise played a role in the success achieved.

Guarantees of origin for electricity from VERBUND power plants

VERBUND is a pioneer when it comes to guarantees of origin for electricity. In 1999, VERBUND became the
first Austrian utility to have all of the hydroelectricity it generates certified by the TUV SUD inspection
authority. VERBUND thus played a key role in developing the guarantee of origin scheme for electricity in
Austria. As a neutral institution, TUV SUD uses its seal of approval to certify that VERBUND hydropower
plants generate green electricity and feed it into the grid in appropriate quantities and in the quality
required by consumers (industrial, commercial and household customers), resellers (municipal utilities
and energy providers) and traders.
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In 2019, VERBUND's entire electricity generation from hydropower certified by TUVSUD was
21,627 GWh. The figures for 2020 are not yet available because TUVSUD does not publish its
calculations until the second quarter of the year following the reporting period. The net calculations
from TUV SUD essentially correspond to gross generation from hydropower, less own use, easement
agreement and power for pumping.

With the electricity from Austria and Germany certified by TUV SUD, VERBUND is one of the region’s
largest suppliers of green electricity. Customers’ interest in buying directly from local producers has
increased considerably in the electricity sector, as has the desire to create added value by choosing the
electricity supplier. In the latter case, this primarily involves investing the revenues from green
electricity in new green electricity projects. VERBUND’s main focus in this regard is not only on
constructing new facilities. Rather, in the interest of using domestic resources in the best possible and
most sustainable way, the emphasis is on escalating efficiency improvements and ecological measures
at existing plants, without which an energy transition would not be possible.

Electricity labelling in Austria

In Austria, the electricity label is displayed on the consumer’s electricity bill. The electricity VERBUND
supplies in its household/agriculture and commercial segments has always come exclusively from
hydropower. In 2019, VERBUND also began supplying electricity generated from photovoltaic installations
owned by other VERBUND customers to its customers in these segments. However, this comprises less
than 0.01 % of all sales (rounded) and is therefore not disclosed in the electricity label.

A total of 52.87% of the electricity VERBUND supplied in its business and industrial segments in 2019
came from renewable energy sources. Of the guarantees of origin issued, 24.34% related to electricity
from hydropower, 18.51% to electricity from wind power, 6.79% to electricity from solid or liquid
biomass, 1.79% to electricity from solar energy and 1.44% to electricity from biogas or other renewable
energy sources. The remaining 47.13 % related to natural gas.

The 2010 Austrian Electricity Industry and Organisation Act (Elektrizitdtswirtschafts- und
-organisationsgesetz, EIWOG 2010) and the Electricity Labelling Regulation (Stromkennzeichnungs-
verordnung, SKV) form the legal basis for electricity labelling in Austria. The Austrian electricity
labelling model is an evidence-based system. All electricity volumes delivered to consumers in a
calendar year must be assigned guarantees of origin (ban on “grey” electricity).

Electricity labelling in Germany

The origin of the electricity volumes supplied by VERBUND to business and industrial customers in
Germany in 2019 breaks down as follows: 17.9% renewable energy (subsidised in accordance with the
Renewable Energy Sources Act), 9.6% other renewable energy sources, 3.0% other fossil fuels,
13.7% natural gas, 37.9% coal and 17.9% nuclear energy. That particular mix reflects the fact that
demand for certified electricity is low among the majority of Germany’s industrial customers. Therefore,
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the electricity supplied to those customers reflects the overall German generation mix, which includes
electricity from coal-fired and nuclear power plants in addition to electricity from wind and solar power.

In Germany, the following laws comprise the legal framework governing electricity labelling:
Section 42 of the Energy Industry Act (Energiewirtschaftsgesetz, EnWG) for electricity delivered and
Section 78 of the Renewable Energy Sources Act (Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz, EEG) for the
mandatory disclosure of electricity subsidised in accordance with the EEG.

Climate-neutral natural gas

VERBUND added climate-neutral gas to its household customer portfolio back in 2014. In doing so,
VERBUND became one of the first energy service providers in Austria to offer its household customers
climate-neutral natural gas and electricity generated exclusively from Austrian hydropower from a
single source.

In the case of climate-neutral natural gas products, the emissions resulting from the use of natural gas
are offset by the subsidisation and expansion of renewable projects. One example of this is the Ashta
hydropower plant in Albania. This has been officially confirmed by TUV NORD, an independent
technical inspection authority in Germany.

A total of 1,211 GWh of natural gas was sold in the reporting period. Carbon offsets for these sales
amounted to 221 kt CO:ze.

The Energy Efficiency Act and its successful implementation

The existing Energy Efficiency Act expired on 31 December 2020. Under this Act, VERBUND had an
obligation as an energy supplier to reduce its sales by0.6% of its prior-year energy sales to its
consumers each year. Thus, more than 250 GWh of savings had to be achieved over the course of the
legislative period.

The targets were just as significantly outperformed in the area of household measures as in the area of
industrial measures.

As a model company in the field of energy efficiency, VERBUND exceeded the legal requirements by
over 20%. This was achieved through long-term collaborations in the household segment and intense
cooperation with our industrial customers. The costs for the energy efficiency measures were once
again reduced compared with financial year 2019.

Customer satisfaction and customer relationships

Customer satisfaction and loyalty increased further in parallel

The satisfaction of our customers is our utmost priority. This is why VERBUND conducts a survey of
residential and commercial customers every year. The results help us understand which measures are
effective and where there is a need for further improvement. These measures are implemented in a
targeted manner and extend beyond just new services and offerings to include a series of activities
aimed at meeting the needs of VERBUND customers. Together with the reputable market research
institute marketmind, VERBUND contacts over 1,000 customers and asks them questions on a wide
variety of issues. The study continues to be based on the Customer Loyalty Index (CLI), which examines
the key components of a successful relationship between VERBUND and its existing customers.
VERBUND uses this indicator to direct its actions to allow both sides - VERBUND and its customers - to
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benefit. Numerous other additional indicators are also referenced in order to complete the overall
picture.

Although the results of the 2019 survey were very good, the results from 2020 were even better. In the
2020 Customer Experience Management study, VERBUND achieved an overall satisfaction rating of
nearly 1.7 among residential customers, and the rating from commercial customers was nearly 1.7 (on a
scale ranging from 1 (highly satisfied) to 5 (not at all satisfied)). The now established Net Promotion
Score (NPS) was also significantly higher in 2020 than in the previous year. Residential customers
achieved a value of 28 and commercial customers a value of 22. In light of the positive trend for both
customer groups, the CLI also showed improvement. Both segments reached a total value of 76 (on a
scale of 0 to 100). More and more, VERBUND customers perceive the Company as modern and innovative.
Customers also increasingly associate characteristics like kindness, sustainability, success and reliability
with VERBUND's image. VERBUND therefore holds its top ranking for hydropower in Austria and advances
innovative solutions in the energy sector.

Customer relationships

VERBUND focuses on sustainability. It goes without saying that this also applies to the relationship with its
customers. A broad range of communication offerings allows existing VERBUND customers to experience
this positioning. During the spring 2020 campaign (as in previous years), €1 was donated to the VERBUND
Electricity Relief Fund run by Caritas (a Catholic charity) for each existing customer who completed an
online form. The focus of the autumn 2020 campaign was on recruitment efforts by the customer club
with its attractive range of benefits and VERBUND’s online services. Customers were invited to the
VERBUND Christmas campaign in December. Turnout was strong thanks to the wide range of interesting
content on the topic of energy, contests with attractive prices and a Christmas bonus for every customer.
The campaigns aimed to strengthen customers’ emotional ties to VERBUND.

Customer support

VERBUND's identity as a leading energy provider in Austria includes providing a comprehensive range of
services. Competent and friendly customer advisors can be reached at VERBUND's freephone customer
service number (+43(0) 800 210 210) from anywhere in Austria between 7:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m. Monday
to Friday to answer any questions existing customers might have and to support potential customers in
switching electricity and natural gas providers.

VERBUND’s online services do justice to the trend towards self-service, optimally rounding off
VERBUND's range of services. Around the clock and without waiting, customers can conduct simple
service tasks like changing their instalment payment amounts or updating their personal data. Around
half of VERBUND's customers use this service in order to take advantage of the convenience.

The VERBUND website at www.verbund.at presents many facets of VERBUND as a company and provides
an overview of the Group’s product portfolio, details on facilitating the switch to VERBUND, offers for
existing customers and answers to frequently asked questions. Customers can also find easily
understandable explanatory videos on the site.

Energy consulting
Throughout all federal states of Austria, certified energy consultants are available free of charge to
support clients of Caritas in connection with the VERBUND Electricity Relief Fund. These consultants
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provide valuable tips on saving energy to support needy people in sustainably lowering their energy
costs. The commitment in connection with the Caritas Electricity Relief Fund is just one of many
examples of how VERBUND fulfils its social responsibility. More on this topic can be found in the section
entitled Stakeholder engagement and social responsibility.

Late payment

When customers encounter difficulties in paying their bills, VERBUND assists them by offering payment
by instalments, calculated without adding default interest. Customers who are in payment arrears are
given notice via a three-step reminder system before the energy supply agreement is terminated due to
late payment. The supply continues if the customer meets any of the three payment demands.

Under a voluntary industry solution of the Austrian electric utilities, VERBUND agreed to a higher
number of instalment agreements and deferrals between March and June 2020. During this time period,
contract terminations and disconnections were waived altogether. Upon expiry of this reminder and
termination waiver period, the receivables management system once again took effect.

In 2020, the electricity or natural gas supply contracts of around 9,200 household and commercial
customers had to be terminated. This equates to an increase of 6% in contract terminations compared
with 2019 (~8,700 disconnections). The increase in contract terminations was attributable to the
financial effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

GRI' EU27
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Grid

Austrian Power Grid AG (APG), VERBUND's independent grid subsidiary, operates the national electricity
transmission network in Austria. Its main task is continuous system balancing, i.e. ensuring that
electricity supply is matched exactly to demand at all times. The expansion of renewables is placing
increasing demands on the power grid. Rapid implementation of APG’s Network Development Plan,
which defines the necessary expansion of the Austrian power grid, is therefore crucial. Key projects
being realised (such as the Salzburg line) are important energy transition projects whose
implementation is pivotal to the achievement of Austria’s climate targets.

Business performance
KPIs — Grid segment

Unit 2019 2020 Change
Total revenue €m 811.8 730.4 -10.0%
EBITDA €m 257.8 232.4 -9.8%
Result from interests accounted for
using the equity method €m 0.1 0.1 -
Capital employed €m 1,459.6 1,651.6 13.2%

Total revenue declined as a result of COVID-19, due in particular to lower revenue from grid usage
fees and lower revenue from auctioning off of cross-border capacity and from congestion management;
lower expenses for congestion management associated with the latter resulted in a smaller decrease in
EBITDA.

The increase in capital employed mainly resulted from the rise in the net investment in property,
plant and equipment, which was offset by the higher non-interest-bearing debt.
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Technical developments
Power grid data APG

Voltage level Power lines Power lines Substations/
Route length/km System length/km Switching stations

Overhead power lines

380-kV 1,156 2,683

220-kV 1,613 3,206

110-kV 656 1,170

Cable

110-kV 3 6

Total 3,428 6,965 64

Operational developments

As the control area manager in Austria, APG is responsible for identifying bottlenecks in the
transmission grid and taking appropriate countermeasures. This is the only way to ensure the national
transmission grid can be operated safely, and it necessitated grid measures and redispatching at the
power plants in the past financial year.

The dynamic developments in the energy market in Europe - especially in connection with the
expansion of wind and solar power generation - are giving rise to volatile load flows. Since the required
grid expansion is not keeping pace with these developments due to long administrative processes,
congestion is occurring both within and outside of the APG grid. The above-mentioned intervention in
the power plant portfolio (redispatching) is necessary to prevent congestion in the existing grid
infrastructure.

In 2020, less redispatching was required in the APG grid compared with the previous year, particularly
during the second half of the year, due to very good run-of-river generation in Austria and the lower
load in Europe as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

In 2020, power plants in Austria were also frequently used for managing grid congestion outside of
Austria (mainly in Germany).

Redispatch quantities

2018 2019 2020
Redispatch quantities (in GWh)' 3,461.7 2,417.4 1,455.2

" only volumes from increased production
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Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on APG and grid operation

After the Austrian federal government presented radical measures to combat the COVID-19 pandemic,
APG’s crisis management team was activated on 10 March 2020. The focus of crisis management
activities was on ensuring the sustainable operating ability of APG.

Approximately 500 APG employees began working remotely on 15 March 2020. Since then, in order to
protect our staff at all APG sites and to ensure security of supply, all employees are subject to special
hygiene and safety protocols at work, and teams are split up at various sites in the control centres and
other sensitive areas.

All construction projects were temporarily suspended during the first lockdown in mid-March; in
early April, construction activities were allowed to resume subject to precautionary measures stipulated
in the guidelines of the employer and employee representatives. Corresponding action and hygiene
plans helped to adequately maintain construction site operations more or less on schedule despite
COVID-19. Thus, underutilisation involving considerable capital expenditure did not occur in 2020
because of COVID-19.

During the first lockdown, a significant load decline was evident in Austria which topped out at
approximately 14% in early April. The lower load demand caused voltage peaks at times, which
remained manageable with grid control techniques.

Interruptions to supply
One interruption to supply occurred in the APG grid in 2020, affecting 80,000 consumers in the vicinity
of Zell am See for 14 minutes. The effects on consumers of a component failure in APG’s transmission
grid are quantified using the “megawatt hours (MWh) not supplied” indicator. Counting of the supply
interruption duration starts from the time supply to consumers is interrupted if this can be clearly
attributed to a preceding fault in the transmission grid.

In 2020, APG transmitted around 44,863 GWh at grid level 1 (380-kV and 220-kV). A total of
13.5 MWh, i.e. 0.00003% of the volume transmitted, was not supplied. Two interruptions occurred
in 2019 and one each in 2018 and 2017.

Electricity transmission and grid loss

In financial year 2020, the transmission volume at grid level 1 (380-kV and 220-kV grid) decreased
by4.0% over the previous year. Domestic delivery came to 27,367 GWh. Based on the reported
transmission schedules of the Austrian and international market participants, the APG control area
imported 28,835.3 GWh and exported 24,426.1 GWh in 2020. This results in an import surplus of
4,409.2 GWh.
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Electricity transmission TWh

Abroad Austria

Feed-in

Delivery

Grid loss (0.7)

Compared with the previous year, grid losses decreased by3.6%. Grid loss as a percentage of
electricity transmitted came to 1.6 %.

Transmission losses

Unit 2018 2019 2020

Electricity transmitted’

GWh 47,149 46,731 44,863
Grid loss! GWh 677 758 731
Grid loss as a percentage of
electricity transmitted % 1.44 1.62 1.63

T grid level 1

GRI EU12
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GRI'413-1

Contractual safeguarding of systemically important power plants - maintaining reserve
capacity to prevent congestion

System security in APG’s power grid depends to a large extent on the availability of flexible power plants
in eastern Austria. However, due to the difficult market situation this availability is diminishing rapidly
and must be contractually safeguarded to ensure that it can be used for necessary redispatch activation.
To ensure the necessary redispatch capacity in the medium term, the availability of the required power
plants has been contractually safeguarded from October 2018 to September 2021 by APG in close
consultation with E-Control. During redispatching, recourse was taken to this contracted reserve
capacity on a regular basis in 2020. The new statutory regulations in accordance with Sections 23(a) ff.
of the Austrian Electricity Industry and Organisation Act (EIWOG) (as amended in the Federal Legal
Gazette I [BGBI] No. 17/2021) apply for the period beginning in October 2021.

Projects and stakeholder management

As the transmission system operator, APG is required by law to maintain and expand the power grid
infrastructure in a forward-looking manner in line with the requirements of security of supply and the
electricity market.

Since 2011, APG has been legally required to prepare a Network Development Plan each year. This
plan provides information on which important transmission infrastructures will have to be built or
expanded in the next ten years (in accordance with Section 37 of the Austrian Electricity Industry and
Organisation Act (EIWOG) of 2010). However, the long implementation periods for line construction
projects, the growing challenges arising from the large-scale expansion of renewable energy sources
and changes in the European electricity market necessitate comprehensive planning.

APG’s target grid concept includes a 380-kV ring in Austria and a highly efficient 380-kV connection
from western Austria to the rest of Austria and to the neighbouring countries. These measures will
create important prerequisites for future grid and system security, grid integration of renewable energy
sources and market integration.

Several APG line projects have been classified by the European Commission as TEN (Trans-European
Networks for Energy) projects and within the scope of the European Energy Infrastructure Regulation as
projects of common interest (PCls), which makes them priority projects. In addition, the projects in the
Network Development Plan have been coordinated on a pan-European basis as part of the Ten-Year
Network Development Plan of the European Network of Transmission System Operators for Electricity
(ENTSO-E).

APG’s 2020 Network Development Plan provides for gross investments of around €3.1bn in the next
ten years. These investments will serve to develop the grid infrastructure such that it will provide a
secure supply of electricity in Austria going forward.

In 2020, a total of €379.7m (gross) was invested in intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment (2019: €249.1m). The largest investments were:
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Investments in grid expansion €m
380-kV Salzburg line St. Peter-Tauern grid hub 110.3
Weinviertel grid area 65.9
Villach South substation: 220-/110-kV grid support for KNG-Karnten Netz 13.6
Maintenance CAPEX €m
General overhaul of the 220-kV St. Peter-Ernsthofen line 32.8
New construction of substation replacements 22.3
Modernisation of secondary technology (control system/protection/counting) 7.5

APG'’s top-priority line construction projects include the Salzburg line, the Germany line, the
Weinviertel line, Central Upper Austria and the Reschenpass project, as well as the general overhaul of
the 220-kV St. Peter-Ernsthofen line. These projects are already at the implementation stage.

380-kV Salzburg line

Commissioning of the 114-kilometre-long 380-kV Salzburg line between the Salzburg and Tauern
substations represents a significant step in the highly efficient connection of load centres and
metropolitan areas to the major (pumped storage) power plant sites in Austria. In addition, this project,
in combination with the Germany line project through the St. Peter grid hub, is creating a high-
efficiency connection to Germany. The Salzburg line makes it possible for plants in eastern Austria
feeding in renewable energy (e.g. wind power) to interact with the pumped storage power plants and
thus to store surplus renewable energy generation and provide balancing services in the event of
deviations in the forecast. Meeting the climate targets and other targets of the federal government with
regard to the electricity sector would not be possible without the Salzburg line.

The project has been in the implementation phase since October 2019 and construction is progressing
on schedule. Final approval of the project submitted to the Austrian Supreme Administrative Court was
ultimately granted in October 2020. Commissioning of the Salzburg line is planned for quarter 2/2025.
Due to massive delays in the approval process and in order to partially offset the negative effects
resulting from the delay in commissioning, APG was compelled to introduce added emergency
measures aimed at improving grid security and reducing congestion management measures.

One of these emergency measures was the short-term construction of a third 380-/110-kV transformer
in the Tauern substation (NEP project 18-1), which was commissioned in December 2019. In addition,
the conductors will be replaced on the 220-kV line from Tauern to Weissenbach in 2021 since the delays
in the Salzburg line have also pushed back the planned general overhaul of this now 70-year-old line by
at least five years.

Germany line

The 380-kV Germany line between St. Peter and the Austrian national border will entail an increase in
interconnection capacity to Germany. An efficient connection of the renewable energy sources in
Germany and Northern Europe to the Austrian load centres and the pumped storage power plants in
the Alps will make an important contribution to the (European) energy transition implementation.
Furthermore, linking the markets will benefit the Austrian electricity consumers and expand the
marketing options for the Austrian producers.

SDG 8
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GRI 413-1

APG has already started construction of the nearly 3-kilometre-long 380-kV line to the national
border. Due to the complex project for the 380-kV GIS facility at the St. Peter substation and particularly
due to the comprehensive expansion measures required on the German side of the border with APG’s
partner TSO TenneT, commissioning is planned for 2024/25. Both of the old 220-kV lines on the
Austrian side of the border will be dismantled as part of the project, alleviating the burden on local
residential areas for the long term.

Weinviertel line

Grid integration of wind power in the Weinviertel region necessitates replacement of the 220-kV line
originally built in the 1950s towards the areas with strong wind conditions in the northern Weinviertel
region. This is a key project to integrate wind power in eastern Austria. To address this, APG has
planned a highly efficient 380-kV line on an optimised route from the Seyring junction to the new Zaya
substation and a 220-kV connection to the Austrian national border. The old 220-kV line, which was in
need of renovation, will then be dismantled, easing the burden on the residential areas as well as on
important nature reserves and bird sanctuaries in the long term. Project implementation began in the
spring of 2019 after an environmental impact assessment (EIA) process in the first instance and the
confirmation of this notice by Austrian Federal Administrative Court ruling. Since that time,
construction measures on the line and the substation have progressed on schedule. Commissioning is
planned for quarter 2/2022.

General overhaul of the 220-kV St. Peter-Ernsthofen line

Constructed in 1941, the line was in dire need of renovation after an operating lifetime of nearly
80 years, and large sections no longer met current specifications for modern lines. A general overhaul
including installation of new conductors along the existing 111-kilometre-long route was necessary.
After completion of the approval process in 2017, implementation began in several construction phases
in April 2018. The project progressed as scheduled and, after a 30-month construction period, the line
was successfully put back into operation in late October 2020.

Central Upper Austria project

The current 110-kV grid structure for supplying Upper Austria’s central region (UACR) cannot support
the capacities and electricity volumes that will be needed for this grid area’s dynamic growth in the
future. Current trends such as decarbonisation - primarily in the industrial sector - and the expansion
of renewable energy along with future demands for grid safety and security of supply require
comprehensive restructuring of the electricity supply for UACR from APG’s Ernsthofen and Kronstorf
substations. APG is working hard and together with its partners Netz Oberosterreich and Linz Netz on
developing expansion plans and preparing the environmental impact statement (EIS) for submission in
order to kick off the EIA process beginning in autumn 2021.

Construction of a 220-kV supply ring is planned to replace the 110-kV supply lines. The local 220-kV
ring will link the Ernsthofen, Pichling, Hiitte Siid, Wegscheid and Kronstorf substations. The grid
operators coordinated an overall concept calling for new construction to replace sections of existing
lines and voltage conversions on the sections of lines already designed for 220-kV. The higher voltage
level will make it possible to transmit more electric power and energy, creating a secure, efficient and
powerful electricity supply for the UACR in the future. Implementation of this major project is
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scheduled to take place from 2024 until 2029/30, with individual construction phases to be put into
operation beginning in 2026.

Reschenpass project

APG’s connecting line currently in place between Austria (Lienz) and Italy (Soverzene) dates back to
1952 and is no longer able to handle today’s requirements. Increasing hydropower generation in
Austria’s western Alpine region (mainly pumped storage power plants), the European expansion of
renewable energy and the market developments as well as the developments in the energy market in
Italy (including massive expansion of renewable energy also occurring in Italy) require greater
interconnection capacities. In the Reschenpass project, a new, second 220-kV line to Italy will be built
starting from the Nauders substation, which will be incorporated into the 380-kV line from West Tyrol to
Pradella (Switzerland) in the immediate vicinity of the three national borders, and the transmission
grids of APG and TERNA S.p.A. will be linked more closely. Following extensive coordination efforts
with TERNA since 2009, preliminary work in the area of the Nauders substation began in early
summer 2020. In autumn 2020, the construction decision was taken and construction began.
Commissioning of the project is scheduled for the end of 2023.

Other projects and maintenance CAPEX

APG has also earmarked extensive maintenance CAPEX for the modernisation and reinforcement of
substations and line systems at the 220- and 110-kV grid level (see also APG’s Network Development
Plan 2020). Considerations on the reinforcement of existing switching stations (e.g. short-circuit
stability) lead to extensive maintenance measures, particularly for old systems, or, in the case of
technical and economic improvements, increasingly to new construction of replacement switching
stations. Extensive maintenance measures and general overhauls (including cable replacement) of old
lines are required as well. Maintenance CAPEX and grid modernisation projects for existing switching
stations and lines - in addition to the grid expansion investments called for under the grid development
projects - will also require allocation of significant resources in the years to come.

Sustainable route management

For line projects, APG underscores environmental protection and sustainability in addition to focusing
on the technical and economic criteria. This involves taking into consideration the varied expectations
and requirements of the authorities, the landowners, the community, different stakeholders
(e.g. agriculture and forestry, tourism, environmental protection) and the technical requirements.

Back in 1997, APG had initiated a research project for ecological and economical route maintenance.
In this project, four model routes were analysed by different disciplines to determine their
environmental and socio-economic value as well as their ecological integration into the landscape. With
the “sustainable route management” project, the content of this work was developed further, expanded
to APG’s entire transmission grid and integrated into operational route management. Consequently,
APG already has more than 20 years of experience in sustainable route management and makes a
significant contribution to the use of line routes as habitats for (endangered) species of plants and

animals.
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Additional information
on conservation is
available at www.apg.at

GRI 304-2

Please refer to the DMA
for details on sustainable
route management
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Green energy clearing and settlement and wind marketing

To reduce imbalances in wind power generation and in the entire APG control area, APG has been
marketing volumes arising from deviations in the forecast of green electricity generation on the
European intraday market around the clock (24/7) since 2015. As a result, the OeMAG balancing group
(Abwicklungsstelle fiir Okostrom AG, 0eMAG) achieved savings of around €8.7m in 2020. In addition,
marketing electricity from wind power generated further indirect savings of €10.9m in 2020 due to lower
activation of balancing services. Marketing electricity from wind power generated total savings of
around €19.6m in the financial year now ended, confirming the added value of efficient, market-based
solutions.

Developments in the European electricity market

After intensive preparations, platform-based intraday capacity allocation was implemented at the
border with Switzerland in September 2020. This replaced the system of allocation by telephone which
had been in place for many years. Since Switzerland is excluded from European round-the-clock
intraday trading, there are bilateral processes between APG and Swissgrid at this border. The new
allocation process is significantly more efficient both for market participants and for APG.

In 2020, APG continued to work on implementing market coupling at the borders with Hungary and
the Czech Republic. This will allow the available border capacities to be used more efficiently by the
market. Positive effects on liquidity are expected for Austria. Market coupling is already in place at
Austria’s borders with Germany, Italy and Slovenia.

In order to further stabilise costs for balancing services, APG also worked hard to further improve
international balancing services collaborations in 2020. After joint, optimised activation of automatic
frequency restoration reserves (aFRR) had been in place since 2016, joint procurement of aFRR with
Germany was successfully put into operation in February 2020. Depending on which country bids lower
aFRR prices, up to a maximum of 80 MW can be procured across borders and later secured to be used
for activation in Austria or in Germany. For manual frequency restoration reserves (mFRR), a
cooperation with Germany for coordinated activation of mFRR was also implemented in 2020. These
pioneer projects helped to reduce costs for balancing services by around 20% compared with the
previous year and keep them stable them at a low level. In addition, under the collaborations with
Germany, intraday tenders for balancing energy have been successfully implemented in regard to
automatic frequency restoration reserves (aFRR) and manual frequency restoration reserves (mFRR).
Balancing services providers can now submit intraday energy bids without award in the tender process
(free bids). Germany and Austria thus continue to take a pioneering role in Europe with regard to
balancing services markets, and the two countries are setting benchmarks in terms of product
requirements, process design, harmonisation and market integration.

Within the international frequency containment reserve cooperation, which includes ten other
European transmission system operators (TSOs) in addition to APG, the market design was also
successfully converted to four-hour products and daily tendering periods in the summer. This further
improved the competitive conditions in order to better integrate flexible resources, especially those
available in the short term.
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Market transparency and publication requirements

Compliance with Regulation (EU) No 1227/2011 (REMIT Regulation), Regulation (EU) No 1348/2014
(REMIT Implementing Regulation) and Regulation (EU) No 543/2013 (Transparency Regulation -
EMFIP) is ensured by embedding the topic of transparency and REMIT (the EU Regulation on
Wholesale Energy Market Integrity and Transparency) in APG’s existing compliance structure
(including the accompanying REMIT guideline and staff training). In 2020, APG also fulfilled its
monitoring and reporting obligations in terms of market monitoring arising from Article 15 of REMIT
Regulation. Discussions surrounding the introduction of REMIT fees were the main topic in 2020.
Following a European Commission consultation procedure, this fee - contrary to the position of APG
and other TSOs - must be paid by all data reporters, including APG, to ACER (Agency for the
Cooperation of Energy Regulators) beginning in 2021.
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All other segments

“All other segments” is a combined heading under which the Thermal generation, Services and Equity
interests segments are brought together (because they are below the quantitative thresholds). Electricity
and heat generation from coal (until 31 March 2020) and gas are reported under the Thermal generation
segment. The primarily intra-Group business activities of VERBUND Services GmbH are reported under
the Services segment. Interests accounted for using the equity method which have not been allocated to
any other segment are reported under the Equity interests segment. As at the reporting date of
31 December 2020, this only comprised the equity interest in KELAG-Kdrntner Elektrizitdts-
Aktiengesellschaft.

Business performance
KPls — All other segments

Unit 2019 2020 Change
Total revenue €m 224.0 184.8 -17.5%
EBITDA €m 51.0 37.9 -25.7%
Result from interests accounted for
using the equity method €m 38.5 42.6 10.6%
Capital employed €m 519.4 479.2 -7.8%

The lower total revenue is mainly attributable to the reduced use of the Mellach combined cycle gas
turbine power plant for congestion management, as well as to lower generation by the Mellach district
heating plant due to the discontinuation of coal-fired generation. The decline in EBITDA also stems
primarily from the Thermal generation segment, due in particular to the reduced power plant
utilisation and to the absence of positive effects of changes in provisions from the previous year. The
result from interests accounted for using the equity method was generated by KELAG-Kérntner
Elektrizitédts-Aktiengesellschaft.

The decline in capital employed is chiefly attributable to lower property, plant and equipment,
particularly due to the impairment of the Mellach combined cycle gas turbine power plant, and to lower
hard coal stocks and a smaller portfolio of emission rights, while the increased equity interest in
KELAG-Kérntner Elektrizitits-Aktiengesellschaft had a counteracting effect due to the positive result
from interests accounted for using the equity method.

Thermal generation

VERBUND has been faced with very challenging conditions in the markets and its industry for a number of
years. This is the reason why VERBUND initiated the rapid restructuring of its thermal segment early on,
selling and closing thermal power plants. At the end of 2020, VERBUND operated two thermal power
plants and one boiler unit at the Mellach/Werndorf site. Since 2005, CO- emissions from thermal power
plants have been cut by around 70%. Going forward, the Mellach site with Austria’s most cutting-edge
combined cycle gas turbine power plant will be instrumental in maintaining security of supply in
Austria and will serve as a bridge technology to a lower-carbon energy future.
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Energy supply
Energy generation overview

Electricity generation

Number! Maximum 2018 2019 2020

electrical capacity Generation in Generation in Generation in

in MW! GWh GWh GWh

Mellach CCGT (natural gas) 1 848 915 888 687
Mellach district heating

power plant (hard
coal/natural gas)? 1 165 696 681 346
Total 2 1,013 1,611 1,569 1,033

"as at 31 December 2020 // ? reduction in output from 246 MW to 165 MW in April 2020 due to conversion to natural gas

Generation from thermal power (net) fell by 34.2% to 1,033.5 GWh in the 2020 reporting period. The
decrease is due to a reduction in generation at the Mellach combined cycle gas turbine power plant
(-22.6%). Generation at the Mellach district heating plant decreased by 49.2%. At 485.2 GWh in 2020,
generation of district heating was 38.5% lower than in the prior-year reporting period. These declines
are attributable to the end of coal-fired electricity generation at the Mellach district heating plant and
the expiry of the agreement to supply district heating to the city of Graz.

Capacity changes

The maximum electrical capacity of VERBUND’s thermal power plants - the Mellach combined cycle gas
turbine power plant (Mellach CCGT) and the Mellach district heating power plant - totalled 1,013 MW
as at 31 December 2020. The two generators of the Mellach CCGT were operated exclusively for
congestion management purposes, underscoring the necessity of the thermal power plants for grid
support. APG has contracted the Mellach CCGT and the Mellach district heating plant for a period of
three years (1 October 2018 until 30 September 2021) as part of its efforts to prevent congestion (grid
reserve). Since April 2020, the Mellach district heating plant operates with natural gas.

Restructuring of the thermal segment
The restructuring of the thermal segment, which was begun in 2014, continued in 2020. Work is ongoing
on the other decommissioning measures to be carried out by VERBUND. Coal-fired generation was
discontinued at the Mellach district heating power plant in 2020. Utilisation of the land still owned at
the Pernegg site was completed. Utilisation at the Zeltweg and St. André sites is continuing.
The dismantling work of the former power plant site in Werndorf began in March 2020 and is
scheduled for completion in December 2021.
At the Diirnrohr site, the award of work contracts for evaluating potential synergies with
EVN Wirmekraftwerke GmbH was delayed in 2020 until quarter 1/2021. Partial dismantling is planned.
Extensive adaptations of the office space took place at the Mellach and Werndorf sites in 2020.
Socially responsible solutions were found for VERBUND employees working at all plant sites currently
in the process of being decommissioned or that have already been shut down.

GRI'EU1
GRI EU2

GRI'EU1
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GRI' EU30

Availability of existing thermal power plants

The average time availability of the thermal power plants (Mellach CCGT, Mellach district heating
power plant) was 92.7% in financial year 2020. This is slightly higher than the prior-year figure of 87.3 %.
The level of reliability averaged 98.1% and thus was significantly higher than the prior-year figure
(2019: 87.8%).

Other project topics

In the project for the Werndorf gas boiler plant, full operation resumed in quarter 4/2020 after the boiler
was replaced in September 2020. Problems occurr